Ann Sewill, General Manager Tricia Keane, Executive Officer

Daniel Huynh, Assistant General Manager Anna E. Ortega, Assistant General Manager Luz C. Santiago, Assistant General Manager

City of Los Angeles



Karen Bass, Mayor

LOS ANGELES HOUSING DEPARTMENT 1910 Sunset Blvd, Ste 300 Los Angeles, CA 90026

Tel: 213.808.8808

housing.lacity.org

Date: May 13, 2024

To: Laura Rubio-Cornejo, Executive Director, LADOT

Board of Transportation Commissioners

Subject: **DISPOSITION AND DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT AND RELATED ACTIONS AT**

LADOT PARKING LOT #658 (GRACE VILLAS PROJECT)

RECOMMENDATIONS

A. That your Board:

- 1. AUTHORIZE Los Angeles Department of Transportation (LADOT) to approve the July 24, 2023 LAHD Transmittal (C.F. No. 16-0600-S145) approving LAHD to negotiate and execute a Disposition and Development Agreement (DDA) and a Ground Lease, and effectuate necessary related documents with the Grace Villas Developers Limited Partnership for the property located at 216-224 S. Avenue 24 (Grace Villas site), subject to the conditions contained in the approved Key Terms and Conditions, subject to approval of the City Attorney as to form;
- AUTHORIZE LADOT to effectuate a non-financial transfer of jurisdiction and control of the City-owned site located at 216-224 S. Avenue 24 (APN 5204-005-901) to LAHD for the development of affordable and permanent supportive housing, subject to City Attorney approval as to form.

INITIATED BY

On December 12, 2023, the City Council adopted the LAHD report dated July 23, 2023, which authorized LAHD to:

A. NEGOTIATE and EXECUTE a DDA and a Ground Lease, and effectuate necessary related documents with the Grace Villas Developers or the Grace Villas Developers to-be-formed Limited Partnership for the property located at 216-224 S. Avenue 24 (Grace Villas site), subject to the conditions contained in the Amended Key Terms and subject to approval of the City Attorney as to form;

- Page 2
- B. DECLARE, based on the findings contained herein, that the City-owned property pertaining to the Grace Villas project, is "exempt surplus land" for the purpose of the Surplus Land Act (SLA) under Government Code Section 54221(f)(1)(F)(i) and direct LAHD to take any other necessary actions to ensure compliance with the requirements of the SLA;
- C. WORK with LADOT to effectuate a non-financial transfer of jurisdiction and control of the City-owned site located at 216- 224 S. Avenue 24 (APN 5204-005-901) to LAHD for the development of affordable and supportive housing, subject to City Attorney approval as to form;
- D. REINSTATE and EXTEND the term of the ENA for an additional one-year term, and prepare and execute any documents necessary to facilitate or implement such extensions, subject to review and approval as to form by the City Attorney on the Lincoln Heights Sites.

BACKGROUND

In response to the City's affordable housing crisis and to meet the City's objective of creating new affordable housing, the LAHD created the Land Development Unit to develop publicly-owned land into affordable housing. The unit staff oversee the disposition of properties transferred to LAHD from the former Community Redevelopment Agency of Los Angeles (CRA/LA), the Los Angeles Department of Transportation (LADOT), as well as surplus land identified by the Office of the City Administrative Officer (CAO) as part of the Affordable Housing Opportunity Sites (AHOS) program, and leverages such properties for the creation of affordable or supportive housing across the City.

LADOT owns the property consisting of five (5) non-contiguous sites located in the Lincoln Heights neighborhood of Council District 1, as indicated below (Table 1):

TABLE 1 – LINCOLN HEIGHTS SITES						
Project (Address, APN)	LADOT Lot #	ENA Expiration Date				
Grace Villas Project 216-224 S. Avenue 24, 5204-005- 901	658	August 4, 2024				
2331-2337 N. Workman St., 5204-011-903	659	August 4, 2024				
151-164 S. Avenue 24 St., 5204- 005-901	660	August 4, 2024				
2416-2422 N. Workman St., 5204- 015-901	661	August 4, 2024				
2332-2336 N. Workman St., 5204-016-901	697	August 4, 2024				

LAHD - DEVELOPMENT OF AFFORDABLE HOUSING AT DOT LOT 658; OTHER DOT LOTS 659, 660, 661, & 697
Page 3

The five sites were designated as Affordable Housing Opportunity Sites (AHOS) on July 15, 2016 (C.F. No. 16-0600-S145). The CAO created the AHOS program to identify City-owned properties for potential use as affordable housing. Once these properties have been evaluated and approved by Council and the Mayor, the LAHD leads the development of these properties into affordable housing.

On July 25, 2016, the City Administrative Officer (CAO) released a Request for Qualifications/Proposals related to the disposition and development of five sites owned by the LADOT (Lots 658, 659, 660, 661 and 697) to maximize the use of public land for the development of affordable housing. After reviewing and scoring each proposal, LAHD recommended the selection of the Women Organizing Resources Knowledge & Services (WORKS) and GTM Holdings, LLC (jointly, the "Grace Villas Developers") for the of development of the sites. On December 13, 2017, the City Council and Mayor approved this selection and authorized LAHD to execute an Exclusive Negotiation Agreement (ENA) with the Grace Villas Developers team (C.F. No. 16-0600-S145) for the development of housing projects at the five sites. LAHD, in coordination with its consultants, negotiated key business terms and conditions for the Grace Villas Project located at one of the five sites with an address of 216-224 South Avenue 24. These key terms and conditions were subsequently approved by LAHD and agreed to by the development team.

On December 13, 2017, the City Council and Mayor approved this selection and authorized LAHD to negotiate and execute an ENA with the Grace Villas Developers team (C.F. No. 16-0600-S145), which was set to expire August 3, 2023, due to the Mayor's Tolling Order.

LAHD's request to extend the term of the ENA for multiple DOT sites was heard and approved by the Board of Transportation Commissioners at a special meeting on August 28, 2023

DISCUSSION

The Grace Villas Developers have moved forward with developing the Grace Villas site only. However, they will soon be proposing plans for two of the remaining four LADOT lots. The Grace Villas Project located at 216-224 South Avenue 24, APN 5204-005-901 (LADOT Lot #658) will provide 48 dwelling units of which 47 units will be restricted as affordable housing and permanent supportive housing units for families at 30% and 60% of Area Median Income. The proposed development will include one-, two- and three-bedroom units, of which 22 units will be restricted to special needs households. On December 21, 2022, the Director of Planning of the LA City Planning Department approved the Grace Villas Developers' request for a land use entitlement to allow the site to be developed with the proposed 48-unit project through the Transit Oriented Communities Program under DIR-2022-7634-TOC-CDO-PHP-HCA. On April 25, 2023, the City Council and Mayor approved the admittance of the Grace Villas project into the LAHD's Affordable Housing Managed Pipeline (C.F. No. 22-0876-S1).

On June 30, 2023, the City Council and Mayor approved an LAHD funding award of \$5,706,050 in support of the Project (C.F. No. 22-0876-S2). On February 8, 2024, the Housing Authority of City of Los Angeles (HACLA) awarded 17 project based vouchers to the project, for which they will be targeting Transition Aged Youth referred through the Coordinated Entry System (CES). On April 15, 2024 the City Council and Mayor approved a ULA Accelerator Program award of

LAHD - DEVELOPMENT OF AFFORDABLE HOUSING AT DOT LOT 658; OTHER DOT LOTS 659, 660, 661, & 697

Page 4

\$6,720,000 for the Project (C.F. No. 23-0038-S4). The Grace Villas Developers will be applying for Round 2 of the 9% Low Income Housing Tax Credits, with its application due July 2, 2024. An executed DDA is a minimum threshold requirement for the developer to demonstrate site control.

Respectfully submitted,

and sewell

ANN SEWILL

GENERAL MANAGER, LA HOUSING DEPARTMENT

ATTACHMENTS

Attachment A: Reinstated Exclusive Negotiating Agreement Attachment B: Draft Development and Disposition Agreement

cc: Councilmember Eunisses Hernandez, Council District 1

REINSTATEMENT AND AMENDMENT

TO AGREEMENT NUMBER C-130926 OF CITY OF LOS ANGELES CONTRACT BETWEEN

THE LOS ANGELES DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION, THE LOS ANGELES HOUSING DEPARTMENT

AND

GTM HOLDINGS, LLC AND WOMEN ORGANIZING RESOURCES, KNOWLEDGE AND SERVICES

RELATING TO EXCLUSIVE NEGOTIATION AGREEMENT FOR DEVELOPMENT OF CITY-OWNED PROPERTIES LOCATED AT 2332-2336 NORTH WORKMAN STREET, 2338-2340 NORTH WORKMAN STREET, 216-224 SOUTH AVENUE 24, 2331-2337 NORTH WORKMAN STREET AND 2332-2338 NORTH DALY STREET, 2416-2422 NORTH WORKMAN STREET, AND 154-164 SOUTH AVENUE 24.

THIS REINSTATEMENT AND AMENDMENT to Agreement Number C-130926 of the City of Los Angeles Contract, previously extended per Extension to Exclusive Negotiation Agreement on March 8, 2018, is made and entered into this 4th day of August, 2023 by and between GTM HOLDINGS, LLC and WOMEN ORGANIZING RESOURCES, KNOWLEDGE AND SERVICES ("WORKS") (jointly, the "Developer"), and the LOS ANGELES DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION ("DOT") and LOS ANGELES HOUSING DEPARTMENT ("LAHD") (jointly, the "CITY").

RECITALS

- A. The CITY and the DEVELOPER (collectively referred to as "Parties", or if referred to in the singular form "Party") have entered into an Exclusive Negotiation Agreement wherein the Parties agreed to negotiate exclusively for the development of an affordable housing project at the site in Los Angeles with the common addresses of 2332-2336 NORTH WORKMAN STREET, 2338-2340 NORTH WORKMAN STREET, 216-224 SOUTH AVENUE 24, 2331-2337 NORTH WORKMAN STREET AND 2332-2338 NORTH DALY STREET, 2416-2422 NORTH WORKMAN STREET, AND 154-164 SOUTH AVENUE 24 ("ENA"). The effective date of the ENA is March 8, 2018, as subsequently extended effective February 26, 2020; and
- B. The ENA has expired on August 4, 2023. The Parties are desirous of reinstating and amending the ENA as authorized by the City Council and the Mayor (refer to Council File Number 16-0600-S145 approved by City Council on September 19, 2023 which authorizes the General Manager of the LAHD to prepare and execute this Reinstated and Amended Exclusive Negotiation Agreement (with all amendments, the

Lincoln Heights – Reinstated and Amended Exclusive Negotiation Agreement Page - 2 - of 4

"Agreement") with the effective date of August 4, 2023 and extend the term of the Negotiating Period until August 4, 2024; and

- C. Section 2 of the ENA provides for amendments to the ENA; and
- D. This reinstatement and amendment of the ENA is necessary and proper to continue and/or complete certain activities authorized under the ENA.

NOW, THEREFORE, the Parties agree that the ENA be reinstated effective August 4, 2023 and amended as follows:

REINSTATED AND AMENDED AGREEMENT

- §1. Reinstate the ENA with the effective date of August 4, 2023 and amend it to extend the period of negotiation until August 4, 2024.
- §2. Except as herein amended, all terms and conditions of the ENA shall remain in full force and effect.
- §3. This Agreement is executed in three (3) duplicate originals, each of which is deemed to be an original. This Agreement includes three (3) pages which constitute the entire understanding and agreement of the parties.
- §4. Unless otherwise prohibited by law or City policy, an electronic or scanned signature shall have the same force and effect as an original ink signature. For the purposes of this Agreement, "electronic signature" is an electronic identifier, created by computer, attached or affixed to or logically associated with an electronic record, executed or adopted by a person with the intention of using it to have the same force and affect as the use of a manual signature, and "scanned signature" is a manual signature that has been placed on a document that has been scanned into an electronic record.

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank.]

[Signatures begin on next page.]

Lincoln Heights – Reinstated and Amended Exclusive Negotiation Agreement Page - 3 - of 4

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, LADOT, LAHD AND DEVELOPER have signed this Reinstated and Amended Agreement as of the dates set forth below.

LAD Los	OT Angeles Department of Transportation		
Ву:	for LRC	_ Date:	1/3/2024
	Laura Rubio-Cornejo, General Manager		
HYD	roved as to form: EE FELDSTEIN SOTO Attorney		
Ву:	Deputy City Attorney, General Counsel Division-LADOT	Date:	12/23/2023
LAHI			
	Angeles Housing Department		
Ву:	Daniel Digitally signed by Daniel Huynh Date: 2023 12 19 Daniel Huynh, Assistant General Manager	Date:	
Appro HYDI	oved as to form: EE FELDSTEIN SOTO Attorney		
Ву:	Deputy City Attorney, Housing Division	Date:	19-70 73
ATTE HOLL	EST: LY WOLCOTT, CITY CLERK		
Ву:	Neckael Villia	Date:	01/04/2024
	Deputy City Clark		



Lincoln Heights – Reinstated and Amended Exclusive Negoti Page - 4 - of 4	ation Agreement
GTM Holdings, LLC A California Limited Liability Corporation	
By: Date	11-2-2023
Mark Walther CEO, President and Secretary	
	11-2-2023
Michelle Walther Manager and Executive Vice President	
Women Organizing Resources, Knowledge and Service A California nonprofit public benefit corporation	s (WORKS)
	11-2-2023
Mary-Jame Wagle Co-Executive Director and Board Chair	
By:Date: _	11-2-2023
Channa Grace	
President and Co-Executive Director	

DISPOSITION AND DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT

GRACE VILLAS

by and among

CITY OF LOS ANGELES

("City"),

and

GRACE VILLAS, LP

a California limited partnership

("Developer")

TABLE OF CONTENTS

		<u>Page</u>
ARTIC	CLE 1. SUBJECT OF AGREEMENT	
1.1	Purpose of Agreement	
1.2	Definitions	
1.3	Exhibits	14
Λ D TI	CLE 2. PARTIES TO THE AGREEMENT.	15
2.1	City of Los Angeles	15
2.2	Developer	
2.3	No Joint Venture.	
2.0	110 Come Voltaro	
	CLE 3. DISPOSITION OF SITE	
3.1	Conditions Precedent to Close of Escrow.	
3.2	Financing for the Project	
3.3	Site Control Fees.	
3.4	Ground Lease	21
3.5	City Rent.	22
3.6	Condition of the Site	
3.7	Discovery of Hazardous Materials.	
3.8	Escrow.	28
3.9	Close of Escrow.	
3.10	Recordation of Documents.	31
ARTIC	CLE 4. METHOD OF FINANCING	31
4.1	Total Development Costs	31
4.2	Construction Period Financing	32
4.3	Permanent Sources of Financing	33
	CLE 5. SCOPE OF DEVELOPMENT/DESIGN REQUIREMENTS	
5.1	Design in Conformance with Scope of Development, Residential Citywide	
- 0	Design Guidelines and Approved Project Documents.	
5.2	City Review	34
ARTIC	CLE 6. CONSTRUCTION OF THE IMPROVEMENTS	34
6.1	Commencement of Construction.	34
6.2	Completion of Construction	34
6.3	Construction Pursuant to Scope and Plans	34
6.4	Certificate of Completion	
6.5	Compliance with Applicable Law and City Policies	
6.6	Relocation	
6.7	Construction Signs	38

6.8	Publicity	38
6.9	Progress Reports	
6.10	Entry onto the Site by the City.	
6.11	Mechanics' Liens.	
6.12	Non-Discrimination During Construction; Equal Opportunity	
6.13	Affirmative Outreach in Contracting Procedures and Employment, Includin Utilization of Project Area, Minority, Women and Other Businesses and Persons	g
6.14	Cost of Development.	
6.15	Prevailing Wages	
	CLE 7. USE OF THE SITE AND DEVELOPER OBLIGATIONS DURING	
	R CONSTRUCTION	
7.1	Uses	
7.2	Affordability	
7.3	Allowable Rent	
7.4	Maintenance of the Site.	
7.5	Management Requirements	47
7.6	Obligation to Refrain from Discrimination	
7.7	Form of Nondiscrimination and Nonsegregation Clauses	
7.8	Barriers to the Disabled	
7.9	Effect and Duration of Covenants	
7.10	Regulatory Agreement	5 T
7.11 7.12	Monitoring	51
7.12	IndemnityInsurance Coverage	
7.13 7.14	Insurance CoverageInsurance Advances	
7.1 4 7.15	Hazardous Materials	
7.15 7.16	Taxes and Assessments	
7.10 7.17	City's Living Wage Ordinance and Service Contractor Worker Retention	50
	Ordinance	58
7.18	City's Equal Benefits Ordinance	60
7.19	Contractor Responsibility Ordinance	61
7.20	Slavery Disclosure Ordinance	62
7.21	First Source Hiring Ordinance	
7.22	Child Support Assignment Orders	63
7.23	Enforcement Of Employment Requirements	64
7.24	Fair Chance Initiative For Hiring Ordinance	
7.25	Labor Compliance Meeting	
	CLE 8. ASSIGNMENT AND TRANSFERS	
8.1	Definitions.	
8.2	Restrictions on Transfer	
8.3	Prohibited Transfers	67

8.4	Effectuation of Transfers	68
ARTIC		
9.1	No Encumbrances Except for Development Purposes.	
9.2	City or Lender Not Obligated to Construct.	
9.3	Notice of Default and Right to Cure	
9.4	Failure of Permitted Lender to Complete Project	
9.5	Right of the City to Cure	
9.6	Permitted Lenders to be Notified.	
9.7	Modifications	71
ARTIC	LE 10. DEFAULT AND REMEDIES	72
10.1	Defaults - General	72
10.2	Institution of Legal Actions	73
10.3	Applicable Law	74
10.4	Acceptance of Service of Process	74
10.5	Rights and Remedies Are Cumulative.	
10.6	Damages.	74
10.7	Specific Performance	
10.8	Termination by Either Party	75
10.9	Termination by the City	75
10.10	Survival	
10.11	Inaction Not a Waiver of Default	76
10.12	No Attorneys' Fees	76
ARTIC	LE 11. GENERAL PROVISIONS	77
11.1	Developer Representations and Warranties	77
11.2	Notices	
11.3	Enforced Delay: Extension of Time of Performance	79
11.4	Conflict of Interest	
11.5	Non-liability of City Officials and Employees	79
11.6	Inspection of Books and Records	
11.7	Approvals	80
11.8	Real Estate Commissions	80
11.9	Construction and Interpretation of Agreement	81
11.10	Time of Essence	
11.11	Relationship of the Parties	82
11.12	Compliance with Law	
11.13	Binding Effect	
11.14	Rights of Third Parties	
11.15	Authority to Sign.	
11.16	Use of Project Images	83
11.17	Plans and Data	
11 18	Applicable Law	84

11.19	Severability	88
	Binding Upon Successors; Covenants to Run With Land	
11.21	Effectiveness of Agreement	89
11.22	Amendments	89
11.23	Police Power	89
11.24	Brokers.	90
11.25	Submittals and Approvals	90
	Incorporation by Reference	
	Counterparts	
11.28	Entire Understanding of the Parties.	91
11.29	Approval Procedure	91

DISPOSITION AND DEVELOPMENTAGREEMENT

This	Disposition	and De	evelopment	Agreement	("Agreement"),	dated,	for
identification	purposes or	nly, as of		, 20	O, is entered	into by	and
among Grac	e Villas, LP,	a Califorr	nia limited pa	artnership ("D	eveloper"), and tl	ne CITY	OF
LOS ANGEL	LES, acting b	by and th	rough its Lo	s Angeles Ho	ousing Departme	nt ("City	" or
"LAHD"). LA	HD and Deve	eloper are	e sometimes	s individually i	referred to in this	Agreen	nent
as "Party" ar	nd collectively	y referred	l to as "Parti	es."		X	

ARTICLE 1. SUBJECT OF AGREEMENT.

1.1 <u>Purpose of Agreement</u>.

- a. The purpose of this Agreement is to effectuate the disposition and development of certain real property commonly known 216-244 S. Avenue 24, Los Angeles, CA 90031 and stabilize the neighborhood by providing, subject to all the terms and conditions of this Agreement, for the following: (i) the disposition of leasehold interest(s) in that certain real property currently owned in fee title by the City and located on the Site (defined below), to the Developer on the terms described in this Agreement and in the Ground Lease and related documents described below; and (ii) the redevelopment and operation of affordable housing on the Site as more particularly provided in this Agreement (the "Project"). The disposition, development, financing and use of the Site pursuant to this Agreement, and the fulfillment generally of this Agreement, are in the vital and best interests of the City of Los Angeles and the health, safety, morals, and welfare of its residents, and in accord with the public purposes and provisions of applicable federal, state, and local laws and requirements.
- b. The Developer shall pay the rent to the City (the "City Rent") for a below Fair Market Value ("FMV") ground lease rent based on a Reuse Value Appraisal to be conducted prior to the execution of the Ground Lease and at each extension, as follows:
- (1) During the Initial Term of the Ground Lease, the Developer will pay the City a base annual ground lease payment of One Dollar (\$1) ("Base Rent"), for the duration of the Initial Term, with an option by the Developer to prepay the rent for the full Initial Term rate at closing; and
- (2) At the end of the Initial Term, Lessee may extend the Ground Lease for up to four (4) 11-year term extensions and pay the Extension Option Rent to the City. The Extension Option Rent will be reappraised and adjusted by the City at the time of each extension, in compliance with the State Law Requirements for long term leases; and

- (3) There will be no annual residual ground lease rent charged; and
- (4) If the affordability restrictions of the Regulatory Agreement have expired according to its terms, then the project will pay the full FMV lease rent payment based on an appraisal of the highest and best use of the land conducted within six months of the Ground Lease renewal date prepared by a City approved real estate appraiser; and
- (5) The payment of City Rent for any Extension Option Terms shall be subordinate to the Lessee's obligation to pay debt service on Leasehold Mortgages in effect prior to the commencement of, that are outstanding during, such Extension Option Terms. Throughout the Extension Option Terms, Lessee shall pay the Extension Option Rent as discussed above, without abatement, deduction or offset, for the Premises to the City at the address set forth in the DDA or in care of such other person or at such other address as Landlord may from time to time designate by written notice to Lessee. Any appraisal prepared for purposes of this Section shall take into account any written agreement by Lessee to extend the affordability restrictions to match the term of the extended Lease.
- (6) City Ground Lease will not be subordinated to the construction and permanent debt lenders of the Project.
- c. It is the intention of the City and Developer that the Project shall develop new housing that will be operated and maintained as rental housing that will be affordable to and occupied by persons and families of Moderate, Low, Very-Low and Extremely Low Income, as more particularly described in this Agreement, below.
- d. When completed, the Project will consist of forty eight (48) family units in a six-story building over a subterranean parking garage. Forty-seven (47) units will be restricted and one (1) unit will be utilized as a manager's unit. Twelve (12) units will be designated for the developmentally disabled persons' households, and ten (10 to domestic violence survivors' households. The project will also include forty-four (44) residential parking spaces, a community room, a service office space, bike parking, a computer room, and a landscaped courtyard with activity and seating areas. The gross site area is estimated at 19,379 square feet of land area. The Project gross building area ("GBA") is 50,889 square feet, including 39,232 square feet of net residential living area, 3,328 square feet of community-serving space (community room, supportive office including restroom, laundry, etc.), and 8,329 square feet of circulation/utility rooms. Square footage may change as design is finalized.
- e. This Agreement is entered into for the purpose of redeveloping the Site and providing affordable housing and not for speculation in landholding. The City's conveyance of a leasehold interest in the Site to the Developer for the development of the Site pursuant to this Agreement is in the vital and best interests of the Project Area

and the health, safety, morals and welfare of the residents therein, and is in accord with the public purposes and provisions of applicable state and local laws.

- f. The City intends by this Agreement to cause the redevelopment of the Site to occur and to preserve and improve the community's supply of affordable housing for Moderate, Low and Very Low Income Households. The City would not have agreed to convey any interest to the Developer but for Developer's agreement to develop, use and maintain the Site in conformity with this Agreement and other related documents described below.
- g. Each Party hereby acknowledges that it will obtain valuable benefits from this Agreement. The Parties further acknowledge that in entering into this Agreement, each Party is relying on the performance of the other Party.
- (i) The City acknowledges that the development and use of the Project on the Site by Developer pursuant to the terms and conditions of this Agreement will further the purposes set forth in the California Redevelopment Law if applicable, and policies adopted by the City and the City Council by preserving and improving the community's supply of housing that is affordable to persons and families of low and moderate income helping to remedy the physical and economic conditions of blight (the "Project Area"), generating construction jobs in the development of the Project and permanent jobs in its operation, and encouraging further private investment that will benefit the entire Project Area.
- (ii) Developer acknowledges that performance by the City of its obligations pursuant to the terms of this Agreement will provide to Developer and its principals significant and valuable financial benefits and that the City's performance of these obligations is in consideration of Developer's commitment to comply with the requirements of this Agreement.
- h. Except as otherwise explicitly set forth in this Agreement and/or in any documents evidencing the City financial assistance, if any, for this Project, the design, development, construction, and operation of the Project shall be at the sole cost and expense of the Developer.

1.2 Definitions.

Capitalized terms not otherwise defined in this Agreement shall have the following meanings:

"Affiliate" shall mean any person directly or indirectly, through one or more intermediaries, controlling, controlled by or under common control with Developer, which, in the case of a partnership, shall include, each of the constituent general partners thereof, and in the case of a limited liability company, each of the constituent members thereof.

The term "control", as used in the immediately preceding sentence, means, with respect to a corporation, the right to exercise, directly or indirectly, fifty percent (50%) or more of the voting rights attributable to the shares of the controlled corporation and, with respect to a person that is not a corporation, the possession directly or indirectly, of the power to direct or cause the direction of the management or policies of the controlled person.

"Affordable Rent" shall have the appropriate meaning set forth in California Health and Safety Code Section 50053(b), which, as of the date hereof, means monthly rent, including a reasonable utility allowance, that does not exceed the following respective amounts (which are more particularly set forth in the Income and Rent Limits exhibit attached to the Regulatory Agreement (**Exhibit I** of Part I of Exhibits):

- (a) for an Extremely Low Income Household, one-twelfth of the product of thirty percent (30%) times thirty percent (30%) of the Area Median Income adjusted for family size appropriate for the unit, (as that term is defined in California Health and Safety Code Section 50052.5), as determined by the California Department of Housing and Community Development ("HCD");
- (b) for a Very Low Income Household, one-twelfth of the product of thirty percent (30%) times fifty percent (50%) of the Area Median Income adjusted for family size appropriate for the unit, as determined by HCD;
- (c) for a Low Income Household, one-twelfth of the product of thirty percent (30%) times sixty percent (60%) of the Area Median Income adjusted for family size appropriate for the unit, as determined by HCD, which Developer may adjust upon each annual income verification and recertification for any Low Income Household with an annual income that exceeds sixty percent (60%) but does not exceed eighty percent (80%) of Area Median Income, to an amount that does not exceed thirty percent (30%) of the gross income of the Household; and
- (d) for a Moderate Income Household, one-twelfth of the product of thirty percent (30%) times one hundred ten percent (110%) of the Area Median Income adjusted for family size appropriate for the unit as determined by HCD, which Developer may adjust upon each annual income verification and recertification for any Moderate Income Household with an annual income that exceeds one hundred ten percent (110%) but does not exceed one hundred twenty percent (120%) of Area Median Income, to an amount that does not exceed thirty percent (30%) of the gross income of the Household.

"Affordable Unit" shall mean any of the dwelling units in the Improvements required by this Agreement and/or the Regulatory Agreement to be rented exclusively to and occupied by an Extremely Low, Very Low, Low or Moderate Income Household.

"Agreement" shall mean this Disposition and Development Agreement, as the same may be amended from time to time.

"Area Median Income" shall have the meaning set forth therefor in California Health and Safety Code Section 50093, as it may be amended from time to time.

"Assignment of Agreements, Plans, Specifications and Entitlements" shall mean an instrument substantially in the form attached to this Agreement as **Exhibit G** of Part I of Exhibits.

"Building Permit" shall mean all building and grading permits required to be obtained from the City for the construction of the Improvements.

"Business Day" means a week day, and shall specifically exclude those days described in California Civil Code Section 7.1, as amended from time to time.

"Certificate of Completion" shall mean that certificate issued by the City to the Developer pursuant to Section 6.4 of this Agreement.

"City" shall mean the City of Los Angeles, California, a municipal corporation, operating through its governing body, the City Council, and it's various departments.

"City Development Documents" means, collectively, this Agreement, the Ground Lease, the Memorandum of Ground Lease, the Regulatory Agreement, the Notice of Affordability Restrictions, the City Leasehold Deed of Trust, if any, the Intercreditor Agreement (if any), the Assignment of Agreements, Plans, Specifications and Entitlements, and all other documents required to be executed by the Developer and/or the City in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, with all amendments and modifications thereto.

"City Leasehold Deed of Trust" shall mean the City Leasehold Deed of Trust securing any monetary obligations under this Agreement and the City Ground Lease and related documents, due to the City from the Developer.

"City Rent" shall mean a rent payable to the City by Developer:

(a) for the First Fifty Five (55) years of the Ground Lease ("Initial Term"), the Developer will pay the City a base annual ground lease payment of <u>One Dollar</u> ("Base Rent"), for the duration of the Initial Term. Upon conclusion of the Initial Term, the Ground Lease may be extended for four (4) eleven-year terms, up to a maximum total lease term of Ninety Nine (99) years; and

(b) at the end of the Initial Term, Developer may extend the ground lease for the first one (1) 11-year term without change in the City Rent if the Regulatory Agreement, in the form attached hereto as Exhibit I, is in effect without an increase in the maximum applicable affordable rent restrictions for the Project. Should there be an increase in the maximum applicable affordable rent restrictions for the Project pursuant to the Regulatory Agreement: (1) Developer will pay the City a revised City Rent in the amount of the FMV of the "As-Is" leasehold interest in the Site based on an appraisal conducted within six months of the lease renewal date prepared by a City approved real estate appraiser ("Extension Base Rent"); (2) City Ground Lease will not be subordinated to the construction and permanent debt lenders of the Project; and (3) if the affordability restrictions are no longer in place, then the project will pay the full FMV lease payment.

"Community Outreach Plan" shall mean the plan described in Section 6.13.c. of this Agreement.

"Completion" shall mean completion of construction of the Improvements as required by all the requirements of this Agreement.

"Construction Lender" shall mean the maker of the Construction Loan.

"Construction Loan" shall mean a loan secured by a Construction Loan Deed of Trust and made by a third party to Developer to finance certain development costs of the Project during the construction phase of the Project.

"Construction Loan Deed of Trust" shall mean any deed of trust recorded against the Site securing a Construction Loan.

"Construction/Permanent Loan" shall mean a loan that is both a Construction Loan and Permanent Loan.

"Construction/Permanent Loan Deed of Trust" shall mean any deed of trust recorded against the Site securing a Construction/Permanent Loan.

"Developer" shall mean Grace Villas, LP, a California limited partnership, or any permitted Transferee or successor in interest approved by the City in accordance with Article 7 of this Agreement.

"Development Costs" shall mean any properly documented costs incurred by Developer in connection with the ground lease of the Site and the entitlement, design, financing and construction of the Project, as set forth in the Project Budget and Financing Plan.

"Effective Date" shall mean the date, after this Agreement is initially executed by Developer and approved by the City, that this Agreement is executed by the

LAHD General Manager or designee, and/or City Clerk, which date shall be the latest date set forth on the signature page(s) of this Agreement.

"Eligible Household" shall mean, as applicable to this Agreement, a household with income level not exceeding the maximum income level as established in the Regulatory Agreement and is otherwise eligible to rent an Affordable Unit.

"Encumbrance" shall mean and include any mortgage, deed of trust, lease, lien, easement, restrictive covenant or regulatory agreement or other security interest recorded against title to the Site.

"Environmental Laws" shall mean all federal, state and local laws, ordinances and regulations relating to industrial hygiene, environmental protection or the use, analysis, generation, manufacture, storage, release, disposal or transportation of Hazardous Substances.

"Event of Default" shall have the meaning set forth in Section 10.1 of this Agreement.

"Exceptions" shall mean all exceptions, reservations, liens, encumbrances, qualifications, covenants, conditions, restrictions, leases, easements, rights of way, or other like matters affecting the Site, and all matters or states of facts reflected on or arising out of any tentative or final parcel map for the Site, or concerning or related to zoning, subdivision, permitted use or physical condition of the Site, or arising from the redevelopment, development or related activities of Developer.

"Extension Base Rent" shall mean a revised City Rent in the amount of the FMV of the "As-Is" leasehold interest in the Site based on an appraisal conducted within six months of the lease renewal date prepared by a City approved real estate appraiser if, and only if, there is an increase in the maximum applicable affordable rent restrictions for the Project pursuant to the Regulatory Agreement: the City ("Extension Base Rent").

"Extremely Low Income Households" shall have the meaning set forth therefor in California Health and Safety Code Section 50106, as it may be amended from time to time.

"Financing Plan" shall mean the plan described in Section 3.2.b. of this Agreement.

"General Contractor" shall mean the licensed contractor or firm selected by Developer with overall responsibility for construction of the Project.

"Governmental Restrictions" shall mean and include any and all laws, statutes, ordinances, codes, rules, regulations, writs, injunctions, orders, decrees, rulings,

conditions of approval, or authorization, now in force or which may hereafter be in force, of any governmental entity, agency or political subdivision.

"Grace Villas" shall mean that certain real property, owned by the City of Los Angeles, located at 216-224 S. Avenue 24, Los Angeles, depicted on the <u>Site Map</u> attached to this Agreement as **Exhibit A** of <u>Part I of Exhibits</u> and more particularly described by the <u>Legal Description</u> attached to this Agreement as **Exhibit B** of <u>Part I of Exhibits</u>.

"Ground Lease" shall mean that certain 99-year ground lease with respect to the Site to be entered into between the City, as ground lessor, and Developer, as ground lessee, subject to and as contemplated in this Agreement, as it may be amended to the extent permitted by applicable City and State laws (as determined prior to entry into the Ground Lease). A Form of the Ground Lease is attached to this Agreement as Exhibit L of Part 1 of Exhibits.

"Hazardous Materials" shall mean: (i) any chemical, compound, material, mixture or substance that is now or may later be defined or listed in, or otherwise classified pursuant to, any Hazardous Materials Law as a "hazardous substance", "hazardous waste", "extremely hazardous waste", acutely hazardous waste", radioactive waste", infectious waste", biohazardous waste", "toxic substance", "pollutant", "toxic pollutant", "contaminant", as well as any formulation not mentioned herein intended to define, list or classify substances by reason of deleterious properties such as ignitability, corrosivity, reactivity, carcinogenicity, toxicity, reproductive toxicity, "EP" toxicity, or "TCLP toxicity"; (ii) petroleum, natural gas, natural gas liquids, liquefied natural gas, synthetic gas usable for fuel (or mixtures of natural gas and such synthetic gas) and ash produced by a resource recovery facility utilizing a municipal solid waste stream, and drilling fluids, produced waters and other wastes associated with the exploration, development or production of crude oil, natural gas, or geothermal resources; (iii) "hazardous substance" as defined in Section 25281 of the California Health and Safety Code; (iv) "waste" as defined in Section 13050(d) of the California Water Code; (v) asbestos in any form; (vi) urea formaldehyde foam insulation; (vii) transforms or other equipment which contain dielectric fluid containing levels of polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs) in excess of fifty (50) parts per million; (viii) radon; and (ix) any other chemical, material, or substance that, because of its quantity, concentration, or physical or chemical characteristics, exposure to which is now or hereafter limited or regulated for health and safety reasons by any governmental authority, or which poses or is later determined to pose a significant present or potential hazard to human health and safety or to the environment if released into the workplace or the environment. The term "Hazardous Materials" shall not include: construction materials, gardening materials, household products, office supply products or janitorial supply products customarily used in the construction, maintenance, rehabilitation, or management of residential property, or commonly used or sold by hardware, home improvement stores, or medical clinics and which are used and stored in accordance with all applicable Hazardous Materials Laws.

"Hazardous Materials Laws" means all present and future federal, state and local laws, ordinances, regulations, permits, guidance documents, policies, decrees, orders and any other requirements, whether statutory, regulatory or contractual, of governmental authorities relating to health, safety, the environment or the use, handling, disposal or transportation of any Hazardous Materials (including, without limitation, the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act of 1980, the Resource Conservation Recovery Act, the Clean Water Act, the Clean Air Act, and the applicable provisions of the California Health and Safety Code and the California Water Code, as each such statute may from time to time be amended, and the rules, regulations and guidance documents promulgated pursuant to any such statute).

"HCD" shall mean the California Department of Housing and Community Development.

"Housing Design Guidelines" shall mean the City's Residential Citywide Design Guidelines, substantially in the form included in <u>Part II of Exhibits</u>, receipt of which is hereby acknowledged.

"HUD Requirements" shall mean the requirements, to the extent applicable, listed in the form included as **Exhibit K** of <u>Part I of Exhibits</u>, receipt of which is hereby acknowledged.

"Improvements" shall mean and include all demolition, site preparation and grading, as well as all buildings, structures, fixtures, excavation, parking, landscaping, and other work, construction, rehabilitation, alterations and improvements of whatsoever character to be constructed or performed by Developer on, around, under or over the Site pursuant to this Agreement.

"Intercreditor Agreement" shall mean an agreement by and among LAHD, Developer, and/or other parties, as applicable, in form and substance that is acceptable to the City or its designee and that addresses, among other things, the disbursement of loan proceeds by the Lender(s) and gives the City the right to review and comment on disbursements by the other Lender(s), as it may be and to extent provided therein.

"Investor Member/Limited Partner Capital Contribution" shall mean funds provided to Developer by the Tax Credit Equity Investor in consideration of the Low Income Tax Credit and Historic Rehabilitation Tax Credit.

"LAHD" shall mean the City of Los Angeles, acting by and through its Los Angeles Housing Department of the City.

"Losses and Liabilities" shall mean and include all claims, writs, demands, causes of action, liabilities, losses, damages, judgments, injuries, expenses (including,

without limitation, attorneys' fees and costs incurred by the indemnified party with respect to legal counsel of reasonably acceptable to it) charges, penalties or costs of whatsoever character, nature and kind, whether to property or to person, and whether by direct or derivative action, known or unknown, suspected or unsuspected, latent or patent, existing or contingent.

"Low or Moderate Income Households" shall have the same meaning as the term "persons and families of low or moderate income" set forth in California Health and Safety Code Section 50093, as it may be amended from time to time.

"Low Income Households" shall have the same meaning as the term "Lower income households" set forth in California Health and Safety Code Section 50079.5, as it may be amended from time to time.

"Low Income Housing Tax Credit" shall mean the tax credit authorized by the Tax Reform Act of 1986 and governed by Section 42 of the Internal Revenue Code.

"Management Plan" shall mean a plan as described in Section 7.5.a. of this Agreement.

"Moderate Income Households" shall have the same meaning as the term "persons and families of low or moderate income" set forth in California Health and Safety Code Section 50093, as it may be amended from time to time.

"Notice of Affordability Restrictions" shall mean, if applicable to the Project, the <u>Notice of Affordability Restrictions on Transfer of Property</u> to be recorded against the Site, substantially in the form attached to this Agreement as **Exhibit J** of Part I of Exhibits.

"Ownership and/or Control" shall mean, without limitation, a majority of voting rights and beneficial ownership with respect to all classes of stock in a corporation or controlling interests in partnerships or limited liability companies, and/or beneficial interests under a trust, as may be applicable to the type of entity in question. In the case of a trust, such term shall also include the rights of the trustee as well as the beneficiary.

"Parties" shall mean the City, LAHD and the Developer, collectively, and "Party" shall mean either the City, LAHD or the Developer.

"Permanent Lender" shall mean the maker of the Permanent Loan.

"Permanent Loan" shall mean the loan secured by a Permanent Loan Deed of Trust and made by a third party to Developer to finance certain development costs of the Project after construction completion and stabilization of occupancy of the Project.

"Permanent Loan Deed of Trust" shall mean any deed of trust recorded against the Site securing a Permanent Loan.

"Permitted Lender" shall mean the holder of any Security Financing Interest authorized by this Agreement and identified in the Project Budget or Financing Plan.

"Permitted Loan" shall mean any loan secured by a Security Financing Interest authorized by this Agreement and identified in the Project Budget.

"Permitted Transfer" means any of the following, provided Developer or a general partner or managing member, as the case may be, of Developer retains day-to-day control over management and operations of the Site and the Improvements other than as provided in (a) and (g) below:

- a. A conveyance of a security interest in the Site in connection with any Permitted Loan and any subsequent transfer of leasehold title by foreclosure, deed or other conveyance in lieu of foreclosure in connection therewith;
- b. A conveyance of leasehold interest in the Site or other Transfer by Developer to a limited partnership or limited liability company in which Developer is managing general partner or managing member, as the case may be, and the Tax Credit Equity Investor is a limited partner or member, as the case may be, or to any other Affiliate, or a conveyance back from such entity to Developer;
- c. The inclusion of equity participation by Developer by addition of members to Developer's limited liability company, limited partners to Developer's limited partnership, or similar mechanisms;
- d. The sale and/or transfer of non-managing membership or limited partnership interests to any Affiliate of the Tax Credit Equity Investor;
- e. The lease for occupancy of all or any part of the Improvements on the Site;
- f. The granting of easements or permits to facilitate the development of the Site in accordance with this Agreement;
- g. In addition, the withdrawal, removal and/or replacement of any managing member of Developer's limited liability company or general partner of Developer's partnership, as the case may be, pursuant to the terms of the Developer's LLC Agreement or partnership agreement, as the case may be, shall not constitute a default under this Agreement or any of the City Development Documents, provided that any required substitute member or

general partner, as the case may be, is reasonably acceptable to the City and is selected with reasonable promptness;

h. Any other transfer approved in writing by the City or its designee, at its sole discretion;

"Person" means an individual, corporation, partnership, Limited Liability Company, joint venture, association, firm, Joint Stock Company, trust, unincorporated association or other entity.

"Project" shall mean Developer's lease of the Site and the development of the Improvements on the Site as required by this Agreement and the Scope of Development.

"Project Architect" shall mean the licensed architect or firm of architects selected by Developer with overall responsibility for the design of the Project.

"Project Budget" means the preliminary estimate of sources and uses of funds necessary to develop the Project attached to this Agreement as **Exhibit E** of <u>Part I</u> of Exhibits.

"Project Documents" shall mean and include such preliminary and Final Construction Drawings and specifications, grading plans, landscape plans, site development plans, plot plans, off-site improvement plans, architectural renderings and elevations, material specifications, parking plans and other plans and documents as are required to be submitted to LAHD pursuant to Article 5 of this Agreement or any applicable Governmental Restrictions.

"Redevelopment Plan" shall mean the "Redevelopment Plan for the Redevelopment Project Area in which the project is located" adopted by Ordinance of the City Council of the City of Los Angeles, as amended from time-to-time.

"Regulatory Agreement" shall mean the <u>Regulatory Agreement</u> to be entered into by the City and Developer and recorded against the Site, in the form attached to this Agreement as **Exhibit I** of <u>Part I of Exhibits</u>.

"Residual Receipts" [intentionally omitted].

"Residual Receipts Lease" [intentionally omitted].

"Schedule of Performance" shall mean the <u>Schedule of Performance</u> including project's Milestones, attached to this Agreement as **Exhibit C** of <u>Part I of Exhibits</u>, with all City-authorized extensions, modifications, and amendments thereto, which is incorporated herein by this reference. The Schedule of Performance is subject

to revision from time to time as mutually agreed upon in writing between the Developer and the City or its designee.

"Scope of Development" shall mean the <u>Scope of Development</u> attached to this Agreement as **Exhibit D** of <u>Part I of Exhibits</u>, which is incorporated herein by this reference.

"Security Financing Interests" shall have the meaning set forth in Section 9.1.b. of this Agreement.

"Site" shall mean that certain real property consisting of City sites: at <u>216-224 S Avenue 24</u>, Los Angeles, CA 90031, APN 5204-005-901 depicted on the <u>Site Map</u> attached to this Agreement as **Exhibit A** of <u>Part I of Exhibits</u> and more particularly described by the <u>Legal Description</u> attached to this Agreement as **Exhibit B** of <u>Part I of Exhibits</u>.

"Soft Lenders" shall mean lenders, such as governmental agencies, that provide financial assistance to the project on a residual receipts basis with loan terms favorable to the developer. Soft lenders may include, but are not limited to, the Housing & Community Investment Department (LAHD) which administers the Affordable Housing Trust Fund and Measure HHH, the LA County Community Development Commission (LACDC) which administers the LA County Multi-family Rental Housing Program and the Housing & Community Development Department of California (HCD) which administers the Affordable Housing & Sustainable Communities Program and other affordable housing subsidy programs.

"Statutory Request for Notice of Default" shall mean an instrument substantially in the form attached to this Agreement as **Exhibit H** of <u>Part I of Exhibits</u>

"Tax Credit Equity Investor" shall mean any Person who will be an investor member in Developer's limited liability company or investor limited partner in Developer's partnership, as the case may be, and who will purchase the Low Income Housing Tax Credit and Historic Preservation Tax Credit and own not less than a 99% interest in Developer.

"Grace Villas" shall mean that certain real property, owned by the City of Los Angeles, located at 216-224 S. Avenue 24, Los Angeles, depicted on the <u>Site Map</u> attached to this Agreement as **Exhibit A** of <u>Part I of Exhibits</u> and more particularly described by the <u>Legal Description</u> attached to this Agreement as **Exhibit B** of <u>Part I of Exhibits</u>.

"Third Party Lender" shall mean the maker of any Loan or beneficiary of any Loan deed of trust, except for the City.

"Third Party Loan" shall mean the Construction Loan, Permanent Loan, Construction/Permanent Loan (if any), and/or any other loan, credit enhancement or construction period guaranty facility that is secured by a deed of trust or other instrument.

"Title Company" shall mean <u>Commonwealth Land Title Company</u> or such other title insurance company as may be approved by the City.

"Total Development Costs" shall mean the total cost to Developer of acquiring the Site and designing, entitling, financing and constructing the Project thereon, as set forth in the Project Budget and Financing Plan.

"Transfer" shall mean and include any voluntary or involuntary transfer, sale, assignment, lease, sublease, license, franchise, concession, operating agreement, gift, hypothecation, mortgage, pledge or encumbrance, or the like, of all or any portion of the Site, any rights or obligations of the Developer under this Agreement, or any interest in the Developer, to any person or entity ("Transferee").

"Very Low Income Households" shall have the meaning set forth therefor in California Health and Safety Code Section 50105, as it may be amended from time to time.

1.3 Exhibits.

The following is a list of the exhibits applicable to this Agreement. The exhibits constituting Part I are attached to this Agreement. The exhibits constituting Part II are Standard City Contracting Requirements which are set forth in a separate document, the receipt of which is hereby acknowledged by Developer. All of the exhibits are hereby incorporated by this reference as though fully set forth herein.

a. Part I of Exhibits:

- A. Site Map
- B. Legal Description
- C. Schedule of Performance and Milestones
- D. Scope of Development
- E. Project Budget
- F. [Intentionally omitted]
- G. Form of Assignment of Agreements, Plans, Specifications and Entitlements
- H. Form of Statutory Request for Notice
- I. Form of Regulatory Agreement
- J. Form of Notice of Affordability Restrictions [intentionally omitted]
- K. HUD Requirements
- L. Form of Ground Lease

b. Part II of Exhibits (Standard City Contracting Requirements):

- 1. City of Los Angeles Requirements
- 2. ADA Covenants
- 3. Mayoral Directive
- 4. City Insurance Requirements

ARTICLE 2. PARTIES TO THE AGREEMENT.

2.1 <u>City of Los Angeles.</u>

The City of Los Angeles is a municipal corporation, acting by and through the Los Angeles Housing Department. The address of LAHD for the purposes of receiving notice pursuant to this Agreement is:

> Los Angeles Housing Department 1910 Sunset Boulevard Suite 300 Los Angeles, CA 90026 Attention: General Manager

With a copy to:

Los Angeles Housing Department Asset Management Division 1910 Sunset Boulevard Suite 300 Los Angeles, CA 90026 Attention: Asset Manager

The term "LAHD" includes any assignee or successor to LAHD's rights, powers and responsibilities under this agreement.

2.2 Developer.

Developer is <u>Grace Villas, LP</u>, a California limited partnership. The address of Developer for purposes of receiving notice pursuant to this Agreement is:

Women Organizing Resources Knowledge and Services, Inc. 795 North Avenue 50 Los Angeles, CA 90042 Attn: Monique Davis, Chief Executive Officer With a copy to:

Women Organizing Resources Knowledge and Services, Inc. 795 North Avenue 50 Los Angeles, CA 90042 Attn: May-Jane Wagle, Board Chair With a copy to:

GTM/Lincoln Heights Family Developers, LLC, a California limited liability company 250 N. Harbor Drive, Suite 311 Redondo Beach, CA 90277 Attn: Mark Walther

With a copy to:

GTM Holdings, LLC a California limited liability company, a manager 250 N. Harbor Drive, Suite 311 Redondo Beach, CA 90277

The term "Developer" as used herein includes any authorized and approved Transferee of Developer as permitted in accordance with Article 8 of this Agreement. All of the terms, covenants, and conditions of this Agreement shall be binding on such Transferees, successors and assigns of Developer.

2.3 No Joint Venture.

The City and Developer are not and shall not be deemed to be partners, coventurers, joint venturers or in any other way related to one another, nor shall either party have any fiduciary, confidential or agency relationship with the other. Nothing contained in this Lease will be deemed or construed by the Parties or by any third person or court to create the relationship of principal and agent or of partnership or of joint venture or of any association between the City and Lessee, and neither the method of computation of Rent nor any other provisions contained in this Lease nor any acts of the parties will be deemed to create any relationship between the City and Lessee, other than the relationship of lessor and lessee.

ARTICLE 3. DISPOSITION OF SITE.

3.1 Conditions Precedent to Close of Escrow.

Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, the City shall execute and deliver the Ground Lease to the Site to Developer for redevelopment and the provision of affordable housing. The City shall not be obligated to convey title to the Site to Developer, and the Close of Escrow shall not occur, if an Event of Default has occurred and has not been cured within the applicable cure period, if any. The Close of Escrow is further conditioned upon the timely satisfaction of each of the following conditions (the "Conditions Precedent"), not later than the time provided in the Ground Lease Schedule of Performance for the Closing Date (as such date may be extended in accordance with the terms of this Agreement). It shall be Developer's obligation to cause all of the Conditions Precedent to be satisfied in a timely fashion, as provided in this Agreement, and to provide written documentation sufficient for the LAHD General Manager or designee to determine compliance, not later than ten (10) Business Days prior to the scheduled Closing Date (unless a different time is provided in this Agreement). The City shall have the right to approve or disapprove any submittal. Any approval or disapproval shall be in writing. Any disapproval shall contain an explanation of the reason(s) for disapproval. Developer shall have eight (8) Business Days after any disapproval to submit additional or corrected documentation. Failure by the City to approve or disapprove any submittal in writing within ten (10) Business Days of receipt shall be deemed a disapproval. The City shall have the right to terminate this Agreement in the event of a failure of any Condition Precedent within the respective time specified for the satisfaction of such condition in this Agreement, but in any event not later than the time provided in the Schedule of Performance for the scheduled Closing Date. Unless expressly provided otherwise, each of the following conditions is for the exclusive benefit of the City.

- (i) <u>Developer's Certificate</u>. Developer shall certify to the City in writing that (i) all information provided by Developer to the City in connection with this Agreement remains true and correct in all material respects; and (ii) Developer is in full compliance with the terms of this Agreement and there exists no Event of Default pursuant to this Agreement, nor has any act, omission or condition occurred that, with the giving of notice, would constitute an Event of Default pursuant to this Agreement;
- (ii) Opinion of Developer's Counsel. Developer shall deliver to the City a written opinion in a form acceptable to the City, to be signed by counsel to Developer on the Closing Date, with respect to: (i) the legality, validity and binding effect of this Agreement and its enforceability against Developer in accordance with its terms; (ii) the absence of any litigation or other proceedings, either pending or threatened, which could have a material adverse effect on the ability of Developer to perform pursuant to this Agreement; and (iii) such other standard and customary matters for legal opinions to be given by Developer's counsel in real estate secured financing transactions as reasonably requested by LAHD. The opinion of Developer's counsel shall disclose whether any consent, approval or other authorization, regulation, declaration or filing with any court or other governmental agency or commission or other public entity is required for the due

execution and delivery of this Agreement and City Development Documents pursuant to this Agreement;

- (iii) <u>Developer's Formation Documents</u>. Developer shall deliver to LAHD documentation relating to the status of Developer's corporate, partnership, limited liability or other similar entity, and those of any general partners or managing members of Developer, including, without limitation and as applicable, the following: limited partnership agreements and any amendments thereto; certificate of limited partnership (LP-1) and any amendments thereto; articles of incorporation; limited liability company articles of incorporation (LLC-1); statement of information and operating agreement (including any amendments thereto); copies of all resolutions or other necessary actions taken by such entity to authorize the execution of this Agreement and related documents; and a certificate of status issued by the California Secretary of State;
- (iv) <u>Title</u>. The Title Company shall confirm in writing that all conditions precedent to the Close of Escrow for Developer to take leasehold title to the Site, other than the payment of the City Rent, shall have been satisfied;
- (v) <u>Appraisal or Other Determination of Value</u>. The City shall have determined, in their sole discretion, that the City Rent payable by Developer for the Site is acceptable;
- (vi) <u>Site Conditions</u>. The City and Developer shall determine that no adverse Site conditions exist that may interfere with the development of the Site as provided in this Agreement, or, if such Site conditions exist, that they are being addressed to the satisfaction of the City. This condition is for the benefit of the City and Developer;
- (vii) <u>Title Insurance Policy</u>. The City shall have received written confirmation from the Title Company that the Title Company is committed to issue to the City, upon the Close of Escrow, without cost to the City, a Title Insurance Policy (without deletions), together with such endorsements as the City may request. This condition is for the benefit of the City and Developer;
- (viii) Evidence of Insurance. Developer shall have submitted to the City evidence of the Insurance Policies required by Section 7.10 of this Agreement. The City shall be named as loss payee or additional insured on all policies, as applicable. Developer shall ensure that all worker compensation insurance policies carried by the General Contractor and subcontractors working on the Project include a waiver of subrogation in favor of the City.
- (ix) <u>Project Budget</u>. As a condition precedent to the Close of Escrow, the acceptance of the ground lease, Developer shall deliver to the City a

certification in writing that the Project Budget remains in effect as of such date, or Developer shall have delivered to the City a proposed revision to the Project Budget, demonstrating to the reasonable satisfaction of the LAHD General Manager or designee the availability of sufficient funds to pay all Total Development Costs.

- (x) <u>Financing Plan</u>. Developer shall have submitted and the City shall have approved a Financing Plan for the Project, meeting the requirements of Section 3.2.b. of this Agreement.
- (xi) <u>Closing Cost Statement</u>. The City and Developer shall have received an estimated closing cost statement of costs from the Escrow Agent. This condition shall be for the benefit of the City and Developer;
- (xii) Recording Instructions. Developer and the City shall have executed and delivered to the Escrow Agent mutually agreed-upon and irrevocable supplemental escrow and recording instructions authorizing the Escrow Agent to record and/or deliver the closing documents listed below, which escrow instructions shall also state that the Memorandum of Ground Lease and related documents shall be recorded only upon satisfaction of the Conditions Precedent, and the Escrow Agent shall have approved such supplemental escrow and recording instructions as may have been prepared on behalf of the City and Developer; and
- (xiii) <u>Documents</u>. Not later than two (2) Business Days prior to the Close of Escrow, the City, Developer and/or other parties, as appropriate, shall have executed the following documents and delivered them to the Escrow Agent, for recording and distribution, as appropriate, upon the Close of Escrow:
 - (i) Ground Lease (to be signed by the City and consented to by Developer before or concurrently with the Close of Escrow). This condition shall be for the benefit of the City and Developer;
 - (ii) City Memorandum of Ground Lease (to be signed by Developer and the City and recorded concurrently with the Close of Escrow);
 - (iii) Regulatory Agreement (to be signed by Developer and the City and recorded concurrently with the Close of Escrow);
 - (iv) Notice of Affordability Restrictions on Transfer of Property (to be signed by the City and Developer and recorded concurrently with the Close of Escrow);

- (v) Assignment of Agreements, Plans, Specifications and Entitlements (to be signed by Developer, Project architect and contractor, as applicable, and retained by the City);
- (vi) Intercreditor Agreement(s), if any (to be signed by the City, Developer and any other lender(s) party to such agreement); and
- (vii) Statutory Request for Notice under Section 2924b of the Civil Code (to be signed by the City and recorded upon the Close of Escrow).

3.2 Financing for the Project.

- a. Project Budget. The Parties estimate that the Total Development Costs will be as set forth in the Project Budget. The initial Project Budget is attached to this Agreement as **Exhibit E** to Part I of Exhibits. The Parties acknowledge that the Project Budget shall serve as a guide for preparation of a more detailed Financing Plan. From time to time after the execution of this Agreement and through completion of construction, the Project Budget shall be subject to one or more amendments (each such amendment referred to as a "Revision" in this Agreement). Any Revision shall be subject to the approval of the LAHD General Manager or designee. The LAHD General Manager or designee is authorized to approve, and shall not unreasonably withhold approval of, any requested Revision for which the Third Party Lender's approval is not required under the terms of the Third Party Loan documents, or which has been approved by the Third Party Lender, if, within five (5) Business Days after receipt of the request, the City receives such explanation and/or back-up information as was received and relied upon by the Third Party Lender in connection with its approval of the Revision, and if the following conditions are satisfied:
 - (i) the Revision is limited to a reallocation of budgeted funds among Project Budget line items without any increase in the total Project Budget and the funds in the line item(s) to be reduced remain sufficient for completion of the Project and the requested increase in one or more line item(s) is to be used to pay approved costs, or the Revision involves an increase in the Total Development Costs, not to exceed fifteen percent (15%) of the Total Development Costs, and additional funds in an amount equal to the increase in the total Project Budget will be provided by Developer or a lender, and the requested increase in the Project Budget is to be used to pay approved costs.
 - (ii) the Revision does not increase the amount of any City loan;
 - (iii) the Revision does not result in a material change to the design of the Project, other than as approved by the City in writing;

- (iv) the Revision does not materially adversely affect the economic feasibility of the Project; and
- (v) the Revision does not materially adversely affect the City Rent or any leasehold security.

Upon approval of any Revision, the Project Budget shall be replaced by the approved revised Project Budget and this Agreement shall be deemed amended to reflect such revised Project Budget.

Financing Plan. Not later than twenty (20) Business Days prior to the scheduled Closing Date, Developer shall submit to LAHD a proposed Financing Plan, consisting of the following: (1) a ten-year cash flow projection for operation of the Project; (2) a current Project Budget, updated on the basis of approved permits and entitlements and any design requirements of any Governmental Agency; (3) a "sources and uses" table, identifying the proposed use of each source of funding for the Project during the construction period; (4) if applicable, evidence reasonably satisfactory to the LAHD General Manager or designee that Developer has sufficient additional funds available and committed to cover the difference, if any, between the Total Development Costs and all funds committed to financing the Total Development Costs (as provided in Section 3.2.c., below). LAHD shall approve or disapprove in writing the proposed Financing Plan within ten (10) Business Days of receipt. Failure of LAHD to approve or disapprove the Financing Plan within ten (10) Business Days of receipt shall be deemed a disapproval.

c. <u>Evidence of Financing</u>. The Developer must demonstrate evidence of financing within 24 months of the date of execution of this Agreement. LAHD acknowledges that the Financing Plan is predicated on funding applications to the State, County and other funders for funds that may or may not be awarded through a competitive selection process. Therefore, LAHD agrees that the Developer may apply for competitively awarded funding awards more than once. However, if the Developer fails to apply for or be awarded a source of funding identified in the Financing Plan after two rounds of funding applications, and cannot provide evidence of sufficient financing, LAHD may terminate this development agreement.

The sum of the sources of construction financing described in the Project Budget shall be sufficient at all times to pay all Total Development Costs as set forth in the most recently approved Project Budget. If at any time prior to the issuance of the Certificate of Completion, the sum of the sources of funds described in the Project Budget is insufficient to pay all Total Development Costs, Developer shall promptly deposit into the construction fund held by the Construction Lender additional Developer's funds at least equal to the shortfall. Not later than twenty (20) Business Days prior to the

scheduled Closing Date, Developer shall submit, for approval by the LAHD General Manager or designee, evidence of such financing (as part of the Financing Plan), including substantially complete drafts of Construction Loan documents (as required by Section 4.4(1)(a) of this Agreement). The LAHD General Manager or designee shall not unreasonably withhold his or her approval.

3.3 Site Control Fees.

Prior to the execution of this Agreement by the City and the Developer, the Developer shall have submitted to the City a refundable site control fee in the sum of [Fifty Thousand Dollars (\$50,000) (the "Site Fee" or "Project Commitment Deposit") to ensure that the Developer will proceed diligently and in good faith to develop the Site as required by this Agreement.

INITIALED BY DEVELOPER:	 A	
INITIALED BY LAHD:		
		7

3.4 Ground Lease.

Prior to the date set forth in the Schedule of Performance, the parties shall have agreed upon the form of the Ground Lease.

Provided the conditions precedent in Section 3.1 of this Agreement have been satisfied, upon the terms, covenants and conditions set forth in this Agreement, the City agrees to lease and convey the leasehold interest in the Site to Developer, and Developer agrees to lease and accept the leasehold interest in the Site from the City and to pay City Rent, in accordance with this Agreement and the Ground Lease. Until the issuance of the Certificate of Completion, the City's conveyance of leasehold shall be subject to a power of termination (as described in Section 10.9 of this Agreement), to ensure the completion of the redevelopment of the Site for the purpose of providing affordable housing as provided in this Agreement.

As a condition to the Close of Escrow, the parties shall have executed and delivered into escrow for delivery upon Close of Escrow, such agreed form of Ground Lease and a memorandum thereof for recordation upon Close of Escrow.

3.5 City Rent.

The applicable City Rent shall be paid by Developer to the City on the Closing Date through the Escrow Agent, together with such additional amounts as is necessary to cover Developer's share of costs and expenses hereunder.

3.6 Condition of the Site.

a. <u>Due Diligence</u>. The City makes no representations regarding the condition of the Site. The Parties hereby acknowledge that prior to the execution of this Agreement, Developer used the opportunity provided by the City to conduct any studies and investigations that Developer deemed necessary to assure itself of the physical condition of the Site and the suitability of the Site for the development contemplated by this Agreement. Developer shall have the right, without cost or expense to the City, to engage its own environmental consultant and any other consultants to conduct such additional studies and investigations of the Site as it deems necessary, including any Phase I and/or Phase II environmental investigations, soils, geotechnical or other testing of the Site, subject to the execution of a "Right of Entry" agreement in LAHD's customary form. The City shall disclose to Developer any actual knowledge of Hazardous Materials or other physical defects on the Site which occur at any time prior to the Close of Escrow.

b. <u>"As Is" Conveyance</u>.

DEVELOPER SPECIFICALLY ACKNOWLEDGES (i) AND AGREES THAT THE CITY IS CONVEYING THE SITE TO DEVELOPER AND DEVELOPER IS ACCEPTING FROM THE CITY THE SITE ON AN "AS IS WITH ALL FAULTS" BASIS AND THAT DEVELOPER IS NOT RELYING ON REPRESENTATIONS OR WARRANTIES OF ANY KIND WHATSOEVER, EXPRESS (EXCEPT AS EXPRESSLY SET FORTH IN THIS AGREEMENT) OR IMPLIED. FROM THE CITY AS TO ANY MATTERS CONCERNING THE SITE, INCLUDING WITHOUT LIMITATION: (A) THE QUALITY, NATURE, ADEQUACY AND PHYSICAL CONDITION OF THE SITE (INCLUDING, WITHOUT LIMITATION, TOPOGRAPHY, CLIMATE, AIR, WATER RIGHTS, WATER, GAS, ELECTRICITY, UTILITY SERVICES, GRADING, DRAINAGE, SEWERS, ACCESS TO PUBLIC ROADS AND RELATED CONDITIONS); (B) THE QUALITY, NATURE, ADEQUACY, AND PHYSICAL CONDITION OF SOILS, GEOLOGY AND GROUNDWATER, (C) THE EXISTENCE, QUALITY, NATURE, ADEQUACY AND PHYSICAL CONDITION OF UTILITIES SERVING THE SITE, (D) THE DEVELOPMENT POTENTIAL OF THE SITE, AND THE SITE'S USE, HABITABILITY, MERCHANTABILITY, OR FITNESS, SUITABILITY, VALUE OR ADEQUACY OF THE SITE FOR ANY PARTICULAR PURPOSE, (E) THE ZONING OR OTHER LEGAL STATUS OF THE SITE OR ANY OTHER PRIVATE OR GOVERNMENTAL RESTRICTIONS ON THE USE OF THE SITE, (F) THE COMPLIANCE OF THE SITE OR ITS OPERATION WITH ANY APPLICABLE CODES, LAWS, REGULATIONS, STATUTES, ORDINANCES, COVENANTS, CONDITIONS AND RESTRICTIONS OF ANY GOVERNMENTAL OR QUASI-GOVERNMENTAL ENTITY OR OF ANY OTHER PERSON OR ENTITY, AND (G) THE PRESENCE OR ABSENCE OF HAZARDOUS MATERIALS ON, UNDER OR ABOUT THE SITE OR EMANATING FROM THE ADJOINING OR NEIGHBORING PROPERTY. DEVELOPER AFFIRMS THAT DEVELOPER HAS NOT RELIED ON THE SKILL OR JUDGMENT OF THE CITY OR ANY OF THEIR RESPECTIVE AGENTS, EMPLOYEES, CONSULTANTS OR CONTRACTORS TO SELECT OR FURNISH THE SITE FOR ANY PARTICULAR PURPOSE, AND THAT THE CITY MAKES NO WARRANTY THAT THE SITE IS FIT FOR ANY PARTICULAR PURPOSE. DEVELOPER ACKNOWLEDGES THAT DEVELOPER SHALL USE ITS INDEPENDENT JUDGMENT AND MAKE ITS OWN DETERMINATION AS TO THE SCOPE AND BREADTH OF ITS DUE DILIGENCE INVESTIGATION WHICH IT SHALL MAKE RELATIVE TO THE SITE AND SHALL RELY UPON ITS OWN INVESTIGATION OF THE PHYSICAL, ENVIRONMENTAL, ECONOMIC AND LEGAL CONDITION OF THE SITE (INCLUDING, WITHOUT LIMITATION, WHETHER THE SITE IS LOCATED IN ANY AREA WHICH IS DESIGNATED AS A SPECIAL FLOOD HAZARD AREA, DAM FAILURE INUNDATION AREA, EARTHQUAKE FAULT ZONE, SEISMIC HAZARD ZONE, HIGH FIRE SEVERITY AREA OR WILDLAND FIRE AREA, BY ANY FEDERAL, STATE OR LOCAL AGENCY). DEVELOPER UNDERTAKES AND ASSUMES ALL RISKS ASSOCIATED WITH ALL MATTERS PERTAINING TO THE SITE'S LOCATION IN ANY AREA DESIGNATED AS A SPECIAL FLOOD HAZARD AREA, DAM FAILURE INUNDATION AREA, EARTHQUAKE FAULT ZONE, SEISMIC HAZARD ZONE, HIGH FIRE SEVERITY AREA OR WILDLAND FIRE AREA, BY ANY FEDERAL, STATE OR LOCAL AGENCY.

(ii) <u>Developer's Release of the City.</u> Developer, on behalf of itself and anyone claiming by, through or under Developer hereby waives its right to recover from and fully and irrevocably releases the City, and its respective council members, board members, employees, officers, directors, representatives, attorneys and agents (the "Released Parties") from any and all claims, responsibility and/or liability that Developer may have or hereafter acquire against any of the Released Parties, , for any claims, fines, penalties, fees, costs, loss, liability, damage, expenses, demand, action or cause of action arising from or related to the following: (i) the condition (including any construction defects, errors, omissions or other conditions, latent or otherwise), valuation, salability or utility of the Site, or its suitability for any purpose whatsoever; and (ii) any information furnished by the Released Parties under or in connection with this Agreement, provided that such release does not apply in the event where the liability resulted from gross negligence, fraud, or will full misconduct of the Released Parties.

(iii) Scope of Release. The release set forth in Section 3.6(b)(ii) includes claims (other than claims for the presence of Hazardous Materials on, under or about the Site prior to the Close of Escrow) of which Developer is presently unaware or which Developer does not presently suspect to exist which, if known by Developer, would materially affect Developer's release of the Released Parties. Developer specifically waives the provision of any statute or principle of law that provides otherwise. In this connection and to the extent permitted by law, Developer agrees, represents and warrants that Developer realizes and acknowledges that factual matters now unknown to Developer may have given or may hereafter give rise to causes of action, claims, fines, penalties, fees, demands, debts, controversies, damages, costs, losses and expenses which are presently unknown, unanticipated and unsuspected, and Developer further agrees and represents that the waivers and releases herein have been negotiated and

agreed upon in light of that realization and that Developer nevertheless hereby intends to release, discharge and acquit the City from any such unknown causes of action, claims, fines, penalties, fees, demands, debts, controversies, damages, costs, losses and expenses. Accordingly, Developer, on behalf of itself and anyone claiming by, through or under Developer, hereby assumes the above-mentioned risks and hereby expressly waives any right Developer and anyone claiming by, through or under Developer, may have under Section 1542 of the California Civil Code, which reads as follows:

"A GENERAL RELEASE DOES NOT EXTEND TO CLAIMS WHICH THE CREDITOR DOES NOT KNOW OR SUSPECT TO EXIST IN HIS OR HER FAVOR AT THE TIME OF EXECUTING THE RELEASE, WHICH IF KNOWN BY HIM OR HER MUST HAVE MATERIALLY AFFECTED HIS OR HER SETTLEMENT WITH THE DEBTOR."

Developer's	Initials:
-------------	-----------

The provisions of this section shall survive the termination of this Agreement.

3.7 <u>Discovery of Hazardous Materials.</u>

- a. In the event that Developer discovers the presence of Hazardous Materials on, under or about the Site prior to the commencement of the construction of the Improvements which Hazardous Materials were not the result of Developer's activities on the Site, Developer shall promptly notify the City of such discovery but in any event within seventy two (72) hours of such discovery. If Developer and the City, based on environmental reports by qualified professional consultants, reasonably estimate that the cost of remediation the Site in accordance with all Governmental Restrictions is One Hundred Thousand Dollars (\$100,000.00) or less, then Developer shall pay for and cause the remediation of the Site with reasonable diligence and in accordance with Governmental Restrictions. Developer and the City shall work cooperatively to expeditiously determine the estimated costs of remediation.
- b. If the cost of remediation exceeds One Hundred Thousand Dollars (\$100,000.00), the City and Developer shall negotiate in good faith to identify the means and a method to pay the estimated costs of remediation. In the event the City and Developer are unable to identify funds to pay the costs of remediation after sixty (60) days of good faith negotiation (or such longer time as the Parties mutually determine), either Party may terminate this Agreement by providing a written notice of termination to the other Party. In such an event, Developer shall convey the Site to the City within five (5) days following the date of the notice of termination.

- c. In the event that Developer discovers the presence of Hazardous Materials on, under or about the Site following the commencement or completion of the construction of Improvements and the presence of such Hazardous Materials are not caused by the City, Developer shall be responsible for the payment of all costs of remediation in accordance with Governmental Restrictions. Developer hereby waives its right to recover from and fully and irrevocably releases the City, and its respective council members, board members, employees, officers, directors, representatives, attorneys, and agents from any and all claims, responsibility and/or liability that Developer may have or hereafter acquire from the discovery of Hazardous Materials on, under or about the Site following the completion of the construction of the Improvements as evidenced by the issuance by the City of a temporary Certificate of Occupancy or Certificate of Occupancy, whichever is earlier.
- d. The release set forth in this Section 3.7 includes claims (other than claims for the presence of Hazardous Materials on, under or about the Site prior to the Close of Escrow) of which Developer is presently unaware or which Developer does not presently suspect to exist which, if known by Developer, would materially affect Developer's release of the Released Parties. Developer specifically waives the provision of any statute or principle of law that provides otherwise. In this connection and to the extent permitted by law, Developer agrees, represents and warrants that Developer realizes and acknowledges that factual matters now unknown to Developer may have given or may hereafter give rise to causes of action, claims, fines, penalties, fees, demands, debts, controversies, damages, costs, losses and expenses which are presently unknown, unanticipated and unsuspected, and Developer further agrees and represents that the waivers and releases herein have been negotiated and agreed upon in light of that realization and that Developer nevertheless hereby intends to release, discharge and acquit the City from any such unknown causes of action, claims, fines, penalties, fees, demands, debts, controversies, damages, costs, losses and expenses. Accordingly, Developer, on behalf of itself and anyone claiming by, through or under the Developer, hereby assumes the above-mentioned risks and hereby expressly waives any right Developer and anyone claiming by, through or under Developer, may have under Section 1542 of the California Civil Code, which reads as follows:

"A GENERAL RELEASE DOES NOT EXTEND TO CLAIMS WHICH THE CREDITOR DOES NOT KNOW OR SUSPECT TO EXIST IN HIS OR HER FAVOR AT THE TIME OF EXECUTING THE RELEASE, WHICH IF KNOWN BY HIM OR HER MUST HAVE MATERIALLY AFFECTED HIS OR HER SETTLEMENT WITH THE DEBTOR."

Develo	per's	Initials:		

e. <u>Developer Precautions After Closing of Escrow.</u>

Upon the Close of Escrow, Developer shall use commercially reasonable efforts to prevent the release into the environment of any Hazardous Materials which are located in, on or under the Site. Such precautions shall include compliance with all governmental requirements with respect to Hazardous Materials.

- f. City and Developer agree as follows with respect to the existence or use of Hazardous Material (as defined in this Agreement and Ground Lease) on the Site:
 - Developer shall not cause or permit any Prohibition. (i) Hazardous Material, other than normal and customary cleaning and janitorial supplies, to be brought upon, kept or used in or about the Site by Developer, its agents, employees, contractors, customers or invitees, without the prior written consent of City. If Developer breaches the obligations stated in the preceding sentence, or if the presence of Hazardous Material on the Site caused or permitted by Developer results in contamination of the Site, or if contamination of the Site by Hazardous Material otherwise occurs for which Developer is legally liable to City of damage resulting therefrom, then, Developer shall indemnify, hold City harmless, and defend City (with counsel reasonably acceptable to City) from any and all claims, judgments, damages, penalties, fines, costs, liabilities or losses (including, without limitation, diminution in value of the Site, damages for the loss or restriction on use of rentable or usable space or of any amenity of the Site, damages arising from any adverse impact on marketing of the Site, and sums paid in settlement of claims, attorneys' fees, consultant fees and expert fees) which arise during or after the Term as a result of such contamination. This indemnification of City by Developer includes, without limitation, costs incurred in connection with any investigation of site conditions or any cleanup, remedial, removal or restoration work required by any federal, state or local governmental agency or political subdivision because of Hazardous Material present in the soil or ground water on or under Site. Without limiting the foregoing, if the presence of any Hazardous Material on the Site caused or permitted by Developer results in any contamination of the Site, Developer shall promptly take all actions at Developer's sole expense as are necessary to return the Site to the condition existing prior to the introduction of any Hazardous Material to the Site; provided that City's approval of such actions shall first be obtained, which approval shall not unreasonably be withheld so long as such actions would not potentially have any material adverse long-term or short-term effect on the Site.
 - (ii) <u>Assignment</u>. It is understood that under no circumstances shall City consent to any proposed assignment or sublease if (1) the assignee or sub-lessee's anticipated use of the Site involves the generation, storage, use, treatment or disposal of Hazardous Material, other than normal and customary cleaning and janitorial supplies; (2) the proposed assignee or sub-lessee has been required by any prior landlord, lender or governmental authority to take remedial action in connection with

Hazardous Material contaminating a property if the contamination resulted from such assignee or sub-lessee's actions or use of the property in question; or (3) the proposed assignee or sub-lessee is subject to an enforcement order issued by any governmental authority in connection with the use, disposal or storage of a Hazardous Material.

(iii) <u>Hazardous Materials Notices</u>. California Health and Safety Code section 25349.7(a) requires any owner of nonresidential real property who knows, or has reasonable cause to believe, that any release of hazardous substance has come to be located on or beneath that real property, prior to the lease or rental of that real property or when the presence of such release is actually known, to give written notice of that condition to the lessee or renter. California Health and Safety Code section 25359.7(b) requires any Developer of real property who knows, or has reasonable cause to believe, that any release of hazardous substance has come to be located on or beneath that real property to give written notice of such condition to the owners. Developer and City shall comply with the requirements of section 25359.7 and any successor statute thereto and with all other statutes, laws, ordinances, rules, regulations and orders of governmental authorities with respect to hazardous substances.

3.8 Escrow.

a. Opening of Escrow.

Developer and the City shall open Escrow with the Escrow Agent not later than ninety (90) Business Days prior to the scheduled Closing Date. The delivery to Escrow Agent of a duplicate original of this Agreement shall constitute the "Opening of Escrow" and the date of the Opening of Escrow shall constitute the "Opening Date." The Escrow Agent shall accomplish the recordation of the Memorandum of Ground Lease and the documents to be recorded pursuant to this Agreement as more particularly set forth herein. This Agreement constitutes the joint basic escrow instructions of the City and Developer with respect to the lease and conveyance of the Site by the City to Developer. The City and Developer shall provide such additional escrow instructions as are customary, consistent with this Agreement and necessary for the accomplishment of its purpose. Escrow Agent is hereby empowered to act under this Agreement, and Escrow Agent, upon indicating within five (5) Business Days after the Opening of Escrow its acceptance of the provisions of this Section 3.8 in writing delivered to the City and Developer, shall carry out its duties as Escrow Agent hereunder. In the case of any inconsistency between the Additional Escrow Instructions and this Agreement, the terms of this Agreement shall govern.

b. Closing Costs to be paid by Developer.

Together with Developer's deposit of the City Rent and any other deposits provided by this Agreement, Developer shall pay to the Title Company all fees, charges

and costs of the Escrow promptly after the Title Company has notified Developer of the amount of such fees, charges and costs, prior to the Closing Date. Such fees, charges and costs shall include, but are not limited to, as follows:

- (i) The escrow fee; and
- (ii) Recording fees, if any, for the Memorandum of Ground Lease, the Regulatory Agreement, the Notice of Restrictions and/or any other instrument to be recorded against title to the Site by or for the benefit of Developer; and
- (iii) Title policy of title insurance naming the City as the insured with liability not less than the fair market value of the Site, issued by an insurer satisfactory to the City, excepting only such defects, liens, encumbrances, and exceptions as are approved by the City, and containing such endorsements as the City may reasonably require.

c. Closing Costs to be paid by Other Parties.

Any other costs, expenses or fees of the Escrow not otherwise provided for in this Agreement shall be paid by the party who customarily pays for such costs in Los Angeles County.

d. Duty of Escrow Agent.

The Escrow Agent is authorized to:

- (i) Pay and charge Developer, the City or other parties, as applicable, for its respective fees, charges and costs payable under this Section 3.8. Before such payments or charges are made, Escrow Agent shall notify the City and Developer of the fees, charges and costs necessary to close the Escrow;
- (ii) Deliver the Ground Lease, Memorandum of Ground Lease, the Regulatory Agreement and other documents, including any applicable promissory notes and deeds of trust, to the parties entitled thereto when the conditions of this Escrow have been fulfilled by the City and Developer;
- (iv) Record any instruments delivered through this Escrow, if necessary or proper, to lease the Site, or the applicable portion thereof, to Developer in accordance with the terms and provisions of this Agreement.

If this Escrow is not in condition to close on or before the "Closing Date" (as defined in Section 3.9 of this Agreement), either Party who then shall have fully performed

the acts to be performed before the conveyance of title may, in writing, demand from Escrow Agent and the Title Company, if appropriate, the return of its money, papers or documents deposited with Escrow Agent and the Title Company. No demand for return shall be recognized until ten (10) calendar days after Escrow Agent shall have mailed copies of such demand to the other Party at the address of its or their principal place of business and such other Party shall have failed to have taken the action required by that Party to effectuate the Close of Escrow within such ten (10) calendar day period. Objections, if any, shall be raised by written notice to the Escrow Agent and to the other Party within the ten (10) calendar day period described above, in which event Escrow Agent and the Title Company are authorized to hold all money, papers and documents with respect to the Site, or the affected portion thereof, until instructed by mutual agreement of the Parties or by a court of competent jurisdiction. If no such demands are made, the Escrow shall be closed as soon as possible.

Neither Escrow Agent nor the Title Company shall be obligated to return any such money, papers or documents, except upon the written instructions of the City and Developer or until the Party entitled thereto has been determined by a final decision of a court of competent jurisdiction.

Any amendment to these Escrow instructions shall be in writing and signed by both the City and Developer. At the time of any amendment, Escrow Agent shall agree to carry out its duties as Escrow Agent under such amendment.

All communications from Escrow Agent to the City or Developer shall be directed to the addresses and in the manner established in Section 11.2 of this Agreement for notices, demands and communications between the City and Developer.

<u>Title Review.</u> Within the time provided in the applicable e. Schedule of Performance, Developer shall cause the Escrow Holder to deliver to the Developer and the City the Title Report(s) with respect to the title of the Site, together with legible copies of the documents underlying the exceptions (the "Exceptions") set forth in the Title Report(s). Within the time specified in the applicable Schedule of Performance, Developer shall have approved or disapproved the Exceptions. Developer disapproves the Exceptions, then Developer may terminate this Agreement (Section 10.8, no fault termination provision) or Developer may provide written disapproval of such Exceptions to the City, and the City shall have until the date selected for each Close of Escrow to cure or remove each disapproved Exception. In the event the City is unable to cure to Developer's reasonable satisfaction, or remove, the disapproved Exceptions prior to Close of Escrow, Developer shall have the right to terminate this Agreement pursuant to Section 10.8 (no fault termination provision). Developer's failure to disapprove title to the Site within ninety (90) days prior to the Close of Escrow shall be deemed approval of such condition of title. In the event any new Exceptions appear on a Title Report after delivery of the initial Title Report and prior to the Close of Escrow, and (a) Developer disapproves of such Exception and (b) the City is unable to remove or cure such Exception to Developer's reasonable satisfaction prior to the Close of Escrow, then Developer shall have the right to terminate this Agreement pursuant to Section 10.8 (no fault termination provision). Upon Developer's approval of the state of title to the Site, Developer shall have no right to terminate this Agreement on account of the condition to title to the Site, except as provided herein.

3.9 Close of Escrow.

- a. Subject to any extensions of time mutually agreed upon in writing between the City and Developer, the conveyance of leasehold interest to Developer pursuant to the Ground Lease shall be completed upon the occurrence of all of the following (the "Closing Date") (i) not sooner than the satisfaction of all Conditions Precedent to the Close of Escrow set forth in Section 3.1 of this Agreement; and (ii) not later than the date specified for the scheduled Closing Date in the Schedule of Performance.
- b. The LAHD General Manager or his/her designee, is authorized to approve one or more reasonable extensions to the Closing Date, from time to time (each such extension not to exceed twenty (20) Business Days), so long as: (i) such extension is in writing, executed by the LAHD General Manager or designee; (ii) the LAHD General Manager or designee determines in writing, on the basis of reasonable documentation provided by Developer, that Developer is diligently attempting to satisfy or cause the satisfaction of any outstanding Condition Precedent; and (iii) the extension does not exceed six (6) months from the Closing Date set forth in the Schedule of Performance. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary, Close of Escrow shall not occur without a reasonable expectation that construction of the Improvements will commence within one hundred eighty (180) Business Days after the Close of Escrow.

3.10 Recordation of Documents.

Unless instructed otherwise in writing by the City and Developer, Escrow Agent shall record or cause to be recorded in the Office of the County Recorder of Los Angeles County, California, in the following order, the following instruments: (a) the Memorandum of Ground Lease; (b) the Regulatory Agreement; (c) the Notice of Affordability Restrictions; (d) Security Financing Interests, if any, to be recorded in connection with the ground lease; and (e) Security Financing Interests to be recorded in connection with any Third Party Loan and any other Residual Receipts Loan.

ARTICLE 4. METHOD OF FINANCING

4.1 Total Development Costs.

The parties estimate that the Total Development Costs will be as set forth in the Project Budget, to be financed as set forth in Developer's Financing Plan for the Project.

4.2 Construction Period Financing.

The Parties anticipate that construction period financing (after Close of Escrow) will be provided from a combination of loans and equity, including but not limited to the following:

- Construction Loan. One more construction or or construction/permanent loans (each, a "Construction Loan" and collectively, the "Construction Loans") derived from the issuance of Tax-Exempt Mortgage Revenue Bonds and disbursed by a bank or other lender approved in advance by LAHD General Manager or designee ("Construction Lender") in the approximate original principal amount set forth in the "Construction" sources column in the Project Budget. It is anticipated that disbursements of the Construction Loan shall be subject to a process for the City review of Construction Lender disbursements, to be negotiated and provided in an Intercreditor Agreement, if any, to which the City and the Construction Lender will be parties. It is anticipated that the Construction Loan will be disbursed to pay Development Costs and reduced to the amount set forth in the "Permanent" sources column in the Project Budget, after the conversion of the Construction Loan in accordance with its terms.
- b. <u>Developer Equity</u>. Equity from the Developer (the "Developer Equity"), consisting of the following:
 - (i) Funds in an amount set forth in the Project Budget , to be provided by the Tax Credit Equity Investor, derived from Low Income Housing Tax Credits, Historic Tax Credits and other applicable tax credits ("Investor Member/Partner Capital Contribution"), which shall be disbursed in one or more installments as provided in Developer's Amended and Restated Partnership Agreement; and
 - (ii) A deferred portion of the Developer Fee, in the amount set forth in the Project Budget (the "Deferred Developer Fee"), constituting that portion of the Developer Fee to be paid to Developer from Revenue, before calculating Residual Receipts.
 - (iii) Developer Equity Contribution made directly to the project by the Developer that is not part of the deferred developer fee or a tax credit investor equity contribution. The Developer Equity Contribution can only be repaid through the Developer's share of residual receipts; the Developer Equity Contribution will not be secured by a promissory note; and the

Developer Equity Contribution can only be repaid upon sale/transfer of the Project.

Developer shall be responsible for providing or securing any additional funds which may be needed to pay for cost overruns and contingencies not otherwise funded by the sources of Construction Financing described above.

Developer Equity described in this paragraph b. shall consist of funds provided by Developer, or borrowed funds, as long as repayment is not secured by any deed of trust on the Site.

4.3 Permanent Sources of Financing.

The Parties anticipate that permanent financing will be provided from a combination of loans and equity, including but not limited to the following:

- a. One or more permanent loans or construction loans that convert to permanent loans (each a "Permanent Loan" and collectively the "Permanent Loans") in the original principal amount as set forth in the Project Budget, secured by one or more Third Party Lender deeds of trust (the beneficiaries of which shall include the Permanent Lender, any credit enhancer or permanent financing guaranty facility, referred to herein collectively as the "Third Party Permanent Lenders", and, together with the Third Party Construction Lenders, described above, referred to as the "Third Party Lenders").
 - b. Developer Equity, as described in subsection 4.2(b), above.
 - c. Developer Deferred Developer Fee.
- d. Other funding sources such as Measure HHH, Multifamily Housing Program (MHP), Mental Health Services Act (MHSA), Affordable Housing Sustainable Communities (AHSC), Infill Infrastructure Grant (IIG), and Project Based Vouchers (PBV).

ARTICLE 5. SCOPE OF DEVELOPMENT/DESIGN REQUIREMENTS.

- 5.1 <u>Design in Conformance with Scope of Development, Residential Citywide</u>
 Design Guidelines and Approved Project Documents.
- a. In designing and constructing the Project, the Developer shall cause all Project Documents to be consistent with the Scope of Development and City's Multifamily Housing Design Guidelines, and requirements of the HHH Loan Agreement for the Project, if any, unless otherwise approved by the City. The Scope of Development shall establish the baseline design standards from which the Developer shall prepare all subsequent Project Documents.

b. As required by the Scope of Development, the Developer shall follow the Environmentally Responsive Design guidelines and Sustainable Building Methods section established in LAHD Architectural Design Guidelines of (March 19, 2007) and consistent with TCAC Regulation's Minimum Constructions Standards requirements adopted on May 17, 2017, as well as the latest California Energy Commission requirements which are reflected in the Building Codes (in particular Volume 3, Green Building Code) and with which all projects must comply according to their project type.

5.2 City Review.

The City shall not be responsible for any aspects of Developer's conduct in connection with the Project, including, but not limited to, the quality and suitability of the Project Documents, the supervision of construction work, and the qualifications, financial condition, and performance of all architects, engineers, contractors, subcontractors, suppliers, consultants, and property managers. Any review or inspection undertaken by the City with reference to the Project is solely for the purpose of determining whether the Developer is properly discharging its obligations to the City, and shall not be relied upon by the Developer or by any third parties as a warranty or representation by the City as to the quality of the design or construction of the Project.

ARTICLE 6. CONSTRUCTION OF THE IMPROVEMENTS.

Except for Section 6.6 (Relocation), if applicable, the provisions of this Article 6 are intended to apply only after the Close of Escrow, if at all.

6.1 Commencement of Construction.

The Developer shall commence construction of the Improvements within the time set forth in the Schedule of Performance.

6.2 Completion of Construction.

The Developer shall prosecute to completion, with diligence that is reasonable under all the circumstances, the construction of the Improvements, and shall complete or cause to be completed the construction of the Improvements within the time set forth in the Schedule of Performance. As between the City and the Developer, the Developer shall be solely responsible for the construction of the Improvements.

6.3 Construction Pursuant to Scope and Plans.

a. The Developer shall construct the Improvements in accordance with the Scope of Development, the approved Final Construction Drawings, and the terms and conditions of all City approvals and any other governmental approvals.

- Any proposed material variation from the previously approved Final b. Construction Drawings shall be submitted to the LAHD General Manager or designee for written approval. LAHD shall approve or disapprove a proposed material variation within fifteen (15) Business Days after receipt by LAHD. If LAHD rejects the proposed material change, then LAHD shall provide the Developer with the specific reasons therefor, and the approved Final Construction Drawings shall continue to control. For purposes of this Section 6.3, a material variation from the previously approved Final Construction Drawings shall consist of any of the following: (1) any change in building materials or equipment, specifications, or the architectural, functional or structural design of the Improvements that is of lesser quality, durability or appearance or which does a poorer job of meeting the City's urban planning and design objectives as set forth in the Scope of Development; (2) any change (increase or decrease) that cumulatively exceeds ten percent (10%) of the budgeted cost of any one line item at any time; or (3) any set of changes (increase or decrease) that cumulatively exceeds ten percent (10%) of the hard cost budget.
- c. Developer shall comply with all orders to comply with building codes and other governmental health and safety regulations. Any change from Approved Final Construction Drawings which is required for compliance with building codes or other government health and safety regulations shall not be deemed a material change for purposes of Section 5.1 and this Section 6.3. However, the Developer shall submit to LAHD any proposed change that is required for such compliance as soon as possible, but in any event prior to the commencement of any such work, and such change shall become a part of the approved Final Construction Drawings, binding on the Developer. Any increase in Total Development Costs resulting from any such change shall be the obligation of Developer. The City shall have the right in its sole discretion, but not the obligation, to impose conditions on Developer's performance of any such changes that are reasonable in light of all the circumstances.
- d. Throughout the construction of the Improvements, the City shall have the right in its discretion, but not the obligation, to inspect the Site as provided in Section 6.10 of this Agreement, and, to the extent permitted by any Inter-creditor Agreement, to review and provide comments to other lenders regarding the disbursement of construction sources of financing.

6.4 <u>Certificate of Completion.</u>

a. Within ten (10) Business Days after written request by Developer following Completion of construction in accordance with the Scope of Development and Final Construction Drawings (as the same may have been revised with the written approval of the LAHD General Manager or designee pursuant to Section 6.3 of this Agreement), and (if applicable) upon Developer's obtaining a certificate of occupancy or

temporary certificate of occupancy from the City, the City shall deliver to Developer a Certificate of Completion.

- b. The City shall not unreasonably withhold a Certificate of Completion but shall not be obligated to issue such Certificate until construction of the Improvements has been completed in accordance with all the terms of this Agreement. Such Certificate of Completion shall be, and shall so state, conclusive determination of satisfactory Completion of the Improvements meeting the requirements of Article 5 and Sections 6.1 through 6.3, inclusive, of this Agreement. In the event any requirements of this Agreement relating to the construction of the Improvements, including, but not limited to any requirements of this Article 6, have not been fully satisfied by Developer as of the date of Developer's request for a Certificate of Completion, the LAHD General Manager or designee may deny Developer's request for a Certificate of Completion or issue the Certificate of Completion subject to such conditions subsequent as the LAHD General Manager or designee may deem necessary to ensure full satisfaction with all the requirements of this Agreement.
- The Certificate of Completion shall be in such form as to permit it to be recorded in the Office of the Recorder of Los Angeles County. If the City fails to deliver the Certificate of Completion within ten (10) Business Days after written request from Developer, LAHD shall provide Developer with a written statement of its reasons (the "Statement of Reasons") within that ten (10)-Business Day period. The statement shall also set forth the actions Developer must take to be entitled to obtain the Certificate of Completion. If the reasons are confined to the immediate unavailability of specific items or materials for landscaping, or to so-called "punch list" items identified by LAHD, LAHD shall issue the Certificate of Completion upon the delivery of a bond or letter of credit by Developer with the City in an amount representing the City's estimate of the cost to complete the work, or other security deemed sufficient by LAHD's General Manager or designee to ensure completion of the work. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, the failure by the City to issue a Certificate of Completion within any period of time after request by Developer shall not be deemed to constitute the City's concurrence that construction of the Improvements has been completed as required by this Agreement.
- d. Such Certificate of Completion shall not constitute evidence of compliance with or satisfaction of any obligation of Developer to any Senior Lender, or any insurer of a mortgage securing money loaned to finance the Improvements, or any other person or entity. Such Certificate of Completion is not notice of completion as referred to in Section 3093 of the California Civil Code. Such Certificate of Completion shall not be deemed to constitute completion or satisfaction of any obligations of the Developer under the City Development Documents, except those set forth in Article 5 and Sections 6.1 through 6.3 of this Agreement.

e. As a condition of issuance of the Certificate of Completion, Developer's Certified Access Specialist ("CASP") shall certify that the Project has been constructed in compliance with all applicable disabled access requirements as of the date of the Project's completion (when the last certificate of occupancy is issued by the City).

6.5 Compliance with Applicable Law and City Policies.

The Developer shall cause all work related to construction of the Improvements to be performed in compliance with: (a) all applicable laws, ordinances, rules and regulations of federal, state, county or municipal governments or agencies now in force or that may be enacted hereafter, (including, without limitation, the prevailing wage provisions of Sections 1770 et seq. of the California Labor Code); (b) all applicable directives, rules and regulations of any fire marshal, health officer, building inspector, or other officer of every governmental agency now having or hereafter acquiring jurisdiction; (c) all applicable disabled access requirements; and (d) all applicable City policies that are effective as of the Effective Date of this Agreement, provided the Parties may make lateradopted City policies applicable to the Project by their mutual approval of an amendment to this Agreement specifically incorporating such policies. The work shall proceed only after procurement of each permit, license, or other authorization that may be required by any governmental agency having jurisdiction, and the Developer shall be responsible for the procurement and maintenance of such documents required of Developer and of all entities engaged in Project work at the Site.

6.6 Relocation.

If and to the extent disposition of the leasehold interest in the Site or any aspect of development or operation of the Project results in the permanent or temporary displacement of any occupants of the Site, the following shall apply: (1) Developer shall comply with all applicable local, state and federal statutes and regulations with respect to relocation planning, advisory assistance and payment of monetary benefits (collectively referred to as the "Relocation Laws"); and (2) Developer shall be solely responsible for payment of any relocation benefits (if any) to any displaced persons and any other obligations (if any) associated with complying with the Relocation Laws, including, but not limited to, moving assistance, rent vouchers and the cost of a relocation consultant selected by the City. If the Developer is determined by a court of competent jurisdiction or any government agency to be in violation of any Relocation Laws as described in this section, the City may, in its sole discretion, declare Developer to be a "non-responsible Contractor" pursuant to the City's Policy on Contractor Responsibility (Exhibit 1 of Part II of Exhibits), and ineligible to apply for any future City contracts or financial assistance. Developer also hereby agrees to indemnify, defend and hold the City harmless from any and against any and all claims and liabilities arising directly or indirectly as a result of or in connection with the breach of Developer's obligations set forth in this Section 6.6. This indemnity obligation shall survive the issuance of a Certificate of Completion by the City, repayment of the City Rent and lease related debts pursuant to

this Agreement, Ground Lease, and City Development Documents, reconveyance of the City Leasehold Deed of Trust, if any, Regulatory Agreement, and Notice of Affordability Restrictions and the termination of this Agreement.

b. If applicable, Developer shall submit the Relocation Plan to the City for review and approval, and Developer hereby acknowledges that City has approved a Relocation Plan for the Site (the "Relocation Plan"). Developer agrees to perform all of the obligations to be performed by Developer and comply with the terms and conditions of the Relocation Plan.

6.7 Construction Signs.

Prior to the commencement of construction, the Developer shall prepare and post on the Site construction signs in accordance with the City's sign standards. The construction signs shall identify the Project as one that is being assisted by the City and shall recognize, at a minimum, the Mayor of the City of Los Angeles, the City Council Member for the Council District in which the Project is located, and the LAHD General Manager. The construction signs shall be erected on the Site such that they are reasonably visible to the public throughout the construction period.

6.8 Publicity.

Any publicity generated by Developer for the Project shall make reference to the contribution of LAHD in making the Project possible. The words "Los Angeles Housing Department of the City of Los Angeles (LAHD)" shall be prominently displayed in any and all pieces of publicity, including but not limited to flyers, press releases, posters, signs, brochures, public service announcements, interviews and newspaper articles. Developer further agrees to cooperate with authorized staff and officials of LAHD in any LAHD-generated publicity or promotional activities undertaken for the Project.

6.9 Progress Reports.

Until a Certificate of Completion has been issued by the City, the Developer shall: (a) provide LAHD with periodic progress reports on the Project's construction status; and (b) attend status conferences relating to construction and/or compliance with City policies and City ordinances and the conditions of this Agreement. Such conferences shall occur as reasonably requested by the City, but not more often than monthly.

6.10 Entry onto the Site by the City.

Until a Certificate of Completion has been issued by the City, the Developer shall permit the City Representatives to enter the Site at all reasonable times and upon reasonable notice to: (a) inspect the construction work and determine if it conforms with

the Scope of Development, the approved Final Construction Drawings and the Project Budget; or (b) inspect the Site for compliance with this Agreement. Except in the event of inspections regarding safety or compliance with City policies and City ordinances, reasonable notice shall mean at least 48 hours written notice. The City shall be under no obligation to (aa) supervise construction, (bb) inspect the Site or (cc) inform the Developer of information obtained by the City during any inspection. The Developer shall not rely upon the City for any supervision or inspection. The rights granted to the City pursuant to this section are in addition to any rights of entry and inspection the City may have in exercising its municipal regulatory authority.

6.11 Mechanics' Liens.

Developer shall promptly pay when due all amounts payable for labor and materials furnished in the performance of the Project so as to prevent any lien or other claim under any provision of law from arising against the City or the Site (including reports, documents, and other tangible or intangible matter produced by Developer related to the Project), against Developer's rights to payments hereunder, or against the City, and shall pay all amounts due under the Unemployment Insurance Act with respect to such labor.

The Developer shall indemnify the City and hold the City harmless against and defend the City in any proceeding related to any mechanic's lien, stop notice or other claim brought by a subcontractor, laborer or material supplier who alleges having supplied labor or materials in the course of the construction of the Project by the Developer. This indemnity obligation shall survive the issuance of a Certificate of Completion by the City, repayment of City Rent, termination of Regulatory Agreement, withdrawal of Notice of Affordability Restrictions and the termination of this Agreement.

6.12 Non-Discrimination During Construction; Equal Opportunity.

The Developer, for itself, its successors and assigns, and transferees agrees that in the construction of the Project provided for in this Agreement:

a. The Developer shall not discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment because of race, color, religion, creed, national origin, ancestry, disability, actual and perceived, medical condition, age, marital status, transgender status, sex, sexual orientation, Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndrome (AIDS), actual or perceived, or retaliation for having filed a discrimination complaint or any additional basis listed in subdivision (a) or (d) of Section 12955 of the Government Code, as those bases are defined in Sections 12926, 12926.1, subdivision (m) and paragraph (1) of subdivision (p) of Section 12955 and Section 12955.2 of the Government Code, as such provisions may be amended from time to time (collectively, the "Nondiscrimination Factors"). The Developer shall take affirmative steps to ensure that applicants are employed by the Developer, and that its employees are treated without regard to the Nondiscrimination Factors during employment including, but not limited to, activities of: upgrading, demotion

or transfer; recruitment or recruitment advertising, layoff or termination; rates of pay or other forms of compensation; and selection for training, including apprenticeship. The Developer agrees to post in conspicuous places, available to its employees and applicants for employment, the applicable nondiscrimination clause set forth herein.

- b. The Developer shall comply with the applicable nondiscrimination and affirmative action provisions of the laws of the United States of America, the State of California, and the City. In performing this Agreement, the Developer shall not discriminate in its employment practices, including compensation, against any employee, or applicant for employment because of such person's race, religion, national origin, ancestry, sex, sexual orientation, gender identification, transgender status, sex stereotypes, age, physical handicap, mental disability, medical condition, marital status, domestic partner status, pregnancy, childbirth and related medical conditions, familial status, acquired immune deficiency syndrome (AIDS), acquired or perceived citizenship, political affiliation or belief. The Developer shall comply with Executive Order 11246, entitled "Equal Employment Opportunity", as amended by Executive Order 11375, 11478, 12086, and 12107 and as supplemented in the Department of Labor regulations (41 CFR Part 60).
- Unless otherwise exempt, this Agreement is subject to the nondiscrimination provisions in Section 10.8 through 10.8.2 of the Los Angeles Administrative Code as amended from time to time. The Developer shall and shall cause all contractors and subcontractors to comply with the applicable non-discrimination and affirmative action provisions of the laws of the United States of America, the State of California, and the City. In performing this Agreement, Developer, its contractors and/or subcontractors shall not discriminate in its employment practices, including compensation, against any employee or applicant for employment because of such person's race, religion, national origin, ancestry, sex, sexual orientation, gender identification, transgender status, sex stereotypes, age, physical handicap, mental disability, medical condition, domestic partner status, marital status, pregnancy, childbirth and related medical conditions, citizenship and political affiliation or belief. The Developer shall also comply with all rules, regulations, and policies of the City's Board of Public Works, Office of Contract Compliance relating to nondiscrimination and affirmative action, including the filing of all forms required by City. Any contract or subcontract entered into by Developer to the extent allowed hereunder, shall include a like provision for work to be performed under this Agreement.

Failure of the Developer to comply with this requirement or to obtain the compliance of its contractors or subcontractors with such obligations shall subject the Developer to the imposition of any and all sanctions allowed by law, including but not limited to termination of the Developer's contract with the City.

- d. The Developer shall ensure that its solicitations or advertisements for employment are in compliance with the aforementioned Nondiscrimination Factors; and
- e. The Developer shall insert the foregoing provisions in all contracts for the construction of the Project entered into by the Developer after the Effective Date of this Agreement and ensure that its General Contractor shall insert the foregoing provisions in the General Contractor's subcontracts; provided, however, that the foregoing provisions shall not apply to contracts or subcontracts for standard commercial supplies or raw materials.
- f. For purposes of this Section 6.12, the term "Developer" shall mean and include the Developer and the Developer's General Contractor and subcontractors of any tier engaged by Developer in the construction of the Project.
 - 6.13 <u>Affirmative Outreach in Contracting Procedures and Employment, Including Utilization of Project Area, Minority, Women and Other Businesses and Persons.</u>
- a. <u>Use of Disadvantaged and Local Businesses</u>. The parties hereby acknowledge that California Health and Safety Code Section 33422.1 provides: "To the greatest extent feasible, contracts for work to be performed in connection with any redevelopment project shall be awarded to business concerns which are located in, or owned in the substantial part by persons residing in, the project area." Therefore, in consideration of the assistance provided to the Project by the City, Developer hereby agrees:
 - (i) To the greatest extent feasible, Developer shall seek out and award and require the award of contracts and subcontracts for development of the Site to contracting firms which are located or owned in substantial part by persons residing in the Redevelopment Project Area, and to promote outreach to minority-owned, women-owned and other businesses. This requirement applies to both the construction and operation of the Improvements.
 - (ii) This paragraph shall require significant efforts of the Developer and its contractors but shall not require the hiring of any person unless such person has the experience and ability, and, where necessary, the appropriate trade union affiliation, to qualify such person for the job.
- b. <u>Employment of Project Area Residents</u>. The Parties hereby acknowledge that California Health and Safety Code Section 33422.3 provides: "To insure training and employment opportunities for lower-income project area residents, the

agency may specify in the call for bids for any contract over one hundred thousand dollars (\$100,000) for work to be performed in connection with any redevelopment project that project area residents, if available, shall be employed for a specified percentage of each craft or type of workmen needed to execute the contract or work." Therefore, in consideration of the assistance provided to the Project by the City, Developer agrees as follows:

- (i) Developer shall in all general contracts for the construction of the Improvements (and its contractors shall in all subcontracts thereunder), require that to the greatest extent feasible, the labor force in all categories be comprised of residents of the Redevelopment Project Area; and
- (ii) Developer and its contractors shall be subject to and shall comply with the terms of the Standard City Contracting Requirements, with all amendments thereto. Developer hereby agrees to the terms of these requirements and shall ensure that its General Contractor agrees to these terms.
- c. <u>Community Outreach Plan.</u> Developer acknowledges that it is the policy of the City to promote the economic advancement of minorities and women as well as other economically disadvantaged persons through employment and the award of contracts and subcontracts in redevelopment project areas, and to provide Minority-owned Business Enterprises ("MBE"), Women-owned Business Enterprises ("WBE") and all other business enterprises ("OBE") with an equal opportunity to compete for and participate in the performance of City-assisted contracts. To carry out such policy, Developer agrees to comply with this Section 6.13.c. as follows:
 - Submission of Plan: By the date set forth in the Schedule of Performance, the Developer and Developer's development team (including at a minimum, the General Contractor and Project Architect) shall meet with the City's Office of Audits and Compliance to hold a preconstruction meeting, to establish Project procedures, determine progress towards preliminary construction requirements, review City and other governmental policies and requirements and delineate the roles and responsibilities of Project participants. During the preconstruction meeting, the Developer shall be provided with the policies and procedures of the City regarding prevailing wage requirements and MBE, WBE and OBE outreach efforts, including the development of a community outreach plan (containing the items described in paragraph c.(2), below). At the preconstruction meeting, LAHD shall provide to the Developer samples of community outreach plans which have been approved by the City. Prior to commencing construction, the Developer shall submit to the LAHD General Manager or his/her designee, for approval or disapproval, a community outreach plan for the Project (the "Community Outreach Plan"), as part of the Community

Benefits Plan for the Project. The Community Outreach Plan shall set forth the methods the Developer shall use to comply with this Section 6.13. Upon receipt of the Community Outreach Plan, the City shall, within twenty (20) Business Days, approve or disapprove the Community Outreach Plan, or provide to the Developer a statement of actions required to be taken in order for the Community Outreach Plan to be approved. If the City fails to respond within such twenty (20) Business Day period, the Community Outreach Plan shall be deemed disapproved by the City. The Developer shall not commence construction unless the Community Outreach Plan has been approved by the City.

- (i) <u>Contents of the Community Outreach Plan</u>: The Community Outreach Plan shall include, at a minimum:
- (1) Estimated total dollar amount (by trade) of all contracts and subcontracts to be let by the Developer or its General Contractor for the Improvements;
- (2) List of all proposed contractors to be awarded a contract by the Developer or the General Contractor;
 - (3) Estimated dollar value of all proposed contracts;
- (4) Evidence of Minority and Women Business Enterprise ("M/WBE") Certification of all firms listed as an MBE or WBE in the Community Outreach Plan. Firms purporting to be M/WBE do not require M/WBE Certification if their contract amount is less than Twenty Five Thousand Dollars (\$25,000). Any firm for which the contract amount exceeds Twenty Five Thousand Dollars (\$25,000) and which is not certified by the City of Los Angeles may not be considered an MBE or WBE for purposes of this Agreement;
- (5) Developer agrees and shall cause any contractors and subcontractors for the Project to agree and obligate itself to utilize the services of Minority, Women and Other Business Enterprise firms on a level so designated in its proposal, if any. Developer certifies and shall cause any contractors and subcontractors to certify that it has complied with Mayoral Directive 2001-26 regarding contracts greater than \$100,000 (One Hundred Thousand Dollars), if applicable. Developer shall not change any of these designated contractors or subcontractors, nor shall Developer reduce their level of effort, without prior written approval of the City.
- (6) Description of the actions to be taken to meet the project area resident and business utilization objectives; and

- (7) Such other information and documentation with respect to the foregoing objectives as the City may reasonably deem necessary.
- d. <u>General Information</u>. During the construction of the Improvements, the Developer shall provide to the City such information and documentation as reasonably requested by the City to carry out this Section 6.13. The Developer shall monitor and enforce the affirmative outreach and equal opportunity requirements set forth in this Agreement. In the event the Developer fails to monitor or enforce these requirements, the City may declare the Developer in default of this Agreement (subject to the notice and cure rights provided in this Agreement) and thereafter pursue any of the remedies available under this Agreement.

6.14 Cost of Development.

Developer shall bear all costs and expenses incurred in connection with the construction and maintenance of all Improvements, including, without limitation, all costs incurred in connection with the investigation, leasehold interest conveyance and preparation of the Site for development, all off-site improvements, building and Developer fees, and all costs of investigation, leasehold interest conveyance and/or preparation of any Project Documents or other submissions made by Developer pursuant to this Agreement. Developer shall pay when due, and shall cause its General Contractor to pay when due, all valid invoices for materials, equipment, labor and services incurred in connection with the development of the Project.

6.15 Prevailing Wages.

a. The Developer shall pay or cause to be paid to all workers employed in connection with the development of the Improvements, not less than the prevailing rates of wages, as provided in the statutes applicable to City public work contracts, including without limitation Sections 33423-33426 of the California Health and Safety Code and Sections 1770-1781 of the California Labor Code. Copies of the currently applicable per diem prevailing wages are available from the LAHD at 1200 West 7th Street, 8th Floor, Los Angeles California 90017. During the construction of the improvements, Developer shall or shall cause the contractor to post at the Property the applicable prevailing rates of per diem wages. The Developer shall and shall cause the contractors and subcontractors to submit data and documents related to prevailing wage by using the LCP Tracker or comparable LAHD-approved program. The fee for the LCP Tracker, or comparable LAHD-approved program, will be in the amount equal to Three Hundredth Percent (0.03%) of the total construction cost to be paid in full within 30 days from the execution of this Agreement.

- b. If the construction work covered under this Agreement is financed in whole or in part with assistance provided under a program of the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development or some other source of federal funding, the Developer shall comply with or cause its General Contractor and all subcontractors to comply with the requirements of the Davis-Bacon Act (40 U.S.C. 276 et. seq.). The Davis-Bacon Act requires the payment of wages to all laborers and mechanics at a rate not less than the minimum wage specified by the Secretary of Labor in periodic wage rate determinations as described in the Federal Labor Standards Provisions (HUD-4010). In the event both State Prevailing wages and Davis-Bacon Act wages shall be required, all works shall be paid at the higher of the two wage rates.
- c. Prior to the commencement of construction, and as soon as practicable in accordance with the Schedule of Performance, the Developer shall contact the City to schedule a preconstruction orientation meeting with the Developer and with the General Contractor to explain such matters as the specific rates of wages to be paid to workers in connection with the development of the Improvements, preconstruction conference requirements, record keeping and reporting requirements necessary for the evaluation of the Developer's compliance with this Section 6.15.
- d. Developer shall monitor and enforce the prevailing wage requirements imposed on its contractors and subcontractors, including withholding payments to those contractors or subcontractors who violate these requirements. In the event that Developer fails to monitor or enforce these requirements against any contractor or subcontractor, Developer shall be liable for the full amount of any underpayment of wages, plus costs and attorneys' fees, as if Developer was the actual employer, and the City or the State Department of Industrial Relations may withhold monies owed to the Developer, may impose penalties on Developer in the amounts specified herein, may take action directly against the contractor or subcontractor as permitted by law, and/or may declare the Developer in default of this Agreement (subject to the notice and cure rights provided in this Agreement) and thereafter pursue any of the remedies available under this Agreement.
- e. Any contractor or subcontractor who is at the time of bidding debarred by the Labor Commissioner pursuant to Section 1777.1 of the California Labor Code is ineligible to bid on the construction of the Improvements or to receive any contract or subcontract for work covered under this Agreement. The Developer agrees to include, or cause to be included, this paragraph (e) in all bid specifications for work covered under this Agreement.
- f. Any contractor or subcontractor who, at the time of the date of this Agreement, is listed in the Lists of Parties Excluded From Federal Procurement or Nonprocurement Programs issued by the U.S. General Services Administration pursuant to Section 3(a) of the Davis-Bacon Act is ineligible to receive a contract for work covered under this Agreement, if the covered work is Federally funded in whole or in part.

- g. Any contractor or subcontractor that is at the time of bidding debarred or declared non-responsible under the City's Contractor Responsibility Ordinance is ineligible to bid on the construction of the Improvements or to receive any contract or subcontract for work covered under this Agreement. Developer agrees to include, or cause to be included, this paragraph (g) in all bid specifications for work covered under this Agreement.
- h. Developer agrees to include, or cause to be included, the above provisions in all bid specifications for work covered under this Agreement.
- i. Developer shall indemnify, hold harmless and defend (with counsel reasonably acceptable to the City) the City against any claim for damages, compensation, fines, penalties or other amounts arising out of the failure or alleged failure of any person or entity (including Developer, its contractor and subcontractors) to pay prevailing wages as determined pursuant to Labor Code Sections 1720 et seq. and implementing regulation or comply with the other applicable provisions of Labor Code Sections 1720 et seq. and implementing regulations of the Department of Industrial Relations in connection with construction of the improvements or any other work undertaken or in connection with the Site. This indemnity obligation shall survive the issuance of a Certificate of Completion by the City, repayment of the City Rent and any debts to the City pursuant to this Agreement, Ground Lease, and City Development Documents, reconveyance of the City Leasehold Deed of Trust, if any, Regulatory Agreement, and Notice of Affordability Restrictions and the termination of this Agreement.
- j. For purposes of this Section 6.15, the terms "contractor" and "subcontractor" shall have the meaning set forth in the City Prevailing Wage Policy.

ARTICLE 7. USE OF THE SITE AND DEVELOPER OBLIGATIONS DURING AND AFTER CONSTRUCTION

7.1 Uses.

Developer covenants and agrees for itself, its successors, its assigns and every successor in interest to the Site or any part thereof, that Developer, such successors and such assignees shall use the Site only for the uses specified in the Redevelopment Plan, this Agreement (including the Scope of Development), and the Regulatory Agreement. No change in the use of the Site shall be permitted without the prior written approval of the City.

7.2 Affordability.

The Developer hereby agrees that, for the term of the Regulatory Agreement, the Affordable Units within the Improvements shall be used only for residential uses

consistent with the Regulatory Agreement. All of the housing units in the Project (other than the resident manager's unit) shall be made available and rented exclusively to Eligible Households in the income categories and at rents that do not exceed the respective affordability levels set forth in the Regulatory Agreement. In the event the Project contains both Affordable Units and dwelling units that are unrestricted as to rents and incomes, the Affordable Units shall to the maximum extent feasible be comparable to unrestricted units with the same number of rooms, in terms of size, location and amenities.

7.3 Allowable Rent.

For the term of the Regulatory Agreement, Developer shall not charge rent for an Affordable Unit that exceeds the applicable Affordable Rent for the income level of a Household that is eligible to rent that Affordable Unit (i.e., rent for a Moderate Income Unit shall not exceed a Moderate Income Rent, etc.), as set forth more specifically in the Regulatory Agreement.

7.4 Maintenance of the Site.

At all times after the Close of Escrow and prior to the completion of construction, Developer shall secure and maintain the Site or cause the Site to be secured and maintained in a safe, neat and orderly condition to the extent practicable and in accordance with industry health and safety standards for construction sites. Upon and at all times after completion of construction, the Project shall be well maintained as to both external and internal appearance of all buildings, landscaping, common areas, and parking areas, conforming to the best practices of operators of comparable City-assisted affordable housing, and the requirements set forth in the Regulatory Agreement, if any, for the term of that agreement.

7.5 Management Requirements.

a. <u>Operations and Maintenance</u>. For the term of the Regulatory Agreement, Developer shall operate and maintain the Project in accordance with all applicable federal, state and local laws and rules, in conformance with the best practices of operators of comparable City-assisted affordable housing and the management requirements set forth in the Regulatory Agreement, and provide for the operation of the Project in a manner satisfactory to the City pursuant to the Management Plan (defined in the Regulatory Agreement). Not later than the time specified in the Schedule of Performance, the Developer shall submit to the LAHD General Manager or designee for written approval, a Management Plan for the Project. The Developer shall submit the Management Plan and all necessary supporting information in such time to permit the LAHD General Manager or designee to approve, disapprove or comment on the Management Plan twenty (20) Business Days prior to the completion of construction. The Management Plan, including such amendments as may be approved by the LAHD

General Manager or designee, shall remain in effect for the term of the Ground Lease or the term of the Regulatory Agreement, whichever is longer.

b. <u>Just Cause Evictions</u>. Developer shall include the following provision in all Developer leases and rental agreements for the Project:

"Owner may not terminate the tenancy or refuse to renew this lease or rental agreement except for good cause. The term "good cause" shall mean a serious or repeated violation of the material terms and conditions of the lease, or a violation of applicable federal, state or local law. To terminate the tenancy or refuse to renew the lease, Owner must provide written notice to the Developer of the grounds with sufficient specificity to enable to the Developer to prepare a defense. The notice must be served at least three Business Days before the termination of tenancy, and must comply with all requirements of California law and other applicable programs. Developer has the right to enforce this requirement in state court, including presenting a defense to any eviction action brought by Owner."

7.6 Obligation to Refrain from Discrimination.

- a. Developer covenants and agrees for itself, its successors and its assigns in interest to the Site or any part thereof, that there shall be no discrimination against or segregation of any person or persons on any basis listed in subdivision (a) or (d) of Section 12955 of the Government Code, as those bases are defined in Sections 12926, 12926.1, subdivision (m) and paragraph (1) of subdivision (p) of Section 12955, and Section 12955.2 of the Government Code. All deeds, leases, or contracts for the sale, lease, sublease, or other transfer of the Site shall contain or be subject to the nondiscrimination or non-segregation clauses hereafter prescribed.
- b. Notwithstanding subdivision (a), with respect to familial status, subdivision (a) shall not be construed to apply to housing for older persons, as defined in Section 12955.9 of the Government Code. With respect to familial status, nothing in subdivision (a) shall be construed to affect Sections 51.2, 51.3, 51.4, 51.10, 51.11, and 799.5 of the Civil Code, relating to housing for senior citizens. Subdivision (d) of Section 51 and Section 1360 of the Civil Code and subdivisions (n), (o), and (p) of Section 12955 of the Government Code shall apply to subdivision (a).

7.7 Form of Nondiscrimination and Nonsegregation Clauses.

Developer shall refrain from restricting the rental, sale or lease of the Site as provided in Section 7.6, above. All deeds, leases or contracts for the sale, lease, sublease, or other transfer of the Site entered into after the date on which this Agreement is executed by the City shall contain or be subject to substantially the following nondiscrimination or non-segregation clauses:

- a. (1) In deeds the following language shall appear--"The grantee herein covenants by and for himself or herself, his or her heirs, executors, administrators, and assigns, and all persons claiming under or through them, that there shall be no discrimination against or segregation of, any person or group of persons on account of any basis listed in subdivision (a) or (d) of Section 12955 of the Government Code, as those bases are defined in Sections 12926, 12926.1, subdivision (m) and paragraph (1) of subdivision (p) of Section 12955, and Section 12955.2 of the Government Code, in the sale, lease, sublease, transfer, use, occupancy, tenure, or enjoyment of the Site herein conveyed, nor shall the grantee or any person claiming under or through him or her, establish or permit any practice or practices of discrimination or segregation with reference to the selection, location, number, use or occupancy of Developers, lessees, sub Developers, sub-lessees, or vendees in the Site herein conveyed. The foregoing covenants shall run with the land."
- (2) Notwithstanding paragraph (1), with respect to familial status, paragraph (1) shall not be construed to apply to housing for older persons, as defined in Section 12955.9 of the Government Code. With respect to familial status, nothing in paragraph (1) shall be construed to affect Sections 51.2, 51.3, 51.4, 51.10, 51.11, and 799.5 of the Civil Code, relating to housing for senior citizens. Subdivision (d) of Section 51 and Section 1360 of the Civil Code and subdivisions (n), (o), and (p) of Section 12955 of the Government Code shall apply to paragraph (1).
- b. (1) In leases the following language shall appear--"The lessee herein covenants by and for himself or herself, his or her heirs, executors, administrators, and assigns, and all persons claiming under or through him or her, and this lease is made and accepted upon and subject to the following conditions: That there shall be no discrimination against or segregation of any person or group of persons, on account of any basis listed in subdivision (a) or (d) of Section 12955 of the Government Code, as those bases are defined in Sections 12926, 12926.1, subdivision (m) and paragraph (1) of subdivision (p) of Section 12955, and Section 12955.2 of the Government Code, in the leasing, subleasing, transferring, use, occupancy, tenure, or enjoyment of the Site herein leased nor shall the lessee himself or herself, or any person claiming under or through him or her, establish or permit any such practice or practices of discrimination or segregation with reference to the selection, location, number, use, or occupancy, of Developers, lessees, sub-lessees, sub Developers, or vendees in the Site herein leased."
- (2) Notwithstanding paragraph (1), with respect to familial status, paragraph (1) shall not be construed to apply to housing for older persons, as defined in Section 12955.9 of the Government Code. With respect to familial status, nothing in paragraph (1) shall be construed to affect Sections 51.2, 51.3, 51.4, 51.10, 51.11, and 799.5 of the Civil Code, relating to housing for senior citizens. Subdivision (d) of Section 51 and Section 1360 of the Civil Code and subdivisions (n), (o), and (p) of Section 12955 of the Government Code shall apply to paragraph (1).

c. In contracts entered into by the City relating to the sale, transfer, or leasing of land or any interest therein acquired by the City within any survey area or redevelopment project the foregoing provisions in substantially the forms set forth shall be included and the contracts shall further provide that the foregoing provisions shall be binding upon and shall obligate the contracting party or parties and any subcontracting party or parties, or other transferees under the instrument.

7.8 Barriers to the Disabled.

- a. <u>Compliance with all Accessibility Requirements</u>. Developer shall comply with all applicable requirements of state, local and federal rules, laws and regulations relating to accessibility and reasonable accommodations for persons with disabilities, including, without limitation, the following to the extent any are applicable to the Project: Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 (29 U.S.C. Section 794 and implementing regulations at 24 CFR Part 8); the Americans with Disabilities Act (42 U.S.C. Sections 12131 *et seq.* and 12181 *et seq.*, and implementing regulations at 28 CFR Parts 35 and 36); the Fair Housing Act (42 U.S.C. Section 3601 *et seq.*, and implementing regulations at 24 CFR Part 100); the Fair Employment and Housing Act (California Government Code Section 12926); and Title 24 of the California Building Code. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing,
 - (i) residential and nonresidential projects that involve new construction or rehabilitation of existing buildings and that are financed in whole or in part with federal funds (e.g. CDBG, HOME) shall comply with all applicable requirements of Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 and all other applicable requirements;
 - (ii) projects that receive City or other nonfederal sources of funding shall comply with all applicable requirements of the Americans with Disabilities Act, the Fair Housing Act, the Fair Employment and Housing Act, Title 24 of the California Building Code, and all other applicable requirements;
- (iii) commercial structures, and common areas and public use areas in residential projects, shall comply with all applicable requirements of the Americans with Disabilities Act, Title 24 of the California Building Code and all other applicable requirements.

Developer shall ensure that construction plans submitted for review by the City comply with all applicable requirements of law and that Project construction is carried out in conformity with approved plans.

b. <u>ADA Certification</u>. Developer hereby certifies as follows:

- (i) Developer is in compliance with and shall continue to comply with the Americans with Disabilities Act, 42 U.S.C. 12101 <u>et seq.</u> and its implementing regulations.
- (ii) Developer shall provide for reasonable accommodations to allow qualified individuals with disabilities to have access to and participate in its programs, services and activities in accordance with the provisions of the Americans with Disabilities Act.
- (iii) Developer shall not discriminate against persons with disabilities nor against persons due to their relationship or association with a person with a disability.
- (iv) Developer shall require that the language of this Section 7.8 be included in the award documents for all sub-awards at all tiers (including subcontracts, and contracts under grants, loans and cooperative agreements) and that all subcontractors shall certify and disclose accordingly.
- (v) The certification set forth in this Section is a material representation of fact upon which reliance was placed when the Parties entered into this transaction.

7.9 Effect and Duration of Covenants.

The covenants established in this Agreement shall run with the land, without regard to technical classification and designation, and shall be for the benefit and in favor of and enforceable against the original Developer and successors in interest by the City. The covenants described in this Article 7 shall commence upon execution of this Agreement, shall be set forth in the Regulatory Agreement and shall remain in effect for the respective periods specified therein.

7.10 Regulatory Agreement.

Prior to the Close of Escrow and execution of the Ground Lease, Developer and City shall execute the Regulatory Agreement and the Notice of Affordability Restrictions, which shall be recorded against the Site upon the Close of Escrow. The Regulatory Agreement shall have a term of not less than 55 years from the Certificate of Occupancy (COO).

7.11 Monitoring.

- a. The parties acknowledge that this Agreement is subject to the provisions of Section 33418(a) of the California Health and Safety Code, which provides in pertinent part:
 - "An Agency shall monitor, on an ongoing basis, any housing affordable to persons and families of low or moderate income developed or otherwise made available pursuant to any provisions of this part. As part of this monitoring, an Agency shall require owners or managers of the housing to submit an annual report to the Agency. The annual reports shall include for each rental unit the rental rate and the income and family size of the occupants... The income information required by this section shall be supplied by the Developer in a certified statement of a form provided by the Agency."
- b. Developer, on behalf of itself, its successors and assigns, covenants and agrees to submit an annual report to LAHD containing, for each Affordable Unit, the rental rate and the income and family size of the occupants. LAHD shall provide the format to be used.

7.12 Indemnity.

- Developer shall indemnify, defend (with counsel approved by the City) and hold harmless the City, and their respective elected and appointed officers, officials, employees, agents, consultants, and contractors (collectively, the "Indemnitees") from and against any and all liabilities, losses, costs, expenses (including without limitation attorneys' fees and costs of litigation), claims, demands, actions, suits, causes of action, writs, judicial or administrative proceedings, penalties, deficiencies, fines, orders, judgments and damages (all of the foregoing collectively "Claims") which in any manner, directly or indirectly, in whole or in part, are caused by, arise in connection with, result from, relate to, or are alleged to be caused by, arise in connection with, result from, or relate to: (i) approval of this Agreement and/or the Improvements; (ii) performance of this Agreement on the part of the Developer or any contractor or subcontractor of Developer; and/or (iii) the rehabilitation, operation, maintenance or management of the Improvements, whether or not any insurance policies shall have been determined to be applicable to any such Claims. It is further agreed that the City does not and shall not waive any rights against Developer which it may have by reason of this indemnity and hold harmless agreement because of the acceptance by the City, or Developer's deposit with the City of any of the insurance policies described in this Agreement.
- b. Developer shall pay immediately upon the Indemnitees' demand any amounts owing under this indemnity. The duty of Developer to indemnify includes the duty to defend the Indemnitees or, at the Indemnitees' choosing, to pay the Indemnitees' costs of its defense in any court action, administrative action, or other proceeding brought by any third party arising from the Improvements or the Site. The Indemnitees may make

all reasonable decisions with respect to their representation in any legal proceeding, including, but not limited to, the selection of attorney(s). Developer's obligations set forth in this Section shall survive the issuance of the Certificate of Completion by the City, repayment of the City Rent and any debts to the City pursuant to this Agreement, Ground Lease, and City Development Documents, reconveyance of the City Leasehold Deed of Trust, if any, Regulatory Agreement, and Notice of Affordability Restrictions and the termination of this Agreement. Developer's indemnification obligations set forth in this Section 7.12 shall not apply to Claims arising solely from the gross negligence or willful misconduct of the Indemnitees.

7.13 <u>Insurance Coverage</u>.

Developer shall furnish or cause to be furnished to the City duplicate originals or certified copies of the insurance policies, complete with additional insured and loss payee endorsements, as applicable pursuant to this Agreement. Developer shall maintain and keep in full force and effect the following policies of insurance, issued by companies approved and regulated by the State Department of Insurance, commencing upon the execution of this Agreement or Developer taking leasehold title to the Site, whichever occurs later, including:

- Developer and Developer's contractors and sub-contractors hired to perform work on the Site shall maintain Commercial General Liability insurance, to protect against Claims due to bodily injury, including death therefrom, suffered or alleged to be suffered by any person or persons whomsoever on or about the Site and the Improvements, or in connection with the operation thereof, resulting directly or indirectly from any acts or activities of the City or Developer or any person acting for the City or Developer, or under their respective control or direction, and also to protect against Claims due to damage to any property of any person occurring on or about the Site and the Improvements, or in connection with the operation thereof, caused directly or indirectly by or from acts or activities of the City or Developer, its contractor(s) or subcontractor(s) or its Developers or any person acting for the City or Developer, or under their respective control or direction. Such property damage and bodily injury insurance shall also provide for and protect the City against incurring any legal cost in defending claims for alleged loss. Such bodily injury and property damage insurance shall name the Indemnitees as additional insureds. Such bodily injury and property damage insurance shall be in minimum limits of One-Million Dollars (\$1,000,000.00) per occurrence with a Five Million Dollars (\$5,000,000.00) aggregate; provided, however, the limitation on the amount of insurance shall not limit the responsibility of the Developer to indemnify the Indemnitees or to pay damages for injury to persons or property resulting from Developer's activities or the activities of any other person or persons for which Developer is otherwise responsible.
- b. During construction and until a Certificate of Occupancy for the completed development has been issued by the City, Developer shall carry Builder's Risk

coverage for the Improvements. After completion of construction, Developer shall maintain property insurance in an amount not less than the full insurable value of the Improvements with extended coverage including fire, windstorm, flood, vandalism, malicious mischief, earthquake (if commercially available at reasonable rates or as otherwise required), boiler and machinery if applicable, and other such perils customarily covered by an "All Risk" policy. Such policy shall include a loss payable endorsement naming the "City of Los Angeles" as loss payees. The term "full insurable value" as used above shall mean the actual replacement cost (excluding the cost of excavation, foundation and footings below the lowest floor and without deduction for depreciation) of the Improvements immediately before such casualty or other loss, including the cost of rehabilitation of the Improvements, architectural and engineering fees, and inspection and supervision. To ascertain the amount of coverage required, not less often than once every three (3) years, Developer shall cause the full insurable value of the Improvements to be determined, such determination to be either by appraisal of the insurer, or by an appraiser mutually acceptable to the City and the Developer. The manner of determination of value shall be agreed to in writing by Developer and the LAHD General Manager or designee.

- c. After the completion of construction, Developer shall maintain or cause to be maintained loss of rental income insurance with respect to the Improvements, against the perils of fire, lightning, vandalism, malicious mischief, riot and civil commotion, and such other perils ordinarily included in extended coverage policies.
- d. Developer and its contractors and subcontractors shall maintain or cause to be maintained Workers' Compensation Insurance including Employer's Liability in limits of not less than One Million Dollars (\$1,000,000.00), issued by a responsible carrier authorized under the laws of the State of California to insure employers against liability for compensation under the workers' compensation laws now in force in California, or any laws hereafter enacted as an amendment or supplement thereto or in lieu thereof. Such workers' compensation insurance shall cover all persons employed by Developer and its contractors and subcontractors in connection with the Site and the Improvements and shall cover claims for death, bodily injury, illness, or disease made by, for or on behalf of any person incurring or suffering injury, death, illness or disease in connection with the Site or the Improvements or the operation thereof by Developer.
- e. Professional liability insurance shall be required of architects and engineers hired to perform work on the Improvements in limits of not less than One Million Dollars (\$1,000,000.000). Developer shall ensure that insurance for architects and engineers is received by the City prior to the commencement of any work on the Site.
- f. Commercial automobile insurance coverage in minimum limits of not less than One Million Dollars (\$1,000,000.00) shall be required by Developer and/or Developer's contractors and sub-contractors hired to perform work on the Site for owned,

hired, leased, and non-owned autos and shall be received by the City prior to the commencement of any work being performed on Site.

- g. All required insurance policies shall not be subject to cancellation, reduction in coverage, or non-renewal except after notice in writing shall have been sent by registered mail addressed to both LAHD not less than twenty (20) Business Days prior to the effective date thereof (ten (10) Business Days for nonpayment of premiums). All policies where applicable must name the "City of Los Angeles" as additional insured. The insurance policies or endorsements shall also contain a waiver of subrogation for the benefit of the City of Los Angeles.
- h. All insurance provided under this Agreement shall be for the benefit of Developer and the City. Developer agrees to timely pay or cause to be paid all premiums for such insurance and, at its sole cost and expense, to comply and secure compliance with all insurance requirements necessary for the maintenance of such insurance.
- i. Developer shall submit proof of insurance and applicable endorsements as required by this Section to the City prior to the Close of Escrow. At least twenty (20) Business Days prior to expiration of any such policy, copies of renewal policies shall be submitted to the City.
- j. All insurance herein provided for in this Agreement shall be effected under policies issued by insurers of recognized responsibility, licensed or permitted to do business in the State of California reasonably approved by the City.
- k. Subject to the provisions of any Construction and/or Permanent Lender's loan documents, all insurance proceeds with respect to loss or damage to the Improvements during the term of the Ground Lease shall be payable, under the provisions of the relevant insurance policy, jointly to Developer and the City, and said proceeds shall constitute a trust fund to be used for the restoration, repair or rebuilding of the Improvements in accordance with plans and specifications approved in writing by the City. To the extent that such proceeds exceed the cost of such restoration, repair or rebuilding, such proceeds shall be applied to repay the City Rent. During any period when a Permanent Loan is outstanding, such proceeds shall be divided between the Permanent Lender and City in proportion to the balance of their respective loans. In the event of any fire or other casualty to the Improvements or eminent domain proceedings resulting in condemnation of the Improvements or any part thereof, the Developer shall have the right to rebuild the Improvements, and to use all available insurance or condemnation proceeds to pay costs in connection with rebuilding the Improvements, provided that (1) such proceeds are sufficient to pay City Rent and rebuild the Improvements in a manner that provides adequate security to the City for repayment of the City Rent or if such proceeds are insufficient then the Developer shall have funded any deficiency, (2) the City shall have the right to approve plans and specifications for any major rebuilding and

the right to approve disbursements of insurance or condemnation proceeds for rebuilding under a construction escrow or similar arrangement, and (3) no material default then exists under this Agreement, Ground Lease or City Development Documents. If the casualty or condemnation affects only part of the Improvements and total rebuilding is infeasible, then proceeds may be used for partial rebuilding.

- I. The City reserve the right at any time during the term of this Agreement to change the amounts and types of insurance required hereunder by giving the Developer ninety calendar days written, advance notice of such change. If such change(s) should result in substantial additional cost to the Developer, the City agrees to negotiate additional compensation proportional to the increased benefit to the City of Los Angeles.
- m. The City shall have the right in its sole discretion to accept insurance policies with lower limits than the minimum limits set forth in this Section 7.13.

7.14 <u>Insurance Advances</u>.

In the event Developer fails to maintain or cause to be maintained the full insurance coverage required by this Agreement, the City, after at least five (5) Business Days prior notice to Developer, may, but shall be under no obligation to, take out the required policies of insurance and pay the premiums on such policies. Any amount so advanced by the City, together with interest thereon from the date of such advance at the highest rate of interest then allowed by applicable law, shall become an additional obligation of Developer to the City under this Agreement and shall be secured by a City Leasehold Deed of Trust.

7.15 Hazardous Materials.

- a. The Developer hereby covenants and agrees that:
- (i) The Developer shall not knowingly permit the Site or any portion thereof to be a site for the use, generation, treatment, manufacture, storage, disposal or transportation of Hazardous Materials or otherwise knowingly permit the presence of Hazardous Materials in, on or under the Site in violation of any applicable law;
- (ii) The Developer shall keep and maintain the Project and each portion thereof in compliance with, and shall not cause or permit the Project or any portion thereof to be in violation of any Hazardous Materials Laws;
- (iii) Upon receiving actual knowledge of the same, the Developer shall within ten (10) days advise the City in writing of: (A) any and all enforcement, cleanup, removal or other governmental or regulatory actions

instituted or threatened against the Developer or the Project pursuant to any applicable Hazardous Materials Laws; (B) any and all claims made or threatened by any third party against the Developer or the Project relating to damage, contribution, cost recovery, compensation, loss or injury resulting from any Hazardous Materials (the matters set forth in the foregoing clause (A) and this clause (B) are hereinafter referred to as "Hazardous Materials Claims"); (C) the presence of any Hazardous Materials in, on or under the Site in such quantities which require reporting to a government agency; or (D) the Developer's discovery of any occurrence or condition on any real property adjoining or in the vicinity of the Project classified as "border zone property" under the provisions of California Health and Safety Code, Sections 25220 et seg., or any regulation adopted in accordance therewith, or to be otherwise subject to any restrictions on the ownership, occupancy, transferability or use of the Project under any Hazardous Materials Laws. If the City reasonably determine that the Developer is not adequately responding to a written directive or order from a regulatory body or court regarding a Hazardous Material Claim, the City shall have the right, upon ten (10) Business Days written notice to the Developer, to join and participate in, as a party if it so elects, any legal proceedings or actions initiated in connection with any such Hazardous Materials Claims and, if such claim could result in any liability or damage to the City, to have its reasonable attorney's fees in connection therewith paid by the Developer.

- (iv) As long as the Ground Lease is in effect, the Developer shall not take, without the City's prior written consent, which shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed, any remedial action in response to the presence of any Hazardous Materials on, under, or about the Site (other than in emergency situations or as required by governmental agencies having jurisdiction), nor enter into any settlement agreement, consent decree, or other compromise in respect to any Hazardous Materials Claims.
- b. <u>Hazardous Materials Indemnity</u>. Without limiting the generality of the indemnification set forth in this Section 7.15, the Developer hereby agrees to indemnify, protect, hold harmless and defend (by counsel acceptable to the City) the City, its Council Members, officers, employees and agents from and against any and all claims, losses, damages, liabilities, fines, penalties, charges, administrative and judicial proceedings and orders, judgments, remedial action requirements, enforcement actions of any kind, and all costs and expenses incurred in connection therewith (including, but not limited to, reasonable attorney's fees and expenses), arising directly or indirectly, in whole or in part, out of: (1) the failure of the Developer, its agents, employees, or contractors to comply with any Hazardous Materials Law relating in any way whatsoever to the handling, treatment, presence, removal, storage, decontamination, cleanup, transportation or disposal of Hazardous Materials into, on, under or from the Project; (2) the presence in,

on or under the Site of any Hazardous Materials not otherwise present before the Close of Escrow or any releases or discharges of any Hazardous Materials into, on, under or from the Project occurring after the Close of Escrow; or (3) any activity carried on or undertaken on or off the Project, subsequent to the conveyance of the Site to the Developer, by the Developer or any employees, agents, contractors or subcontractors of the Developer at any time occupying or present on the Project, in connection with the handling, treatment, removal, storage, decontamination, cleanup, transport or disposal of any Hazardous Materials at any time located or present on or under the Project (collectively "Indemnification Claims"). The foregoing indemnity shall further apply to any residual contamination on or under the Project, or affecting any natural resources, and to any contamination of any property or natural resources arising in connection with the generation, use, handling, treatment, storage, transport or disposal of any such Hazardous Materials by the Developer, and irrespective of whether any of such activities were or will be undertaken in accordance with Hazardous Materials Laws. This indemnity obligation shall survive the issuance of a Certificate of Completion by the City, repayment of the City Rent, termination of the Regulatory Agreement, withdrawal of the Notice of Affordability Restrictions and the termination of this Agreement.

c. <u>No Limitation</u>. The Developer hereby acknowledges and agrees that the Developer's duties, obligations and liabilities under this Agreement, including, without limitation, under paragraph b. of this Section 7.15, above, are in no way limited or otherwise affected by any information the City may have concerning the Site or the Project and/or the presence on or under the Site or within the Project of any Hazardous Materials, whether the City obtained such information from the Developer or from its own investigations.

7.16 Taxes and Assessments.

Developer shall pay prior to delinquency any and all real estate taxes and assessments (including any possessory interest tax) assessed and levied on the Site or any portion thereof and Developer hereby agrees to indemnify, defend (with counsel reasonably acceptable to the City) and hold the City and all of the City's Representatives free and harmless against any and all Losses and Liabilities arising from the failure to pay when due such taxes and assessments. The City shall have the right, but not the obligation, to advance on behalf of Developer any amounts due as the result of real estate taxes and assessments (including any possessory interest tax) assessed and levied on the Site or any portion thereof. Any amount so advanced by the City, together with interest hereon from the date of such advance at the highest rate of interest then allowed by applicable law, and shall be due and payable immediately. Developer shall immediately reimburse the City for any amount so advanced by the City, together with interest thereon from the date of such advance at the highest rate of interest then allowed by applicable law, and any such amount that is not paid when due shall become an additional obligation of Developer to the City secured by a City Leasehold Deed of Trust. This indemnity obligation shall survive the issuance of a Certificate of Completion by the City, repayment of the City Rent, termination of the Regulatory Agreement, withdrawal of the Notice of Affordability Restrictions and the termination of this Agreement.

- 7.17 <u>City's Living Wage Ordinance and Service Contractor Worker Retention</u> Ordinance.
- A. Unless otherwise exempt, this Agreement is subject to the applicable provisions of the Living Wage Ordinance (LWO) Section 10.37 et. seq. of the Los Angeles Administrative Code, as amended from time to time, and the Service Contractor Worker Retention Ordinance (SCWRO), Section 10.36 et seq., of the Los Angeles Administrative Code, as amended from time to time. Among other things, the Ordinances require the following:
 - 1. Developer assures payment of a minimum initial wage rate to employees as defined in the LWO and as may be adjusted each July 1 and provision of compensated and uncompensated days off and health benefits as defined in the LWO.
 - 2. Developer further pledges that it will comply with federal law proscribing retaliation for union organizing and will not retaliate for activities related to the LWO. Developer shall require each of its contractors and subcontractors within the meaning of the LWO to pledge to comply with the terms of federal law proscribing retaliation for union organizing. Developer shall deliver the executed pledges from each such contractor and subcontractor to the City within ninety (90) days of the execution of the contract and subcontract. Developer's delivery of executed pledges from each such contractor and subcontractor shall fully discharge the obligation of the Developer with respect to such pledges and fully discharge the obligation of the Developer to comply with the provision in the LWO contained in Section 10.37.6(c) concerning compliance with such federal law.
 - 3. The Developer and any contractor and subcontractor for the project, whether an employer, as defined in the LWO, or any other person employing individuals, shall not discharge, reduce in compensation, or otherwise discriminate against any employee for complaining to the City with regard to the employer's compliance or anticipated compliance with the LWO, for opposing any practice proscribed by the LWO, for participating in proceedings related to the LWO, for seeking to enforce his or her rights under the LWO by any lawful means, or otherwise asserting rights under the LWO. Developer and any contractor and subcontractor for the project shall post the Notice to Employees Working on City Contracts Re: Living Wage Ordinance

and Prohibition Against Retaliation provided by the City.

- 4. Any contract and subcontract entered into by the Developer and any contractor and subcontractor for the project relating to this Agreement, to the extent allowed hereunder, shall be subject to the provisions of this Section and shall incorporate the provisions of the LWO and the SCWRO.
- 5. Developer and any contractor and subcontractor for the project shall comply with all rules, regulations and policies promulgated by the City's designated administrative agency which may be amended from time to time.
- B. Under the provisions of Section 10.36.3 and Section 10.37.6 of the Los Angeles Administrative Code, the City shall have the authority, under appropriate circumstances, to terminate this Agreement and otherwise pursue legal remedies that may be available if the City determines that the subject Developer and any contractor and subcontractor has violated provisions of either the LWO or the SCWRO or both.
- C. Where under the LWO Section 10.37.6, the City's designated administrative agency has determined (a) that the Developer and any contractor and subcontractor for the project is in violation of the LWO in having failed to pay some or all of the living wage, and (b) that such violation has gone uncured, the City in such circumstances may impound monies otherwise due the Developer in accordance with the following procedures. Impoundment shall mean that from monies due the Developer, the City may deduct the amount determined to be due and owing by the Developer and any contractor and subcontractor for the project to its employees. Such monies shall be placed in the holding account referred to in LWO Section 10.37.6 and disposed of under procedures described therein through final and binding arbitration. Whether the Developer and any contractor and subcontractor for the project is to continue work following an impoundment shall remain in the sole discretion of the City. The Developer and any contractors and subcontractors for the project may not elect to discontinue work either because there has been an impoundment or because of the ultimate disposition of the impoundment by the arbitrator.
- D. This Agreement is subject to the provisions of Section 10.37.4 of the Los Angeles Administrative Code, with all amendments and revisions thereto. Developer shall and shall cause any contractor and subcontractor for the Project to inform employees making less than Twelve Dollars (\$12.00) per hour of their possible right to the federal Earned Income Credit (EIC). Developer shall and shall cause any contractor and subcontractor for the Project to make available to employees the forms informing the employees

about the EIC and the forms required to secure advance EIC payments from Developer, any contractor or subcontractor for the Project.

7.18 City's Equal Benefits Ordinance.

Unless otherwise exempt, this Agreement is subject to the provisions of the Equal Benefits Ordinance (EBO), Section 10.8.2.1 of the Los Angeles Administrative Code, as amended from time to time.

- A. During the performance of the project, the Developer certifies and represents that the Developer and any contractor and subcontractor will comply with the EBO.
- B. The failure of the Developer to comply or to ensure that any contractor or subcontractor comply with the EBO will be deemed to be a material breach of the Agreement by the City.
- C. If the Developer and any contractor and subcontractor fails to comply with the EBO, the City may cancel, terminate or suspend the Agreement, in whole or in part, and all monies due or to become due under the Agreement may be retained by the City. The City may also pursue any and all other remedies at law or in equity for any breach.
- D. Failure to comply with the EBO may be used as evidence against the Developer in actions taken pursuant to the provisions of Los Angeles Administrative Code Section 10.40 et seq., Contractor Responsibility Ordinance.
- E. If the City's designated Administrative Agency determines that a Developer has set up or used its contracting entity for the purpose of evading the intent of the EBO, the City may terminate the Agreement. Violation of this provision may be used as evidence against the Developer in actions taken pursuant to the provisions of the Los Angeles Administrative Code Section 10.40 et seq., Contractor Responsibility Ordinance.
- F. The Developer shall post and shall ensure posting the following statement in conspicuous places at its place of business and the project available to employees and applicants for employment:

"During the performance of this project with the City of Los Angeles, the Developer and any contractor or subcontractor will provide equal benefits to its employees with spouses and its employees with domestic partners. Additional information about the City of Los Angeles' Equal Benefits Ordinance may be obtained from the Department of Public Works, Office of contract Compliance at (213) 847-1922".

7.19. Contractor Responsibility Ordinance.

Unless otherwise exempt, this Agreement is subject to the provisions of the Contractor Responsibility Ordinance, Section 10.40 et seq., of the Los Angeles Administrative Code, as amended from time to time, which requires Developer to update its responses to the responsibility questionnaire within thirty calendar days after any change to the responses previously provided if such change would affect Developer's fitness and ability to continue performing under the Agreement.

In accordance with the provisions of the Contractor Responsibility Ordinance, by signing this Agreement, Developer pledges, under penalty of perjury, to comply with all applicable federal, state and local laws in the performance of this Agreement, including but not limited to, laws regarding health and safety, labor and employment, wage and hours, and licensing laws which affect employees. The Developer further agrees to: (1) notify the City within thirty calendar days after receiving notification that any government agency has initiated an investigation which may result in a finding that the Developer is not in compliance with all applicable federal, state and local laws in performance of this Agreement and project; (2) notify the City within thirty calendar days of all findings by a government agency or court of competent jurisdiction that the Developer and any contractor and subcontractor for the project has violated the provisions of Section 10.40.3 (a) of the Contractor Responsibility Ordinance; (3) ensure that its subcontractor(s), as defined in the Contract Responsibility Ordinance, submit a Pledge of Compliance to the City; and (4) ensure that its contractor and subcontractor, as defined in the Contractor Responsibility Ordinance, comply with the requirements of the Pledge of Compliance and the requirement to notify the City within thirty calendar days after any government agency or court of competent jurisdiction has initiated an investigation or has found that the contractor or subcontractor has violated Section 10.40.3(a) of the Contract Responsibility Ordinance in performance of the contract or subcontract.

7.20 Slavery Disclosure Ordinance.

Unless otherwise exempt, this Agreement is subject to the Slavery Disclosure Ordinance, Section 10.41 of the Los Angeles Administrative Code, as may be amended from time to time. Developer certifies that it has complied with the applicable provisions of the Slavery Disclosure Ordinance. Failure to fully and accurately complete the affidavit may result in termination of this Agreement.

7.21 First Source Hiring Ordinance.

Unless otherwise exempt, this contract is subject to the applicable provisions of the First Source Hiring Ordinance (FSHO), Section 10.44 *et seq.* of the Los Angeles Administrative Code as amended from time to time. Any subcontract entered into by Developer for work to be performed under this DDA must include identical provision.

- A. Developer shall, prior to the execution of the contract, provide to the Designated Administrative Agency (DAA) a list of anticipated employment opportunities that Developer estimates it will need to fill in order to perform the services under the contract.
- B. Developer further pledges that it will, during the term of the contract: (1) at least seven (7) business days prior to making an announcement of a specific employment opportunity, provide notifications of that employment opportunity to the Economic and Workforce Development Department (EWDD), which will refer individuals for interview; (2) interview qualified individuals referred by EWDD; and (3) prior to filing any employment opportunity, the Developer shall inform the DAA of the names of the Referral Resources used, the names of the individuals they referred, the names of the referred individuals who the Developer interviewed and the reasons why referred individuals were not hired.
- C. Any contract or subcontract entered into by the Developer relating to this contract, to the extent allowed hereunder, shall be subject to the provisions of FSHO, and shall incorporate the FSHO.
- D. Developer shall comply with all rules, regulations and policies promulgated by the DAA, which may be amended from time to time.

Where under the provisions of Section 10.44.13 of the Los Angeles Administrative Code the DAA has determined that the Developer intentionally violated or used hiring practices for the purpose of avoiding the FSHO, that determination will be documented in the Awarding Authority's Contractor Evaluation, required under Los Angeles Administrative Code Section 10.39 *et seq.*, and must be documented in each of the Developer's subsequent Contractor Responsibility Questionnaires submitted under the Los Angeles Administrative Code Section 10.40 *et seq.* This measure does not limit the City's authority to act under the FSHO.

Under the provisions of Section 10.44.8 of the Los Angeles Administrative Code, the Awarding Authority shall, under appropriate circumstances, terminate this contract and otherwise pursue legal remedies that may be available if the DAA determines that the Developer has violated provisions of the FSHO.

7.22 Child Support Assignment Orders.

This Agreement is subject to the Child Support Assignment Orders Ordinance, Section 10.10 of the Los Angeles Administrative Code, as amended from time to time. Pursuant to the Child Support Assignment Orders Ordinance, Developer will fully comply with all applicable State and Federal employment reporting requirements for Developer's.

contractor's and subcontractor's employees. Developer shall also certify that (1) Developer and any contractor and subcontractor will fully comply with all State and Federal employment reporting requirements applicable to Child Support Assignment Orders; (2) that the principal owner(s) of the Developer(s) are in compliance with any Wage and Earnings Assignment Orders and Notices of Assignment applicable to them personally; (3) Developer and any contractor or subcontractor will fully comply with all lawfully served Wage and Earnings Assignment Orders and Notices of Assignment in accordance with Section 5230 et seq. of the California Family Code; and (4) Developer and any contractor or subcontractor will maintain such compliance throughout the term of this Agreement.

Pursuant to Section 10.10b of the Los Angeles Administrative Code, the failure of Developer to comply with all applicable reporting requirements or to implement lawfully served Wage and Earnings Assignment Orders and Notices of Assignment or the failure of any principal owner(s) of the Developer(s) to comply with any Wage and Earnings Assignment Orders and Notices of Assignment applicable to them personally shall constitute a default by the Developer under the terms of this Agreement, subjecting this Agreement to termination if such default shall continue for more than ninety (90) days after notice of such default to Developer by City.

Any contract and subcontract entered into by the Developer, to the extent allowed hereunder, shall be subject to the provisions of this paragraph and shall incorporate the provisions of the Child Support Assignment Orders Ordinance. Failure of the Developer to obtain compliance of its contractor and subcontractor shall constitute a default by the Developer under the terms of this Agreement, subjecting this Agreement to termination where such default shall continue for more than ninety (90) days after notice of such default to Developer by the City.

Developer certifies that, to the best of its knowledge it is fully complying with the earnings assignment orders of all employees, and is providing the names of all new employees to the New Hire Registry maintained by the Employment Development Department as set forth in Section 7110(b) of the California Public Contract Code.

7.23 <u>Enforcement of Employment Requirements.</u>

In the event of underpayment of wages by Developer or by any contractor or subcontractor employed on the Project, the City, in addition to other rights and remedies afforded by this Agreement or applicable law, may: (1) demand that Developer and/or any underpaying employer comply with these requirements; (2) demand that the underpaying employer pay the difference between the prevailing wage rates and the amount actually paid to workers; (3) withhold from Developer any of the City loan proceeds (if any) as may be necessary to compensate workers the full wages required under this Agreement (whether or not the payee of the City loan (if any) is directly responsible for the underpayment); (4) impose liquidated damages in the form of a forfeiture of up to fifty dollars (\$50) per calendar day for each worker paid less than the prevailing wage, the

amount of such forfeiture to be determined solely by the City according to the standards contained in California Labor Code Section 1775; and/or (5) pursue any lawful administrative or court remedy to enforce these requirements against the Developer and underpaying employer. Developer shall comply with any demand to pay any amounts due under this section within ten (10) calendar days of said demand. In addition, a worker who has been paid less than the prevailing wage rate shall have a right to commence an action or proceeding against the employer to collect the underpayment.

In the event of any violation or deficiency with respect to the equal opportunity and/or the MBE/WBE provisions herein, including failure to provide adequate documentation as specified herein, by Developer or by any contractor or subcontractor employed on the Project, the City, in addition to other rights and remedies afforded by this Agreement or applicable law, may: (1) demand that any noncomplying party comply with these requirements; (2) withhold disbursement of the City loan proceeds (if any) from Developer or any contractor or subcontractor until such violations are corrected; (3) impose liquidated damages on the noncomplying party in the form of a forfeiture of up to one thousand dollars (\$1,000) or one percent (1%) of the contract, whichever is less, the amount of such forfeiture to be determined solely by the City; and/or (4) pursue any lawful administrative or court remedy to enforce these requirements. Any noncomplying party shall comply with any demand to correct any noncompliance within ten (10) business days of said demand.

Developer shall monitor and enforce the equal employment opportunity, minority-and women-owned business enterprises, and prevailing wage requirements imposed on its contractors and subcontractors, including withholding payments to those contractors or subcontractors who violate these requirements. In the event that Developer fails to monitor or enforce these requirements against any contractor or subcontractor, Developer shall be liable for the full amount of any underpayment of wages, plus costs and attorneys' fees, as if Developer was the actual employer, and the City may withhold payments to Developer, may impose liquidated damages on Developer in the amounts specified herein, may take action directly against the contractor or subcontractor as permitted by law, and/or may declare an Event of Default and pursue any of the other remedies available under this Agreement.

7.24 Fair Chance Initiative for Hiring Ordinance.

Unless otherwise exempt under Federal or State law, City Contractors and subcontractors with 10 or more employees are prohibited under Los Angeles Administrative Code Section 10.48 from seeking a job applicant's criminal history information until a job offer is made and from withdrawing a job offer unless the employer performs an assessment of the applicant's criminal history and the duties of the position. Contractors and subcontractors are required to include information regarding the ordinance in all job solicitations and advertisements and to post notices informing job

applicants of their rights. Additional information and forms may be found at Department of Public Works, Bureau of Contract Administration at http://bca.lacity.org/.

7.25 <u>Labor Compliance Meeting.</u>

The Developer shall meet with LAHDLA's Labor Compliance staff for a pre-construction briefing on all City construction requirements prior to the issuance of a notice to proceed.

ARTICLE 8. ASSIGNMENT AND TRANSFERS

8.1 Definitions.

As used in this Article 8, the terms "Transfer" and "Permitted Transfer" shall have the respective meanings set forth in Section 1.2 of this Agreement.

8.2 Restrictions on Transfer.

- a. Developer represents and agrees that its undertakings pursuant to this Agreement are for the purpose of redeveloping the Site and providing affordable rental housing for Low Income Households, and not for speculation in land holding. Developer further recognizes that the qualifications and identity of Developer are of particular concern to the City, in light of the following: (1) the importance of the redevelopment of the Site to the general welfare of the community; (2) the public assistance that has been made available by law and by the government for the purpose of making such redevelopment possible; and (3) the fact that a change in ownership or control of Developer or any other act or transaction involving or resulting in a significant change in ownership or control of Developer, is for practical purposes a transfer or disposition of the property then owned by Developer. Developer further recognizes that it is because of such qualifications and identity that City is entering into this Agreement with Developer. Therefore, no voluntary or involuntary successor in interest of Developer shall acquire any rights or powers under this Agreement except as expressly set forth herein.
- b. Developer shall not assign all or any part of this Agreement or the Site, or any interest herein, without the prior written approval of the City. Subject to review of documentation effectuating any such proposed assignment or transfer, the City shall provide written confirmation to Developer that a proposed assignment is a Permitted Transfer, if such be the case, as provided in Section 8.4.a., below.
- c. For the reasons cited above, Developer represents and agrees for itself and any successor in interest that, without the prior written approval of the City, there shall be no significant change in the ownership of Developer or in the relative proportions

thereof, or with respect to the identity of the parties in control of Developer or the degree thereof, by any method or means, except by Permitted Transfers.

- d. Any assignment or transfer of this Agreement or the Site or any interest herein or therein or significant change in ownership of Developer, other than a Permitted Transfer, shall require the prior written approval of the City. To the extent the City's approval of an assignment or transfer is required by this Agreement, in granting or withholding its approval, the City shall base their decision upon: (i) the relevant experience, financial capability and reputation of the proposed assignee or transferee; and (ii) the effect, if any, of such proposed transfer on the public purposes of this Agreement. In addition, the City shall have the right, in its sole discretion, to disapprove any assignment or transfer of this Agreement or any interest herein or significant change in ownership of Developer or transfer of the Site that results in payment of consideration to any Person, prior to the issuance of the Certificate of Completion, that is not conditioned upon the issuance of the Certificate of Completion. In the event LAHD denies a request for a Transfer or assignment of this Agreement, except a Permitted Transfer, LAHD, as applicable, shall set forth its reasons for denying such request in writing.
- e. Developer shall promptly notify the City of any and all changes whatsoever in the identity of the parties in control of Developer or the degree thereof, of which it or any of its officers have been notified or otherwise have knowledge or information. Except for Permitted Transfers, any significant change (voluntary or involuntary) in ownership, membership, management or control of Developer (other than changes occasioned by the death or incapacity of any individual or approved in advance in writing by the City) shall constitute a default under this Agreement. In the event of the death or incapacity of any individual who controls Developer or the managing member or general partner of Developer, any resulting change in the management of the Project or the control of the day-to-day operations of the Site and the Improvements shall be subject to the approval of the LAHD General Manager, which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed.

8.3 Prohibited Transfers.

The limitations on Transfers set forth in this Article 8 shall apply from the Effective Date of this Agreement until the latest of (a) issuance of a Certificate of Completion by the City to the Developer; (b) the date the City Rent and City debts, if any, related to this Agreement, Ground Lease and City Development Documents, is repaid in full; and (c) the date the Regulatory Agreement expires. Except for Permitted Transfers and as expressly permitted in this Agreement, the Developer represents and agrees that the Developer has not made or created, and shall not make or create or suffer to be made or created, any Transfer, either voluntarily or by operation of law, without the prior approval of the City. Any Transfer made in contravention of this Section 8.3 shall be void and shall be deemed to be a default under this Agreement, whether or not the Developer knew of or participated in such Transfer.

8.4 Effectuation of Transfers.

- a. In the event of a Permitted Transfer, Developer shall submit to the City such documentation as the LAHD General Manager or designee may determine is sufficient to document that such Transfer is a Permitted Transfer.
- b. In the event of a Transfer other than a Permitted Transfer, the proposed transferee for which the City's approval is required shall have the relevant experience, financial capability and reputation necessary to fulfill the obligations undertaken in this Agreement by the Developer and otherwise acceptable to the City. LAHD shall grant or deny approval of a proposed Transfer within thirty (30) calendar days of receipt by the LAHD of the Developer's request for approval of a Transfer, by Notice as required by Section 11.2 of this Agreement, accompanied by the deposit required by paragraph e. of this Section 8.4, below, which request shall include evidence of the proposed transferee's business expertise and financial capacity.
- c. Any Transfer otherwise authorized or approved pursuant to this Agreement (including Permitted Transfers and other Transfers for which the City's approval is required) shall not be permitted unless, at the time of the Transfer, the person or entity to which such Transfer is made, by an agreement reasonably satisfactory to the City and in form recordable in the Office of the Los Angeles County Recorder, expressly agrees to perform and observe, from and after the date of the Transfer, the obligations, terms and conditions of this Agreement; provided, however, that no such transferee shall be liable for the failure of its predecessor to perform any such obligation.
- d. Any assignment of rights and/or delegation of obligations under this Agreement in connection with a Transfer (whether or not the City's approval is required) shall be in writing executed by Developer and the assignee or transferee, which written agreement shall name the City as expressed third party beneficiaries with respect to such agreement (the "Assumption Agreement") with a copy thereof delivered to the City within ten (10) Business Days after the effective date thereof. Upon assignment or transfer of this Agreement pursuant to an Assumption Agreement, the assignor shall be relieved of liability with respect to any such obligations relating to the Project assumed by the assignee. Notwithstanding the foregoing, unless such assignee specifically assumes pursuant to the Assumption Agreement the obligations under this Agreement to indemnify the City with respect to the Project, the assignor shall retain such obligations and remain jointly and severally liable for such indemnity obligations with such assignee. This indemnity obligation shall survive the issuance of a Certificate of Completion by the City, repayment of the City Rent, termination of the Regulatory Agreement, withdrawal of the Notice of Affordability Restrictions and the termination of this Agreement.
- e. Developer shall reimburse the City for all actual staff time and consultant (legal and financial) costs associated with the City's review and consideration

of any request for approval of a Transfer. The City shall not be obligated to act on any request for approval of a Transfer unless Developer shall deposit with the City the sum of Ten Thousand Dollars (\$10,000), which amount shall be subject to adjustment equal to the cumulative annual increase, if any, in the Consumer Price Index since 2011, together with its request for approval of a Transfer. If the costs of the City's review is less than the amount deposited, the excess deposit shall be returned to Developer. If the costs of the City's review exceed the deposit amount, the City shall send the Developer a bill for the costs and Developer shall promptly pay the City the additional costs.

ARTICLE 9. SECURITY FINANCING AND RIGHTS OF LENDERS

9.1 No Encumbrances Except for Development Purposes.

- a. Until the Conditions Precedent to the Close of Escrow set forth in Section 3.1 of this Agreement have been satisfied and the Close of Escrow occurs, Developer shall not place mortgages, deeds of trust, or any other encumbrances as security for loans on the Site.
- b. From and after the Close of Escrow, mortgages, deeds of trust, and other real property security instruments are permitted to be placed upon the Developer's interest in the Site to the extent consistent with Developer's Financing Plan and Project Budget as approved by the City. Such permitted security instruments and related interests shall be referred to as "Security Financing Interests." The Developer shall promptly notify the City in writing of any Security Financing Interest that Developer intends to record against the Site. The documents evidencing the Security Financing Interests shall provide that in the event of a Developer default, the holder of the Security Financing Interest shall send notice of the default to the LAHD concurrently with its notice to the Developer.
- c. The Developer may record Security Financing Interests on the Site only for the purpose of securing Construction Loans and Permanent Loans identified in the Project Budget or Financing Plan approved by the City, and any refinancing of any such approved financing, subject to the City's consent.
- d. No permitted Security Financing Interest will encumber any interest in the Site other than the leasehold interest of Developer in the leased premises under the City Ground Lease and Developer's fee ownership of the Improvements located on such leased Site.

9.2 <u>Lender Not Obligated to Construct.</u>

The holder of any Security Financing Interest authorized by this Agreement ("Permitted Lender") is not obligated to construct or complete any improvements or to guarantee such construction or completion, nor shall any covenant or any other provision

of this Agreement be construed so to obligate such Permitted Lender. However, nothing in this Agreement shall be deemed to permit or authorize any such Permitted Lender to devote the Site or any portion thereof to any uses, or to construct any improvements thereon, other than those uses or improvements provided for or authorized by this Agreement.

9.3 Notice of Default and Right to Cure.

- Whenever the City delivers to Developer any notice of breach (or demand for performance) with respect to the commencement, completion, or cessation of the construction of the Project, LAHD shall at the same time deliver such notice to each Permitted Lender and the Tax Credit Investor. Each Permitted Lender and the Tax Credit Investor shall (insofar as the rights of the City is concerned) have the right, but not the obligation, at its option, within twenty (20) Business Days after the receipt of the notice, to cure or remedy or commence to cure or remedy any such default or breach which is subject to the lien of the Security Financing Interest held by such holder and to add the cost thereof to the security interest debt and the lien on its security interest. Any such increase in a Security Financing Interest, limited to the amount needed to cure or remedy such default, shall not require additional approval by the City. Nothing contained in this Agreement shall be deemed to permit or authorize any Permitted Lender to undertake or continue construction or completion of the Project (beyond the extent necessary to conserve or protect such improvements or construction already made) without first having expressly assumed in writing the Developer's obligations to the City under this Agreement. The Permitted Lender in that event must agree to complete, in the manner provided in this Agreement, the development of the Project. Any such holder properly completing the development of the Project pursuant to this section shall assume all rights and obligations of Developer under this Agreement and shall be entitled, upon written request made to the City, to a Certificate of Completion from the City.
- b. If a non-monetary event of default occurs under the terms of this Agreement, prior to exercising any remedies hereunder, LAHD shall give Developer, any Permitted Lender and the Tax Credit Equity Investor, as identified in Developer's LLC Agreement or partnership agreement, as the case may be, simultaneous notice of such default. If the default is reasonably capable of being cured within twenty (20) Business Days after such notice is received or deemed received, Developer shall have such period to effect a cure prior to exercise of remedies by the City under this Agreement. If the default is such that it is not reasonably capable of being cured within twenty (20) Business Days, and Developer (i) initiates corrective action within said period, and (ii) diligently and in good faith works to effect a cure as soon as possible, then Developer shall have such additional time as is reasonably necessary to cure the default prior to exercise of any remedies by the City. If Developer fails to take corrective action or to cure the default within a reasonable time, the City shall give Developer, any Permitted Lender and the Tax Credit Equity Investor written notice thereof, whereupon the Tax Credit Equity Investor may exercise any authority it may have under the Developer's LLC Agreement

or partnership agreement, as the case may be, and the Permitted Lender may exercise any authority it may have under its financing agreements with Developer, to take corrective action, which may include, among other things, removing and replacing the managing member or general partner with a substitute managing member or general partner who shall effect a cure within a reasonable time thereafter in accordance with the foregoing provisions. In no event shall the City be precluded from exercising remedies if its security becomes or is about to become materially jeopardized by any failure to cure a default or the default is not cured within one hundred eighty (180) calendar days after the notice of default is received or deemed received.

9.4 Failure of Permitted Lender to Complete Project.

In any case where six (6) months after default by the Developer, a Permitted Lender has not exercised its right to commence to complete the construction of the Project, or, having commenced to complete the construction of the Project has failed to complete the Project in a timely manner, the City shall be afforded those rights against such Permitted Lender it would otherwise have against the Developer under this Agreement.

9.5 Right of the City to Cure.

In the event of a default or breach by the Developer under the terms of any Security Financing Interest prior to the completion of construction of the Project, and if the Permitted Lender has not exercised its right to commence to complete the construction of the Project, or, having commenced to complete the construction of the Project has failed to complete the Project in a timely manner, the City may, upon prior written notice to the Developer, cure the default or breach, prior to the completion of any foreclosure. In such event, the City shall be entitled to reimbursement from the Developer of all costs and expenses incurred by the City in curing the default. The City shall also be entitled to a lien upon the Project and/or Site to the extent of such costs and disbursements. The City agree that such lien shall be subordinate to any Senior Loan, and the City shall execute from time to time any and all documentation reasonably requested by the Developer to effect such subordination.

9.6 Permitted Lenders to be Notified.

The Developer shall obtain and submit to the City acknowledgement of this Article 9 by each holder of a Security Financing Interest prior to recordation of such Security Financing Interest.

9.7 Modifications.

If a Permitted Lender or Tax Credit Equity Investor should, as a condition of providing funding for the Project, request any modification of this Agreement in order to

protect its interests in the Project or this Agreement, the LAHD General Manager shall consider such request in good faith consistent with the purpose and intent of this Agreement and the rights and obligations of the Parties under this Agreement. The LAHD's General Manager shall have the authority to approve revisions to the terms of this Agreement requested in writing by a Permitted Lender or Tax Credit Equity Investor that are not material revisions if he/she reasonably determines that such revisions: (a) are limited to minor, technical or procedural matters; (b) do not increase the amount of the City Rent and debts to the City related to this Agreement, Ground Lease and city Development Documents; (c) do not result in a reduction of equity and loan funds sufficient to complete the Project; (d) do not materially adversely affect the economic feasibility of the Project; (e) do not materially adversely affect City fee title to the Site; (f) do not materially adversely affect the security of the City Leasehold Deed of Trust, if any; (g) do not materially modify the Conditions Precedent to the Close of Escrow; and (h) do not materially reduce any benefit to the City or the public pursuant to this Agreement. The City shall have the right to approve or disapprove such non-material changes in the City's sole discretion, or may refer such decision to LAHD. Material revisions of this Agreement shall require the prior approval of the City.

ARTICLE 10. DEFAULT AND REMEDIES

10.1 Defaults – General.

- a. Subject to the extensions of time set forth in Section 11.3 of this Agreement, failure or delay by either Party to perform or to comply with any term or provision of this Agreement shall constitute an Event of Default under this Agreement. The Party who fails or delays must commence to cure, correct or remedy such failure or delay and shall complete such cure, correction or remedy with reasonable diligence.
- b. The injured Party shall give written notice of default to the Party in default, specifying the default complained of by the injured Party. Failure or delay in giving such notice shall not constitute a waiver of any default, nor shall it change the time of default. Except as otherwise expressly provided in this Agreement, any failures or delays by either Party in asserting any of its rights and remedies as to any default shall not operate as a waiver of any default or of any such rights or remedies. Delays by either Party in asserting any of its rights and remedies shall not deprive either Party of its right to institute and maintain any actions or proceedings which it may deem necessary to protect, assert or enforce any such rights or remedies.
- c. If a monetary Event of Default occurs, prior to exercising any remedies hereunder, the injured Party shall give the Party in default written notice of such default. The Party in default shall have a period of ten (10) Business Days after such notice is received or deemed received within which to cure the default prior to exercise of remedies by the injured Party.

- d. If a non-monetary Event of Default occurs, prior to exercising any remedies hereunder, the injured Party shall give the Party in default notice of such default. If the default is reasonably capable of being cured within thirty (30) Business Days after such notice is received or deemed received, the Party in default shall have such period to effect a cure prior to exercise of remedies by the injured Party. If the default is such that it is not reasonably capable of being cured within thirty (30) Business Days, and the Party in default (i) initiates corrective action within said period, and (ii) diligently, continually, and in good faith works to effect a cure as soon as possible, then the Party in default shall have such additional time as is reasonably necessary, but not more than one hundred eighty (180) calendar days, to cure the default prior to exercise of any remedies by the injured Party.
- If Developer fails to take corrective action or cure the default within a reasonable time, LAHD shall give each Permitted Lender and, as provided in paragraph f., below, the Tax Credit Equity Investor, notice thereof. The Tax Credit Equity Investor may take such action, including removing and replacing the managing member or managing general partner of Developer with a substitute managing member or managing general partner, who shall effect a cure within a reasonable time thereafter in accordance with the foregoing provisions. The City agrees to accept cures tendered by any Permitted Lender or Tax Credit Equity Investor within the cure periods provided in this Agreement, Ground Lease and City Development Documents. Additionally, in the event any Permitted Lender or Tax Credit Equity Investor is precluded from curing a non-monetary default due to a bankruptcy, injunction, or similar proceeding by or against Developer or the managing member or managing general partner of Developer, the City agrees to forbear from completing a foreclosure under this Agreement (judicial or non-judicial) during the period during which the Senior Lender or Tax Credit Equity Investor is so precluded from acting, not to exceed ninety (90) calendar days, provided such Tax Credit Equity Investor and Senior Lender are otherwise in compliance with the foregoing provisions. In no event shall the City be precluded from exercising remedies if its rights become or are about to become materially jeopardized by any failure to cure a default or the default is not cured within one hundred eighty (180) calendar days after the first notice of default is given.
- f. After Developer gives written notice to the City of the admission to Developer's limited liability company or limited partnership of the Tax Credit Equity Investor, LAHD shall send to the Tax Credit Equity Investor a copy of all notices of default and all other notices that LAHD sends to Developer, at the address for the Tax Credit Equity Investor as provided by written notice to the City by Developer.

10.2 Institution of Legal Actions.

In addition to any other rights or remedies (and except as otherwise provided in this Agreement), either Party may institute legal action to cure, correct or remedy any default, to recover damages for any default, or to obtain any other remedy

consistent with the purpose of this Agreement. Such legal actions must be instituted in the Superior Court of the County of Los Angeles, State of California, in any other appropriate court of that county, or in the United States District Court for the Central District of California.

10.3 Applicable Law.

The laws of the State of California shall govern the interpretation and enforcement of this Agreement.

10.4 Acceptance of Service of Process.

- a. In the event that any legal action is commenced by Developer against the City, service of process on the City shall be made by personal service upon the Custodian of Records of the City, or in such other manner as may be provided by law.
- b. In the event that any legal action is commenced by the City against Developer, service of process on Developer shall be made by personal service upon Developer (or upon the managing member or managing general partner or any officer of Developer) and shall be valid whether made within or without the State of California, or in such manner as may be provided by law.

10.5 Rights and Remedies Are Cumulative.

Except with respect to rights and remedies expressly declared to be exclusive in this Agreement, the rights and remedies of the parties are cumulative, and the exercise by either Party of one or more of such rights or remedies shall not preclude the exercise by it, at the same or different times, of any other rights or remedies for the same default or any other default by the other Party.

10.6 <u>Damages</u>.

Subject to the notice and cure provisions of Section 10.1 of this Agreement, if either Party defaults with regard to any of the provisions of this Agreement, the non-defaulting Party shall serve written notice of such default upon the defaulting Party. If the default is not cured within the time provided in Section 10.1 of this Agreement, the defaulting Party shall be liable to the non-defaulting Party for any damages caused by such default, and the non-defaulting Party may thereafter (but not before) commence an action for damages against the defaulting Party with respect to such default. In no event shall the City be liable to Developer for any attorney's fees.

10.7 Specific Performance.

Subject to the notice and cure provisions of Section 10.1 of this Agreement, if either Party defaults with regard to any of the provisions of this Agreement, the non-defaulting Party shall serve written notice of such default upon the defaulting Party. If the default is not cured within the time provided in Section 10.1 of this Agreement, the non-defaulting Party, at its option, may thereafter (but not before) commence an action for specific performance of the terms of this Agreement pertaining to such default.

10.8 <u>Termination by Either Party</u>.

Prior to the Close of Escrow, either Party shall have the right to terminate this Agreement, by providing written notice to the other Party, in the event of a failure of any Condition Precedent to the Close of Escrow as set forth in Section 3.1 of this Agreement, provided that such condition is for the benefit of and such failure is outside the control of the Party seeking to terminate this Agreement. Upon such termination, neither the City nor Developer shall have any further rights against or liability to the other under this Agreement, except for indemnification rights that survive termination of this Agreement.

10.9 Termination by the City.

- a. Subject to the notice and cure provisions of Section 10.1 of this Agreement, the City shall have the right, prior to the Close of Escrow, to terminate this Agreement by providing written notice to Developer, in the event of a default by Developer or failure of any Condition Precedent to the Close of Escrow, including but not limited to the following:
- (1) Developer fails to submit to the City evidence of financing or fails to satisfy any other Condition Precedent to the Close of Escrow, within the time established thereforth in this Agreement or the Schedule of Performance; or
- (2) Developer (or any successor in interest) assigns or attempts to assign any of Developer's rights in and to the Site or any portion thereof or interest therein, or this Agreement or any portion hereof, except as permitted by this Agreement; or
- (3) there is substantial change in the ownership of Developer, or with respect to the identity of the parties in control of Developer, or the degree thereof contrary to the provisions of Section 8.2 of this Agreement; or
- (4) Developer fails to submit any of the plans, drawings and related documents required by this Agreement by the respective dates provided in this Agreement therefor; or

- (5) there is any other material default by Developer under the terms of this Agreement which is not cured within the time provided herein.
- b. After the Close of Escrow but before the issuance of the Certificate of Completion, the City shall have the additional right to terminate this Agreement in the event any of the following defaults shall occur:
- (1) Developer fails to commence construction of the Improvements as required by this Agreement and such breach is not cured within the time provided in Section 10.1 of this Agreement, provided that Developer shall not have obtained an extension or postponement to which Developer may be entitled pursuant to Section 11.3 hereof; or
- (2) Developer abandons or substantially suspends construction of the improvements and such breach is not cured within the time provided in Section 10.1 of this Agreement, provided Developer has not obtained an extension or postponement to which Developer may be entitled to pursuant to Section 11.3 hereof; or
- (3) Developer assigns or attempts to assign this Agreement, or any rights herein, or transfer, or suffer any involuntary transfer of the Site, or any part thereof, in violation of this Agreement, and such breach is not cured within the time provided in Section 10.1 of this Agreement; or
- (4) Developer otherwise materially breaches this Agreement, and such breach is not cured within the time provided in Section 10.1 of this Agreement.

10.10 Survival.

Upon termination of this Agreement pursuant to this Article 10, all indemnification provisions set forth in this Agreement and any other provisions of this Agreement which by their terms are to survive termination hereof shall survive such termination. This Section 10.10 is for reference purposes only, and does not alter the scope or nature of the surviving provisions.

10.11 Inaction Not a Waiver of Default.

Any failures or delays by either Party in asserting any of its rights and remedies as to any Default shall not operate as a waiver of any Default or of any such rights or remedies, or deprive such Party of its right to institute and maintain any actions or proceedings which it may deem necessary to protect, assert or enforce any such rights or remedies.

10.12 No Attorneys' Fees.

Should legal action be brought by either Party for breach of this Agreement or to enforce any provision, neither Party in such action shall be entitled to attorneys' fees, court costs and other litigation expenses, including, without limitation, expenses incurred for preparation and discovery, and on appeal.

ARTICLE 11. GENERAL PROVISIONS

11.1 Developer Representations and Warranties.

The Developer represents and warrants to the City, as follows:

- a. <u>Organization</u>. The Developer is <u>Grace Villas, LP</u>, a California limited partnership, comprised of Women Organizing Resources Knowledge and Services (WORKS), its Managing General Partner, and GTM Holdings, LLC, a California limited liability company, its Administrative General Partner, each of which is duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of the State of California, with full power and authority to conduct its business as presently conducted and to execute, deliver and perform its obligations under this Agreement.
- b. <u>Authorization</u>. The Developer has taken all necessary action to authorize its execution, delivery and, subject to any conditions set forth in this Agreement, performance of the Agreement. Upon the date of this Agreement, this Agreement shall constitute a legal, valid and binding obligation of the Developer, enforceable against it in accordance with its terms.
- c. <u>No Conflict</u>. The execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement by the Developer does not and shall not materially conflict with, or constitute a material violation or material breach of, or constitute a default under (i) the charter or incorporation documents of the Developer, (ii) any applicable law, rule or regulation binding upon or applicable to the Developer, or (iii) any material agreements to which the Developer is a party.
- d. <u>No Litigation</u>. Unless otherwise disclosed in writing to the City prior to the date of this Agreement, there is no existing or, to the Developer's actual knowledge, pending or threatened litigation, suit, action or proceeding before any court or administrative agency affecting the Developer or, to the best knowledge of the Developer, the Site that would, if adversely determined, materially and adversely affect the Developer or the Site or the Developer's ability to perform its obligations under this Agreement or to develop and operate the Project.
- e. <u>Licenses, Permits, Consents and Approvals</u>. Developer and/or any person or entity owning or operating the Site has duly obtained and maintained, or shall duly obtain and maintain, and shall continue to obtain and maintain, all licenses, permits,

consents and approvals required by all applicable governmental authorities to own and operate the business on the Site.

11.2 Notices.

Formal notices, demands, and communications between the City and the Developer shall be sufficiently given if, and shall not be deemed given unless given in writing and dispatched by certified mail, return receipt requested, or by electronic facsimile transmission followed by delivery of a "hard" copy, or by personal delivery (including by means of professional messenger service, courier service such as United Parcel Service or Federal Express, or by U.S. Postal Service), with a receipt showing date of delivery, to the principal offices of the LAHD and the Developer as follows:

LAHD: Los Angeles Housing Department

1910 Sunset Boulevard, Suite 300

Los Angeles, CA 90026 Attn: General Manager

With copies to: Los Angeles Housing Department

Asset Management Division

1910 Sunset Boulevard, Suite 300

Los Angeles, CA 90026 Attn: Asset Manager

Developer:

Women Organizing Resources Knowledge and Services, Inc.

795 North Avenue 50

Los Angeles, CA 90042

Attn: Monique Davis; Mary-Jane Wagle

With copies to: GTM Holdings, LLC

250 N. Harbor Drive, Suite 311 Redondo Beach, CA 90277

Attn: Mark Walther

Such written notices, demands and communications may be sent in the same manner to such other addresses as the affected Party may from time to time designate by mail as

provided in this Section 11.2. Delivery shall be deemed to have occurred at the time indicated on the receipt for delivery or refusal of delivery.

11.3 <u>Enforced Delay: Extension of Time of Performance.</u>

- a. In addition to specific provisions of this Agreement, the time for performing non-monetary obligations pursuant to this Agreement shall be extended and non-monetary performance by either Party shall not be deemed to be in default where delays are due to war; insurrection; strikes; lock-outs; riots; floods; earthquakes; fires; quarantine restrictions; freight embargoes; acts of god; severe or unusual shortages of materials or labor; uncommon inclement weather of an extreme or exceptional nature, unavoidable casualty; or court order; or any other similar causes (other than lack of funds of the Developer or the Developer's inability to finance the construction of the Project) beyond the control or without the fault of the Party claiming an extension of time to perform.
- b. An extension of time for any such cause (a "Force Majeure Delay") shall be for the period of the enforced delay and shall commence to run from the time of the commencement of the cause, if notice by the Party claiming such extension is sent to the other Party within twenty (20) Business Days of knowledge of the commencement of the cause. Notwithstanding the foregoing, none of the foregoing events shall constitute a Force Majeure Delay unless and until the Party claiming such delay and interference delivers to the other Party written notice describing the following: the event; its cause; when and how such Party obtained knowledge; the date the event commenced; a reasonable causal connection between the event and the need to extend the time of such Party's performance; and the estimated delay resulting from the event. Any Party claiming a Force Majeure Delay shall deliver such written notice within twenty (20) Business Days after it obtains actual knowledge of the event. Times of performance under this Agreement may also be extended in writing by the City and Developer.

11.4 Conflict of Interest.

- a. No member, official, or employee of the City shall have any personal interest, direct or indirect, in this Agreement, nor shall any such member, official, or employee participate in any decision relating to the Agreement which affects his or her personal interests or the interests of any corporation, partnership, or association in which he or she is, directly or indirectly, interested.
- b. Developer warrants that it has not paid or given, and shall not pay or give, any third person any money or other consideration for obtaining this Agreement.

11.5 Non-liability of City Officials and Employees.

No member, official, agent, legal counsel or employee of the City shall be personally liable to Developer, or any successor in interest in the event of any default or breach by the City or for any amount which may become due to Developer or successor or on any obligation under the terms of this Agreement.

11.6 Inspection of Books and Records.

- a. Prior to Completion, the City shall have the right at all reasonable times to inspect the books and records of Developer pertaining to the development of the Site as pertinent to the purposes of this Agreement. Developer shall also have the right at all reasonable times to inspect the books and records of LAHD pertaining to the Site as pertinent to the purposes of this Agreement.
- b. In addition, at all times prior to the expiration of the Regulatory Agreement, and/or repayment in full of the City Rent and debts to the City, whichever occurs later, the City shall have the right at all times to inspect the books and records of Developer pertaining to the operation of the Site.

11.7 Approvals.

- a. Except as otherwise expressly provided in this Agreement, approvals required of the City or Developer in this Agreement, including the attachments hereto, shall not be unreasonably withheld, delayed or conditioned. All approvals shall be in writing. Failure by either Party to approve or disapprove a matter within the time provided for approval or disapproval of the matter shall not be deemed either approval or disapproval of the matter unless this Agreement specifically provides otherwise. Notwithstanding the foregoing, nothing contained in this Agreement shall restrict or limit the exercise of discretion by the Mayor, City Council or any member of the City Council in approving or disapproving this Agreement or any proposed material revisions or amendments to this Agreement, which approval may be granted or denied in the sole and absolute discretion of the City.
- b. Whenever this Agreement calls for City approval, consent, or waiver, the written approval, consent, or waiver of, the LAHD General Manager shall constitute the approval, consent, or waiver of the City, without further authorization required from the City Council and Mayor. The City hereby authorizes the LAHD's General Manager to deliver such approvals or consents as are required by this Agreement, or to waive requirements under this Agreement, on behalf of the City. However, subject to Section 9.7 of this Agreement, any material modification and any amendment to this Agreement shall require approval by the City Council and Mayor.

11.8 Real Estate Commissions.

Neither Developer nor the City shall be liable for any real estate commissions or brokerage fees which may arise from this Agreement. Developer and the City each represents that it has engaged no broker, agent or finder in connection with this Agreement.

11.9 Construction and Interpretation of Agreement.

- a. The language in all parts of this Agreement shall in all cases be construed simply, as a whole and in accordance with its fair meaning and not strictly for or against any Party. The parties hereto acknowledge and agree that this Agreement has been prepared jointly by the parties and has been the subject of arm's length and careful negotiation over a considerable period of time, that each Party has been given the opportunity to independently review this Agreement with legal counsel, and that each Party has the requisite experience and sophistication to understand, interpret, and agree to the particular language of the provisions hereof. Accordingly, in the event of an ambiguity in or dispute regarding the interpretation of this Agreement, this Agreement shall not be interpreted or construed against the Party preparing it, and instead other rules of interpretation and construction shall be utilized.
- b. If any term or provision of this Agreement, the deletion of which would not adversely affect the receipt of any material benefit by any Party hereunder, shall be held by a court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid or unenforceable, the remainder of this Agreement shall not be affected thereby and each other term and provision of this Agreement shall be valid and enforceable to the fullest extent permitted by law. It is the intention of the parties hereto that in lieu of each clause or provision of this Agreement that is illegal, invalid, or unenforceable, there be added as a part of this Agreement an enforceable clause or provision as similar in terms to such illegal, invalid, or unenforceable clause or provision as may be possible.
- c. Any titles of the articles, sections or subsections of this Agreement are inserted for convenience of reference only and shall be disregarded in interpreting any part of its provision.
- d. References in this instrument to this "Agreement" mean, refer to and include this instrument as well as any riders, exhibits, addenda and attachments hereto (which are hereby incorporated herein by this reference) or other documents expressly incorporated by reference in this instrument. Any references to any covenant, condition, obligation, and/or undertaking "herein," "hereunder," or "pursuant hereto" (or language of like import) shall mean, refer to, and include the covenants, obligations, and undertakings existing pursuant to this instrument and any riders, exhibits, addenda, and attachments or other documents affixed to or expressly incorporated by reference in this instrument.
 - e. As used in this Agreement, and as the context may require, the

singular includes the plural and vice versa, and the masculine gender includes the feminine and vice versa.

11.10 Time of Essence.

Time is of the essence with respect to the performance of each of the covenants and agreements contained in this Agreement.

11.11 Relationship of the Parties.

Nothing contained in this Agreement shall be deemed or construed to create a partnership, joint venture, or any other similar relationship between the parties hereto or cause the City to be responsible in any way for the debts or obligations of Developer or any other Person.

11.12 Compliance with Law.

Developer agrees to comply with all the requirements now in force, or which may hereafter be in force, of all municipal, county, state and federal authorities, pertaining to the development and use of the Site and the Improvements, as well as operations conducted thereon. The judgment of any court of competent jurisdiction, or the admission of Developer or any lessee or permittee in any action or proceeding against them, or any of them, whether the City be a party thereto or not, that Developer, lessee or permittee has violated any such ordinance or statute in the development and use of the Site shall be conclusive of that fact as between the City and Developer and shall therefore allow the City to exercise any and all remedies set forth in the City's Contractor/Developer Responsibility Policy.

11.13 Binding Effect.

This Agreement, and the terms, provisions, promises, covenants and conditions hereof, shall be binding upon and shall inure to the benefit of the parties hereto and their respective heirs, legal representatives, successors and assigns.

11.14 Rights of Third Parties.

a. Except as otherwise expressly provided in this Agreement and the Regulatory Agreement, this Agreement shall not be deemed to confer any rights upon, nor obligate either of the Parties to this Agreement to any person or entity not a Party to this Agreement, and the Parties explicitly disclaim any intent to create a third party beneficiary relationship with any person or entity as a result of this Agreement.

- b. The City shall be a beneficiary retaining enforcement rights with respect to this Agreement.
- c. The covenants and restrictions relating to the Affordable Housing Units set forth in Article 7 of this Agreement and in the Regulatory Agreement shall run with the land and shall be enforceable against any owner of the Site who violates a covenant or restriction and each successor in interest who continues the violation by any of the following:
 - 1. The City;
 - 2. A resident of any of the Affordable Units;
 - 3. A residents' association with members who reside in the Affordable Units:
 - 4. A former resident of an Affordable Unit;
 - 5. An applicant seeking to enforce the covenants or restrictions for a particular Affordable Unit, if the applicant conforms to all of the following:
 - (A) Is of Low or Moderate Income;
 - (B) Is able and willing to occupy that particular Affordable Unit; and
 - (C) Was denied occupancy of that particular Affordable Unit due to an alleged breach of a covenant or restriction set forth in the Regulatory Agreement; and
 - 6. A person on an affordable housing waiting list who is of Low or Moderate Income and who is able and willing to occupy an Affordable Unit.

11.15 Authority to Sign.

Developer hereby represents that the persons executing this Agreement on behalf of Developer have full authority to do so and to bind Developer to perform pursuant to the terms and conditions of this Agreement.

11.16 Use of Project Images.

- a. Developer hereby consents to and approves the use by the City of images of the Project, its models, plans and other graphical representations of the Project and its various elements ("Project Images") in connection with marketing, public relations, and special events, websites, presentations, and other uses required by the City in connection with the Project. Such right to use the Project Images shall not be assignable by the City to any other party (including, without limitation, any private party) without the prior written consent of Developer. Developer shall obtain any rights and/or consents from any third parties necessary to provide these Project Image use rights to the City.
- b. Any publicity generated by Developer for the Project during the term of the Ground Lease shall make reference to the contribution of the City of Los Angeles in making the Project possible. The words "City of Los Angeles" shall be prominently displayed in any and all pieces of publicity, including but not limited to flyers, press releases, posters, signs, brochures, public service announcements, interviews and newspaper articles. Developer further agrees to cooperate with authorized staff and officials of the City in any City-generated publicity or promotional activities undertaken with respect to the Project.

11.17 Plans and Data.

If Developer does not proceed with the lease or development of the Site, or if this Agreement is terminated for any reason, other than the breach of this Agreement by the City, Developer shall deliver to the City, without cost or expense to the City, any and all plans, drawings, studies, designs, reports, surveys, and data pertaining to the site and its development (collectively, "Site Designs") which are in the possession of Developer, together with a Bill of Sale therefor, which Site Designs shall thereupon be the sole property of the City, free of all claims or interests of Developer or any other person; and which the City may use, grant, license or otherwise dispose of to any person for development of the Site or any other purpose. To secure the obligations set forth in this Section and as a condition precedent to the execution of the Ground Lease, Developer shall execute and cause its architect and contractor, as the case may be, and shall deliver to the City an Assignment of Agreements, Plans, Specifications and Entitlements substantially in the form of the instrument attached to this Agreement as **Exhibit G** to <u>Part I of Exhibits</u>.

11.18 Applicable Law.

A. This Agreement shall be interpreted under and pursuant to the laws of the State of California. The Developer shall carry out the administration of this Agreement and the construction and operation of the Project, in conformity with all applicable laws, to the extent they may apply, including, but not limited to the following applicable federal and state laws, as may be amended from time to time:

- 1. The Fair Housing Act, Title VIII of the Civil Rights Act of 1968, as amended, 42 U.S.C. §3601, et seq and implementing regulations at 24 C.F.R. Part 100, et seq, including, without limit, the design and construction requirements set forth in 42 U.S.C. §3604(f)(3) and the corresponding rules of HUD.
- 2. Executive Order 11063, as amended by Executive Order 12259 (3 CFR, 1959-1963 Comp., p. 652 and 3 CFR, 1980 Comp., p. 307) (Equal Opportunity in Housing Programs) and implementing regulations at 24 C.F.R. Part 107.
- 3. Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 (42 U.S.C. 2000d-2000d-4)(Nondiscrimination in Federally Assisted Programs) and implementing regulations at 24 C.F.R. Part 1; and its implementing regulations and as applied through Executive Order No. 13166, entitled "Improving Access to Services for Persons with Limited English Proficiency" ("LEP"), which requires recipients of federal funds, including Developer, to take reasonable steps to insure meaningful access to its programs and activities by persons with LEP as more fully described in HUD's final guidance contained in Federal Register, Volume 72, No. 13.
- 4. Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, as amended by the Equal Employment Opportunity Act of 1972, 42 U.S.C. 2000e.
- 5. Title IX of the Education Amendments of 1972, as amended (20 USC §1681-§1683, and §1685-§1686).
- 6. Drug Abuse Office and Treatment Act of 1972, P.L. 92-255, as amended, relating to nondiscrimination on the basis of drug abuse.
- 7. Comprehensive Alcohol Abuse and Alcoholism Prevention, Treatment and Rehabilitation Act of 1970, P.L. 91-616 as amended, relating to nondiscrimination on the basis of alcohol abuse or alcoholism.
- 8. Public Health Service Act of 1912, 42 USC 290 dd-3 and 290 ee-3, as amended, relating to confidentiality of alcohol and drug abuse patient records.
- 9. Genetic Information Nondiscrimination Act of 2008 (GiNA) P.L. 110-233
- 10. The Age Discrimination Act of 1975, 42 U.S.C. 6101-07, and

- implementing regulations at 24 CFR Part 146.
- 11. Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, 29 U.S.C. 794 and implementing regulations at 24 C.F.R. Part 8, including the design and construction requirements of the Uniform Federal Accessibility Standards (UFAS), 24 C.F.R. Part 40 or any other applicable or successor design and construction requirements.
- 12. Architectural Barriers Act of 1968, 42 U.S.C. 4151-4157.
- 13. Americans With Disabilities Act 42, U.S.C. 12101 *et seq.*, its implementing regulations at 28 CFR Part 35, and the Americans with Disabilities Amendments (ADAAA) Pub. L. 110-325 and all subsequent amendments, including the 2010 Standards for Accessible Design as defined in 28 C.F.R. § 35.104 and as applied to public entities (excluding any elevator exceptions).
- 14. Alternative Accessibility Standard for new construction per HUD's Notice at 79 Fed. Reg. 29,671 (May 23, 2014).
- 15. Lead-Based Paint Poisoning Prevention Act, 42 U.S.C. 4821-4826 and implementing regulations at 24 CFR Part 35.
- 16. Executive Order 12372 and implementing regulations at 24 CFR Part 52.
- 17. Flood Disaster Act of 1973, 42 U.S.C. 4001, et seq.
- 18. Wild and Scenic Rivers Act of 1968, 16 U.S.C. 1271, et seq.
- 19. Federal Water Pollution Control Act, 33 U.S.C. 1251 et seq.
- Drug Free Workplace Act of 1988, 41 U.S.C. 701 et seq and HUD's implementing regulations at 2 C.F.R. part 2429; 28 C.F.R. Part 83; California Drug-Free Workplace Act of 1990, California Government Code Section 8350-8357.
- 21. Uniform Relocation Assistance and Real Property Acquisitions Policies Act of 1970, 42 U.S.C. 4601, et seq. and 24 CFR Part 42.
- 22. Office of Management and Budget ("OMB") Circulars: OMB Circular A-21 (Cost Principles for Educational Institutions); OMB Circular A-

87 (Cost Principles for State, Local, and Indian Tribal Governments); OMB Circular A-110 (Uniform Administrative Requirements for Grants and Other Agreements with Institutions of Higher Education, Hospitals and Other Non-Profit Organizations); OMB Circular A-122 (Cost Principles for Non-Profit Organizations); OMB Circular A-133 (Audits of States, Local Governments, and Non-Profit Organizations), and as codified in 2 CFR part 200 and 2 CFR part 2400.

- 23. Hatch Act, 5 U.S.C. 1501-1508 and 7324-7328
- 24. Copeland Act, 40 U.S.C. 276c and 18 U.S.C. 874
- 25. Contract Work Hours and Safety Standards Act, 40 U.S.C. 327-333.
- 26. Federal Fair Labor Standards Act, 29 U.S.C. 201
- 27. Pursuant to California Government Code Section 16645, *et seq*, none of the funds shall be used to promote or deter Union/Labor organizing activities.
- 28. California Child Abuse and Neglect Reporting Act, California Penal Code Section 11164 *et seq.* and specifically Sections 11165.7, 11165.9, and 11166.
- 29. Section 106 of the National Historic Preservation Act of 1966, as amended, 16 U.S.C. 470, EO 11593, and the Archaeological and Historic Preservation Act of 1974, 16 U.S.C. 469A-1 *et seq*.
- 30. Project requirements in 92 C.F.R. Part 92, Subpart F, as applicable in accordance with the type of project assisted under HOME Funds.
- 31. The Housing and Community Development Act of 1974, 42 U.S.C. 5301, et seq.
- 32. Uniform Administrative requirements in 24 C.F.R. Part 84 and as described in OMB Circular A-122.
- 33. Community Housing Development Organization requirements in 24 C.F.R. Sections 92.300, 92.301 and 92.303.
- 34. Eligible Community Development Block Grant Program activities under 24 C.F.R. Sections 570.200-570.207.
- 35. Measure JJJ of the November 8, 2016 Los Angeles City Special

Municipal Election, Section 5 Affordable Housing and Good Jobs (to be codified in Sections 11.5.11 of the Los Angeles Municipal Code and Section 5.522 of the Los Angeles Administrative Code).

- B. Developer must comply with Public Law 103-227, Part C—Environmental Tobacco Smoke, also known as the Pro-Children Act of 1994 (Act), if applicable. This Act requires that smoking not be permitted in any portion of any indoor facility owned or leased or contracted by an entity and used routinely or regularly for the provision of health, day care, education or library services to children under the age of 18, if the services are funded by Federal programs either directly or indirectly or through State and local governments. Federal programs include grants, cooperative agreements, loans or loan guarantees and contracts. The law does not apply to children's services provided in private residences, facilities funded solely by Medicare or Medicaid funds and portions of facilities used for inpatient drug and alcohol treatment. Developer further agrees that the above language will be included in any subcontracts that contain provisions for children's services and that all subcontractors shall certify compliance accordingly.
- C. Developer acknowledges that it is aware of liabilities resulting from submitting a false claim for payment by the City under the False Claims Act (Cal. Gov. Code §§12650 et seq.), including treble damages, costs of legal actions to recover payments, and civil penalties of up to \$10,000 per false claims.
- D. The Developer shall carry out the construction and operation of the Project in conformity with all applicable laws and the requirements of the City, including all applicable federal, state and local labor standards. The Developer shall be responsible for complying with all applicable City, County and State building codes, and planning and zoning requirements, and shall take all necessary steps so that the development of the Property and the construction, use, operation, and maintenance of the Project thereon in accordance with the provisions of this Loan Agreement shall be in conformity with applicable zoning and General Plan requirements, and that all applicable environmental mitigation measures and other requirements shall have been complied with.

11.19 Severability.

If any term, provision, covenant or condition of this Agreement is held in a final disposition by a court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid, void or unenforceable, the remaining provisions shall continue in full force and effect unless the rights and obligations of the Parties have been materially altered or abridged by such invalidation, voiding or unenforceability.

11.20 Binding Upon Successors; Covenants to Run With Land.

- a. This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the heirs, administrators, executors, successors in interest, and assigns of each of the Parties; provided, however, that there shall be no Transfer except as permitted in Article 8. Any reference in this Agreement to a specifically named Party shall be deemed to apply to any successor, heir, administrator, executor, successor, or assign of such Party who has acquired an interest in compliance with the terms of this Agreement or under law.
- b. The terms of this Agreement shall run with the land, and shall bind all successors in title to the Site until the termination of this Agreement, except that the provisions of this Agreement that are specified to survive termination of this Agreement shall run with the land in perpetuity and remain in full force and effect following such termination. Every contract, deed, or other instrument hereafter executed covering or conveying the Site or any portion thereof shall be held conclusively to have been executed, delivered and accepted subject to such covenants and restrictions, regardless of whether such covenants or restrictions are set forth in such contract, deed or other instrument, unless the City expressly releases the Site or the applicable portion of the Site from the requirements of this Agreement.

11.21 Effectiveness of Agreement.

This Agreement is dated for convenience only and shall only become effective on the Effective Date.

11.22 Amendments.

This Agreement may be amended only by means of a writing signed by all Parties.

11.23 Police Power.

Nothing contained herein shall be deemed to limit, restrict, amend or modify, nor to constitute a waiver or release of, any ordinances, notices, orders, rules, regulations or requirements (now or hereafter enacted or adopted and/or as amended from time to time) of the City, its departments, commissions, agencies and boards and the officers thereof, including, without limitation, any redevelopment plan or general plan or any zoning ordinances, or any of City's duties, obligations, rights or remedies thereunder or pursuant thereto or the general police powers, rights, privileges and discretion of City in the furtherance of the public health, welfare and safety of the inhabitants thereof,

including, without limitation, the right under law to make and implement independent judgments, decisions and/or acts with respect to planning, development and/or redevelopment matters (including, without limitation, approval or disapproval of plans and/or issuance or withholding of building permits) whether or not consistent with the provisions of this Agreement, any Exhibits attached hereto or any other documents contemplated hereby ("City Rules and Powers"). In the event of any conflict, inconsistency or contradiction between any terms, conditions or provisions of this Agreement, Exhibits or such other documents, on the one hand, and any such City Rules and Powers, on the other hand, the latter shall prevail and govern in each case. This Section shall be interpreted for the benefit of City.

11.24 Brokers.

The City and Developer each represents that it has not engaged any broker, agent or finder in connection with this transaction. Developer agrees to defend (with counsel reasonably acceptable to the City), indemnify and hold the City and all of the City's Representatives harmless from and against any Losses and Liabilities with respect to such commissions based upon the alleged acts of Developer. The City agree to defend (with counsel reasonably acceptable to the Developer), indemnify and hold Developer harmless from and against Losses and Liabilities with respect to such commissions based upon the alleged acts of the City. The indemnity obligations set forth in this Section shall survive the issuance of a Certificate of Completion by the City, repayment of the City Rent, termination of the Regulatory Agreement, withdrawal of the Notice of Affordability Restrictions and the termination of this Agreement.

11.25 Submittals and Approvals.

Various submittals are required by the Developer pursuant to this Agreement. To the extent expressly provided by this Agreement, the City shall approve or disapprove certain submittals from Developer within specified timeframes.

11.26 Incorporation by Reference.

Each of the attachments and exhibits attached hereto as part of <u>Part I of Exhibits</u>, and/or delivered to Developer as part of <u>Part II of Exhibits</u> is incorporated herein by this reference as though fully set forth herein.

11.27 Counterparts.

This Agreement may be executed by each Party on a separate signature page, and when the executed signature pages are combined, shall constitute one single instrument. Unless otherwise prohibited by law or City policy, an electronic or scanned signature shall have the same force and effect as an original ink signature. For the purposes of this Agreement, "electronic signature" is an electronic identifier, created by

computer, attached or affixed to or logically associated with an electronic record, executed or adopted by a person with the intention of using it to have the same force and affect as the use of a manual signature, and "scanned signature" is a manual signature that has been placed on a document that has been scanned into an electronic record.

11.28 Entire Understanding of the Parties.

This Agreement constitutes the entire understanding and agreement of the Parties with respect to the matters contained herein and supersedes any prior memoranda of understanding, negotiation agreement or commitment letter.

11.29 Approval Procedure.

Execution and delivery of this Agreement by Developer shall constitute Developer's offer to enter into this Agreement with the City. Following receipt of the executed Agreement, this Agreement shall not be effective unless approved by the City Council and Mayor, and executed by the LAHD General Manager or designee. This Agreement must be authorized, executed and delivered by LAHD within seventy-five (75) calendar days after date of signature by Developer or Developer may withdraw its offer to enter into the Agreement upon written notice to the City. The effective date of this Agreement shall be the date when this Agreement has been executed by the City.

[Signatures appear on the following page]

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have executed this DDA Agreement as of the date first above written.

"LAHD"
City of Los Angeles LOS ANGELES HOUSING DEPARTMENT
By: DANIEL HUYNH Assistant General Manager
Dated:
APPROVED AS TO FORM: HYDEE FELDSTEIN SOTO CITY ATTORNEY
By:
Dated:
ATTEST: HOLLY WOLCOTT, City Clerk
By: Deputy City Clerk
Date:

"DEVELOPER"

a California

By: _____

Dated: _____

By: _____

Dated: _____

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT OF RECEIPT OF PART II OF EXHIBITS

The exhibits constituting <u>Part II</u> are Standard City Requirements which are set forth in a separate document, the receipt of which is hereby acknowledged by Developer.

Part II of Exhibits (Standard City Requirements):

- 1. City of Los Angeles Requirements and Checklist, with Attachments.
- 2. ADA Covenants.

Grace Villas LP

By: Grace MGP LLC, a California limited liability company As its Managing General Partner

By: Women Organizing Resources, Knowledge and Services, A California nonprofit public benefit corporation, Its Sole Member and Manager

Name: Monique Davis Title: Chief Executive Officer
By: Name: Mary-Jane Wagle Title: Board Chair
By GTM/Lincoln Heights Family Developers, LLC, A California limited liability company As its Administrative General Partner
By: Name: Mark Walther Title: Manager
By: GTM Holdings, LLC, A California limited liability company, a Manager
By: Name: Michelle Walther Title: Manager

By: _		 	

Name: Mark Walther

Title: Manager



DISPOSITION AND DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT PART I OF EXHIBITS [BEHIND THIS PAGE]



EXHIBIT A SITE MAP [BEHIND THIS PAGE]



EXHIBIT B LEGAL DESCRIPTION [BEHIND THIS PAGE]



EXHIBIT C SCHEDULE OF PERFORMANCE [BEHIND THIS PAGE]



EXHIBIT D SCOPE OF DEVELOPMENT [BEHIND THIS PAGE]



EXHIBIT E PROJECT BUDGET [BEHIND THIS PAGE]



EXHIBIT F [INTENTIONALLY OMITTED]



EXHIBIT G

FORM OF ASSIGNMENT OF AGREEMENTS, PLANS, SPECIFICATIONS AND ENTITLEMENTS

EXHIBIT H

FORM OF STATUTORY REQUEST FOR NOTICE [BEHIND THIS PAGE]



EXHIBIT I

FORM OF REGULATORY AGREEMENT [BEHIND THIS PAGE]



EXHIBIT J FORM OF NOTICE OF AFFORDABILITY RESTRICTIONS [INTENTIONALLY OMITTED]



EXHIBIT K

HUD REQUIREMENTS

(TO BE ATTACHED ONLY IF CITY ASSISTANCE DERIVES FROM A PROGRAM OF THE U.S. DEPARTMENT OF HOUSING AND URBAN DEVELOPMENT)

PART II OF EXHIBITS - CITY CONTRACTING REQUIREMENTS

1. CITY CONSTRUCTION LOCAL HIRE PROGRAM

(TO BE ATTACHED ONLY IF A CONSTRUCTION LOCAL HIRE PROGRAM APPLIES. LOCAL HIRE PROGRAM APPLIES ONLY IF (A) CITY ASSISTANCE IS BETWEEN \$500,000 AND \$1,000,000; OR (B) CITY ASSISTANCE IS \$1,000,000 OR MORE AND CONSTRUCTION CAREERS AND PROJECT STABILIZATION POLICY DOES NOT APPLY)

2. CITY IN-PLACE REHABILITATION PROCEDURES

(TO BE ATTACHED ONLY IF AGREEMENT INVOLVES REHABILITATION OF EXISTING HOUSING WITH DEVELOPERS IN PLACE)

3. CITY HEALTHY NEIGHBORHOODS POLICY

(TO BE ATTACHED ONLY IF CITY COUNCIL APPROVES AMENDED HEALTHY NEIGHBORHOODS POLICY AND THEN ONLY IF CITY ASSISTANCE EXCEEDS \$1 MILLION AND THE PROJECT CONTAINS 50 OR MORE RESIDENTIAL UNITS OR 50,000 SQUARE FEET OF NON-RESIDENTIAL FLOOR AREA, OR IF THE PARTIES OTHERWISE AGREE TO LEED CERTIFICATION)

PART II OF EXHIBITS

EXHIBIT 2

ADA COVENANTS

ADA COVENANTS

I. The following terms shall have the following definition:

"Accessibility Requirements" refers to the accessibility requirements that must be followed in the design, construction or alteration of the Project or an individual housing unit of the Project (including common use elements), based on all the applicable laws and regulations, including: (1) Title II of the Americans with Disabilities Act("ADA"), 42 U.S.C. §12101, et seq. and the implementing standards ("2010 ADA Standards") at 28 C.F.R. pt. 35 and the 2004 ADA Accessibility Guidelines ("ADAAG"), (2) Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 ("Section 504"), 29 U.S.C. §794, the implementing regulations at 24 C.F.R. Part 8, as well as the requirements of UFAS, (3) the Fair Housing Act ("FHA"), 42 U.S.C. §§3601-3620; 24 C.F.R. Parts 100, 103, and 104, and its implementing regulations, and the California Building Codes.

"Accessible" means when used with respect to a Housing Unit or a Housing Development, full compliance with the Accessibility Requirements.

"Accessible Housing Development" means a Housing Development that is Accessible, including Accessible public and common use areas.

"Accessible Housing Units" means collectively Housing Units that are on an Accessible Route, are Accessible, and are located in an Accessible Housing Development. The term Accessible Units refers collectively to Housing Units with Mobility Features and Housing Units with Hearing/Vision Features.

"Housing Development" means the whole of one or more residential structures in the Project, including common walkways and parking lots that were or are designed, constructed, altered, rehabilitated, operated, administered or financed in whole or in part by the City.

"Housing Unit" means a single unit of residence in the Housing Development that provides spaces for living, bathing, and sleeping.

"Housing Unit with Hearing/Vision Features" means a Housing Unit that complies with 24 C.F.R. §8.22 and the applicable UFAS or 2010 ADA Standards.

"Housing Unit with Mobility Features" means a Housing Unit that complies with 24 C.F.R. §8.22 and the applicable UFAS or 2010 ADA Standards.

"UFAS" means the Uniform Federal Accessibility Standards for the design, construction or alteration of buildings and facilities to ensure

[Continued on the next page]

that they are readily accessible to and usable by individuals with disabilities, 24 C.F.R §40, Appendix A.

II. Additional ADA requirements of the Issuer:

- **A.** Accessible Housing Units. The Housing Development shall be constructed in accordance with <u>HUD's Alternative Accessibility Standard set forth in HUD's notice at 79 Fed. Reg. 29,671 (May 23, 2014)</u> to ensure accessibility for persons with disabilities. The following types of Accessible Housing Units shall be prioritized for persons with disabilities who have a disability-related need for the accessibility features of the unit.
- (a) At least eleven percent (11%) of the total Housing Units in each Housing Development shall be constructed or rehabilitated and maintained by the Owner as Housing Units with Mobility Features.
- (b) At least <u>an additional four</u> percent (4%) of the total Housing Units in each Housing Development shall be constructed or rehabilitated and maintained by the Owner as Housing Units with Hearing/Vision Features.
- (c) In determining the number of units any fractions of units shall be rounded up to the next whole number.
- (d) The Accessible Housing Units shall, to the maximum extent feasible, be geographically distributed and dispersed in terms of location within the Housing Development, and shall be provided in a range of unit sizes and types.
- (e) Within fifteen (15) working days of the temporary Certificate of Occupancy being issued, Owner shall provide the City with a list of all Accessible Housing Units, specifying the unit number, bedroom size and type of impairment, i.e. mobility or hearing/vision.
- (f) Following reasonable notice to Owner, Owner shall allow the City to conduct periodic onsite inspections of the Housing Developments in order to verify compliance with the Accessibility Standards.
- (g) The City and/or its agents will monitor the Developer's compliance with this Agreement and the requirements of the source of funds utilized to finance the Project. Violations of this Agreement and/or funding requirements may result in penalties, fees and expenses being levied against the City. The Owner will be responsible for any costs, penalties, fees and expenses levied against the City and will be responsible to pay any expenses incurred by the City to enforce this Agreement.

LAHD will monitor the initial production and ongoing occupancy of the Accessible Housing Units and the Accessible Housing Development by applying the updated ADAAG to ensure full compliance with the Accessibility Requirements. In order to determine compliance with the

Accessibility Requirements, Developer shall submit the name and LAHD shall review and approve a Certified Access Specialist ("CASp") for the Project. The CASp will:

- Review building plans and specifications for compliance with Accessibility Requirements and issue a Building Plans Compliance Report;
- 2. Conduct progress/rough inspections and issue a Progress Inspection Report of the housing development that identifies any compliance issues; and
- Conduct final inspection(s) to ensure that all compliance issues have been resolved. CASp will issue a set of findings that identify all compliance issues and a final Accessibility Report when the Project is in compliance.

LAHD shall inspect the construction/rehabilitation to verify that the correct number of Accessible Housing Units have been produced and that the necessary and required design elements have been constructed to make the units and site accessible for individuals with disabilities, in compliance with Section 2 and supported by an independent CASp consultant's report.

During the term of this Agreement, LAHD will utilize the Housing Development's City approved Property Management Plan and Fair Housing Policy in Regard to Disability, to monitor ongoing occupancy compliance of the Accessible Housing Units and nondiscrimination in regards to individuals with disabilities. Compliance with the Accessibility Requirements shall include, but not be limited to, target marketing, establishing and monitoring Transfer and Waiting Lists for the Accessible Housing Units, reasonable accommodations and modifications requests, implementation of the service animal policy and policy for re-leasing empty Accessible Housing Units and all elements contained in the Fair Housing Policy in Regard to Disability dated July 28, 2014, as amended over time.

[End of Exhibit 2]

PART II OF EXHIBITS

EXHIBIT 3

MAYOR'S EXECUTIVE DIRECTIVE No. 26

Issue Date: December 21, 2012

City-wide Compliance with Federal and State Disablity Laws

[Behind This Page]

PART II OF EXHIBITS - EXHIBIT 4

EXHIBIT 4

The Instructions and Information on Complying with City Insurance Requirements (Form General 133) and the Required Insurance and Minimum

